1. Report No. FHWA/TX-05/0-4472-2	2. Government Accession	n No.	3. Recipient's Catalog N	0.
4. Title and Subtitle TRAFFIC OPERATIONAL IMPACTS OF TRANSVE CENTERLINE, AND EDGELINE RUMBLE STRIPS		ERSE,	 5. Report Date March 2005 6. Performing Organizat 	ion Code
7. Author(s) Jeffrey D. Miles, Paul J. Carlson, Michael P. Pratt, and Tyrell D. Thompson			8. Performing Organizat Report 0-4472-2	ion Report No.
9. Performing Organization Name and Address Texas Transportation Institute			10. Work Unit No. (TRA	JIS)
The Texas A&M University System College Station, Texas 77843-3135	1		11. Contract or Grant No Project 0-4472).
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and AddressTexas Department of TransportationResearch and Technology Implementation OfficeP. O. Box 5080			 Type of Report and P Technical Report September 2003– Sponsoring Agency C 	Period Covered t: -February 2005 Code
Austin, Texas 78763-5080 15. Supplementary Notes Project performed in cooperation with the Texas Department of Transportation and the Federal Highway Administration. Project Title: Evaluation of Edgeline and Centerline Rumble Strips				
16. Abstract This report documents the findings of a 30-month project in which various rumble strip applications were tested. The focus was on the operational aspects of in-lane, transverse rumble strips (TRSs) and centerline rumble strips (CRSs). Operational aspects of edgeline rumble strips (ERSs) were also tested. The researchers reviewed previous studies, interviewed state agencies with significant rumble strip experience, and reviewed available policies. Based on these efforts and input by the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT), the researchers then developed initial application guidelines for rumble strips in Texas.				
The TRSs were evaluated at stop-controlled intersections and horizontal curve locations throughout the state. Passing operations and vehicle lateral position were evaluated as a function of milled and raised CRSs at sites throughout the state. Shoulder usage was evaluated as a function of milled ERSs.				
Researchers used the results of the operational studies, TxDOT input, and the synthesis of previous studies and other state policies to develop recommendations for TxDOT for TRSs, CRSs, and ERSs. These recommendations are contained in Appendix C.				
^{17. Key Words} Rumble Strips, Centerline Rumble Strips, Edgeline Rumble Strips, Shoulder Rumble Strips, Transverse Rumble Strips, In-Lane Rumble Strips, Shoulder Usage, Lateral Position, Passing Operations		 18. Distribution Statement No restrictions. This document is available to the public through NTIS: National Technical Information Service Springfield, Virginia 22161 http://www.ntis.gov 		
19. Security Classif.(of this report) Unclassified	20. Security Classif.(of this page) Unclassified		21. No. of Pages 212	22. Price

TRAFFIC OPERATIONAL IMPACTS OF TRANSVERSE, CENTERLINE, AND EDGELINE RUMBLE STRIPS

by

Jeffrey D. Miles, E.I.T. Assistant Transportation Researcher Texas Transportation Institute

Paul J. Carlson, Ph.D., P.E. Associate Research Engineer Texas Transportation Institute

Michael P. Pratt, E.I.T. Assistant Transportation Researcher Texas Transportation Institute

and

Tyrell D. Thompson, E.I.T. Transportation Engineer Howard, Needles, Tammen & Bergendoff Corporation (HNTB)

Report 0-4472-2 Project Number 0-4472 Project Title: Evaluation of Edgeline and Centerline Rumble Strips

> Performed in cooperation with the Texas Department of Transportation and the Federal Highway Administration

> > March 2005

TEXAS TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE The Texas A&M University System College Station, Texas 77843-3135

DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official view or policies of the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) or the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT). This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation. The engineer in charge was Paul J. Carlson, P.E. (TX #85402).

The United States Government and the State of Texas do not endorse products or manufacturers. Trade or manufacturers' names appear herein solely because they are considered essential to the object of this report.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank TxDOT and the Federal Highway Administration, who sponsored the research, and the following individuals who provided guidance and expertise in various phases of the project:

- Brian Stanford of TxDOT, who served as project director;
- Terry Sams of TxDOT, who served as the project coordinator; and
- members of the Project Monitoring Committee.

The authors also wish to acknowledge the following individuals at the Texas Transportation Institute (TTI) who provided valuable assistance during this project: Dick Zimmer, Todd Hausman, Dan Walker, Liz Rose, and Austin Bischoff.

The following additional specific TxDOT personnel also deserve special thanks for their cooperation and willingness to work with the researchers:

- Lynn Passmore and Howard Holland of the Brownwood District for working with the researchers to install the first centerline rumble strips in the state of Texas (on US 67 and US 190);
- Bubba Needham, Scott Cunningham, and Will Bozeman of the Austin District for working with the researchers to identify and test alternative rumble strip treatments such as raised centerline rumble strips, edgeline rumble strips, and lane line rumble strips; and
- Kirk Barnes of the Bryan District for his generous cooperation in terms of finding test sites in close proximity to TTI and working with the researchers to install experimental rumble strip designs.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	x
LIST OF TABLES	. xiv
INTRODUCTION	1
TRANSVERSE RUMBLE STRIPS	3
Problem Statement	3
Objectives	3
Study Design	4
Before and After Field Experiments	4
Surrogate Crash Measures	4
Erratic Maneuvers	5
General Field Procedures	5
Site Selection	5
Installation of Rumble Strips	7
Traffic Operations Data Analysis Variables	9
Erratic Maneuver Data Analysis Variables	11
Data Collection	11
Traffic Operations Data Collection	11
Determination of Sample Size	11
Data Collection Equipment	12
Data Screening and Reduction	16
Analysis	18
Test for Normality	18
Speed Data Analysis	19
Erratic Maneuver Data	20
Findings	22
Stop-Controlled Intersection Sites	22
Horizontal Curve Sites	39
CENTERLINE RUMBLE STRIPS	47
Problem Statement	48
Objectives	48
Effects on Passing Operations	49
Study Design	49
Data Collection	53
Analysis	56
Findings	59
Lateral Position	66
Data Collection	66
Analysis	70
Findings	71
EDGELINE RUMBLE STRIPS	85
Problem Statement	85
Objectives	85
Study Design	86
Site Characteristics	86

Installation Design	87
Data Collection	88
Data Collection Methods	88
Sample Size	89
Analysis	90
Shoulder Encroachment Volume	90
Lateral Position	90
Findings	91
Shoulder Encroachment Volume	92
Lateral Position	97
SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS	. 105
Summary	. 105
Transverse Rumble Strips	. 105
Centerline Rumble Strips	. 107
Edgeline Rumble Strips	. 109
Recommendations	. 110
Transverse Rumble Strips	. 110
Centerline Rumble Strips	. 110
Edgeline Rumble Strips	. 111
Other Recommendations	. 111
REFERENCES	. 113
APPENDIX A	. 115
Data Collection Methods	. 115
Site Characteristics.	. 117
Statistical Analysis Tables	. 117
O-O Plots for Normality Testing	. 135
APPENDIX B	. 141
Data Collection System Design	. 141
Calibration	. 145
Data Reduction Procedure	. 148
Prior to Passing Maneuver	. 148
Initial Stage of a Passing Maneuver.	. 149
Statistical Testing on Direction and Speed	. 151
Statistical Significance of Direction	. 151
Statistical Significance of Speed	. 152
Number of Centerline Encroachments	. 153
Gap Distance	. 154
Plots	. 155
Normality Testing	158
Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test	. 160
Centerline Crossing Time	. 161
Plots	162
Normality Testing	165
Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test	. 167
Passing Opportunity	. 168
Percentage of Passing	. 168
Lateral Position	. 169
APPENDIX C	. 175
	-

Recommended Design	
Definitions	
Recommended Guidelines	
Transverse Rumble Strips	
Centerline Rumble Strips	
Edgeline Rumble Strips	
Recommended Standard Design Sheets	
APPENDIX D	
Safety of Rumble Strips	

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1. Cross Section of Rumbler® (7).	7
Figure 2. Standard Rumble Strip Layout.	8
Figure 3. Installation of Rumble Strips	. 9
Figure 4. Upstream View of Installed Rumble Strips.	. 9
Figure 5. Standard Site Layout.	14
Figure 6. Typical Traffic Counter and Roadtube Configuration.	15
Figure 7. Maneuver Classifications.	21
Figure 8. Bosque County (FM 3118) Speed Profile.	23
Figure 9. Bi-Modal Distribution of the Southbound Approach at Snook (FM 50).	24
Figure 10. Snook (FM 50 SB turning vehicles) Speed Profile.	25
Figure 11. Snook (FM 50 SB through vehicles) Speed Profile.	26
Figure 12. Snook (FM 50 NB) Speed Profile.	27
Figure 13. Snook (FM 50) Maneuver Frequencies by Vehicle Classification.	28
Figure 14. Snook (FM 50) Maneuver Frequencies by Vehicle Classification (Close-up)	29
Figure 15. Snook (FM 50) Maneuver Frequencies, All Vehicles.	29
Figure 16. Snook (FM 50) Straddle Right Maneuvers by Vehicle Classification.	30
Figure 17. Colorado City (FM 208 SB) Speed Profile.	31
Figure 18. Colorado City (FM 208 NB) Speed Profile	32
Figure 19. Millican (FM 2154 SB) Speed Profile	33
Figure 20. Millican (FM 2154 NB) Speed Profile.	34
Figure 21. Hearne (FM 2549 NB) Speed Profile.	35
Figure 22. Hearne (FM 2549 SB) Speed Profile.	36
Figure 23. Hearne (FM 2549) Maneuver Frequencies by Vehicle Classification.	37
Figure 24. Hearne (FM 2549) Maneuver Frequencies by Vehicle Classification (Close-up)	38
Figure 25. Hearne (FM 2549) Maneuver Frequencies, All Vehicles.	38
Figure 26. Steephollow (FM 1179) Speed Profile.	40
Figure 27. Navasota I (FM 3090) Speed Profile.	42
Figure 28. Navasota II (FM 3090) Speed Profile.	43
Figure 29. Keith (FM 244) Speed Profile.	45
Figure 30. Bremond (FM 46) Speed Profile.	46
Figure 31. Centerline Rumble Strips.	47
Figure 32. Passing Maneuver Diagram.	50
Figure 33. Passing Gap Distance.	51
Figure 34. Centerline Crossing Time	51
Figure 35. Passing Opportunity.	52
Figure 36. Normal Q-Q Plot.	58
Figure 37. TTI Video Trailer.	67
Figure 38. FM 195.	68
Figure 39. FM 969.	68
Figure 40. FM 1431.	69
Figure 41. FM 2222.	69
Figure 42. Lateral Position Markers.	70
Figure 43. Infield Lateral Position Marking System.	71
Figure 44. Lane Referencing	72

Figure 45. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 195	
(Curve 1, Inside Lane).	
Figure 46. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 195	
(Curve 1, Outside Lane)	
Figure 47. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 195	
(Curve 2, Inside Lane).	
Figure 48. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 195	
(Curve 2. Outside Lane)	
Figure 49 Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 969	
(Tangent Direction 1)	75
Figure 50 Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 969	
(Tangent Direction 2)	76
Figure 51 Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 969	
(Curve Inside Lane)	77
Figure 52 Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 969	
(Curve Outside Lane)	77
Figure 53 Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 1/31	
(Tangant Direction 1)	70
(Taligent, Direction 1)	
(Targent Direction 2)	70
(Tangent, Direction 2)	
Figure 55. Lateral Position Distribution of All venicles on FM 1431	0.0
(Curve, Inside Lane).	80
Figure 56. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 1431	0.0
(Curve, Outside Lane).	80
Figure 57. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles at FM 2222	
(Tangent, Direction 1)	81
Figure 58. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 2222	
(Tangent, Direction 2)	81
Figure 59. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 2222	
(Curve, Inside Lane).	82
Figure 60. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 2222	
(Curve, Outside Lane)	83
Figure 61. SH 6 Project Site.	
Figure 62. Edgeline Rumble Strip Design.	87
Figure 63. Picture of Edgeline Rumble Strips.	87
Figure 64. Placement of Roadtubes.	88
Figure 65. Lateral Position Calculations from Roadtube Measurements.	89
Figure 66. Position Categories for Shoulder Encroachment Maneuvers.	
Figure 67. Turning Conflicts	
Figure 68. Maneuver Classification Counts and Proportions, Before and After	
Figure 69. Lateral Position Cumulative Distribution for Other Maneuvers.	
Figure 70 Lateral Position Cumulative Distribution for Passing Maneuvers	102
Figure 71. Bosque County (FM 3118) O-O Plot	135
Figure 72 Snook (FM 50 SB) O-O Plot	136
Figure 73 Snook (FM 50 SB turning vehicles) O-O Plot	136
Figure 74 Snook (FM 50 SB through vehicles) Q-Q Plot	137
Figure 75 Snook (FM 50 NB) O-O Plot	137
Figure 76 Colorado City (FM 208 SB) O-O Plot	
1 - 1 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 -	

Figure 77. Colorado City (FM 208 NB) Q-Q Plot.	
Figure 78. Millican (FM 2154 SB) Q-Q Plot.	
Figure 79. Millican (FM 2154 NB) Q-Q Plot.	
Figure 80. Hearne (FM 2549 NB) Q-Q Plot.	
Figure 81. Hearne (FM 2549 SB) Q-Q Plot.	
Figure 82. Video Camera Setup.	
Figure 83. Close-up View of Cameras	
Figure 84. Data Recording Vehicle.	
Figure 85. External Close-up Views.	
Figure 86. Reviewing Television Monitor	
Figure 87. Lab Facility	
Figure 88. Riverside Campus Layout.	
Figure 89. R1 Camera Gap Distance Calibration Curve (after period).	
Figure 90. Front, Driver-Side Tire Path for Wrong Corrective Action.	
Figure 91. Cumulative Distribution of Gap Distance (55 mph).	
Figure 92. Cumulative Distribution of Gap Distance (60 mph).	
Figure 93. Cumulative Distribution of Gap Distance (65 mph).	155
Figure 94 Cumulative Distribution of Gap Distance	156
Figure 95 Box Plot of Gan Distance with Respect to Speed	156
Figure 96 Distribution of Gan Distance (55 mph)	157
Figure 97 Distribution of Gap Distance (60 mph)	157
Figure 98 Distribution of Gap Distance (65 mph)	157
Figure 99 Normal O-O Plot of Gan Distance (55 mph)	158
Figure 100 Normal O-O Plot of Gan Distance (60 mph)	158
Figure 101 Normal Q-Q Plot of Gap Distance (65 mph)	150
Figure 102 Normal Q-Q Plot of Gap Distance (Speeds Combined)	159
Figure 103 Cumulative Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (55 mph)	162
Figure 104 Cumulative Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (60 mph)	162
Figure 105, Cumulative Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (65 mph)	162
Figure 106, Cumulative Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (05 mpn)	163
Figure 107 Box Plot of Centerline Crossing Time with Respect to Speed	
Figure 108 Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (55 mph)	164
Figure 100. Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (60 mph).	
Figure 109. Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (65 mph)	
Figure 110. Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (05 mph).	
Figure 111. Normal Q-Q Plot of Centerline Crossing Time (55 mph)	
Figure 112. Normal Q-Q Plot of Centerline Crossing Time (60 mph).	
Figure 115. Normal Q-Q Plot of Centerline Crossing Time (05 mpn)	
Figure 114. Normal Q-Q Plot of Centernine Crossing Time (speeds Combined)	
Figure 115. Terms.	
Figure 110. Recommended Transverse Rumble Strip Layout	
Figure 117. Willed Centerline Rumble Strips	
Figure 118. Kaised Centerline Kumple Strips	
Figure 119. Milled Edgeline Rumble Strips.	
Figure 120. Kaised Edgeline Rumble Strips.	
Figure 121. Recommended Standard Design Sheet for CRSs and ERSs.	
Figure 122. Safety Analysis of Centerline Rumble Strips (1 of 2).	
Figure 123. Safety Analysis of Centerline Rumble Strips (2 of 2)	
Figure 124. Safety Analysis of Edgeline Rumble Strips (1 of 2).	

Figure 125. Safety Analysis of Edgeline Rumble Strips (2 of 2).	195
Figure 126. Distribution of Two-Lane Highway Mileage by Shoulder Width	196
Figure 127. Distribution of Two-Lane Highway Crashes by Shoulder Width	196

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1. Site Selection Controls and Criteria	6
Table 2. Characteristics of Rural Stop-Controlled Intersection Sites.	
Table 3. Characteristics of Horizontal Curve Project Sites.	7
Table 4. Traffic Operations Data Measured at Project Sites.	. 11
Table 5. Data Collection Periods.	. 16
Table 6. Definitions of Anomalous and Representative Vehicles.	
Table 7. Snook (FM 50) Traffic Mix	
Table 8. Snook (FM 50) Maneuver Frequencies.	28
Table 9. Hearne (FM 2549) Traffic Mix	36
Table 10. Hearne (FM 2549) Maneuver Frequencies.	37
Table 11. Steephollow (FM 1179) Change in Speed Results.	39
Table 12. Steephollow (FM 1179) Curve Spot Speed Results.	39
Table 13. Steephollow (FM 1179) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results	40
Table 14. Navasota I (FM 3090) Change in Speed Results.	41
Table 15. Navasota I (FM 3090) Curve Spot Speed Results.	41
Table 16. Navasota I (FM 3090) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results	42
Table 17. Keith (FM 244) Change in Speed Results.	44
Table 18. Keith (FM 244) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles	44
Table 19. Keith (FM 244) Curve Spot Speed Results.	44
Table 20. Keith (FM 244) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.	45
Table 21. Data Collection Conditions.	55
Table 22. Number of Observed Vehicles.	56
Table 23. Statistical Analysis Approach.	56
Table 24. Test of Proportions for the Number of Centerline Encroachments.	60
Table 25. Descriptive Statistics for Gap Distance.	61
Table 26. Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test for Gap Distance.	61
Table 27. Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test for Gap Distance (Weekday vs. Weekend)	62
Table 28. Descriptive Statistics for Centerline Crossing Time	63
Table 29. Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test for Centerline Crossing Time.	63
Table 30. Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test for Centerline Crossing Time (Weekday vs. Weekend)	64
Table 31. Descriptive Statistics for Passing Opportunity.	65
Table 32. Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test for Passing Opportunity	66
Table 33. Test of Proportions for Percentage of Passing	66
Table 34. CRS Lateral Position Project Site Characteristics.	67
Table 35. Shoulder Encroachment Volumes.	92
Table 36. Encroachment Maneuver Volumes	93
Table 37. Shoulder Encroachment Volumes for Emergency and Turning Maneuvers	95
Table 38. Shoulder Encroachment Volumes for Other Maneuvers.	96
Table 39. Shoulder Encroachment Volumes for Passing Maneuvers.	97
Table 40. Lateral Position Calculations for Emergency and Turning Maneuvers	98
Table 41. Lateral Position Calculations for Other Maneuvers.	99
Table 42. Position Category Counts for Other Maneuvers.	100
Table 43. Lateral Position Calculations for Passing Maneuvers.	101

Table 44. Position Category Volumes for Passing Maneuvers	. 103
Table 45. Findings for Stop-Controlled Intersection Sites.	. 106
Table 46. Findings for Horizontal Curve Sites.	107
Table 47. Advantages and Disadvantages of LIDAR versus Automated Vehicle Classifiers	. 116
Table 48. Transverse Rumble Strip Site Characteristics.	. 117
Table 49. Bosque County (FM 3118) Change in Speed Results.	. 117
Table 50. Bosque County (FM 3118) Comparison of Change in Speed	
for Speeding Vehicles.	. 117
Table 51, Bosque County (FM 3118) Intersection Spot Speed Results	118
Table 52. Bosque County (FM 3118) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results	118
Table 53 Snook (FM 50 SB turning vehicles) Change in Speed Results	118
Table 54 Snook (FM 50 SB turning vehicles) Intersection Speed Results	119
Table 55. Snook (FM 50 SB turning vehicles) Warning Sign Snot Speed Results	119
Table 56. Snock (FM 50 SB turning vehicles) Change in Speed Results	110
Table 50. Shook (FM 50 SB through vehicles) Comparison of Change in Speed	
for Speeding Vahialas	120
Table 58 Speek (EM 50 SP through vabiales) Intersection Speet Speed Desults	120
Table 50. Shook (FM 50 SD through vehicles) Intersection Spot Speed Results	120
Table 59. Shook (FM 50 SB through vehicles) warning Sign Spot Speed Results	. 120
Table 60. Snook (FM 50 NB) Change in Speed Results.	. 121
Table 61. Snook (FM 50 NB) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles	. 121
Table 62. Snook (FM 50 NB) Intersection Spot Speed Results.	. 121
Table 63. Snook (FM 50 NB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.	122
Table 64. Colorado City (FM 208 SB) Change in Speed Results.	. 122
Table 65. Colorado City (FM 208 SB) Intersection Spot Speed Results	. 122
Table 66. Colorado City (FM 208 SB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.	. 123
Table 67. Colorado City (FM 208 NB) Change in Speed Results	. 123
Table 68. Colorado City (FM 208 NB) Intersection Spot Speed Results	. 123
Table 69. Colorado City (FM 208 NB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.	. 124
Table 70. Millican (FM 2154 SB) Change in Speed Results	. 124
Table 71. Millican (FM 2154 SB) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles	. 124
Table 72. Millican (FM 2154 SB) Intersection Spot Speed Results	. 125
Table 73. Millican (FM 2154 SB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.	125
Table 74. Millican (FM 2154 NB) Change in Speed Results.	125
Table 75. Millican (FM 2154 NB) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles	126
Table 76. Millican (FM 2154 NB) Intersection Spot Speed Results.	126
Table 77. Millican (FM 2154 NB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results	. 126
Table 78. Hearne (FM 2549 NB) Change in Speed Results.	. 127
Table 79 Hearne (FM 2549 NB) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles	127
Table 80 Hearne (FM 2549 NB) Intersection Speed Results	127
Table 81 Hearne (FM 2549 NB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results	128
Table 82 Hearne (FM 2549 SB) Change in Speed Results	128
Table 83. Hearne (FM 2549 SB) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles	120
Table 84. Hearne (FM 2549 SB) Intersection Speed Results	120
Table 85. Hearne (FM 2540 SB) Marning Sign Speed Results	120
Table 86. Steenhollow (FM 1170) Change in Speed Degults	120
Table 87 Stoonhollow (FM 1179) Change in Speed Results	120
Table 89. Steephollow (FM 1179) Warning Sign Speed Results.	120
Table 66. Steephonow (FW 1179) warning Sign Spot Speed Results	120
Table 69. Navasota I (FIVI 5090) Change in Speed Kesuits	. 130

Table 90. Navasota I (FM 3090) Curve Spot Speed Results.	131
Table 91. Navasota I (FM 3090) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results	131
Table 92. Navasota II (FM 3090) Change in Speed Results	131
Table 93. Navasota II (FM 3090) Curve Spot Speed Results	132
Table 94. Navasota II (FM 3090) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.	132
Table 95. Keith (FM 244) Change in Speed Results.	132
Table 96. Keith (FM 244) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles	133
Table 97. Keith (FM 244) Curve Spot Speed Results.	133
Table 98. Keith (FM 244) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.	133
Table 99. Bremond (FM 46) Change in Speed Results.	134
Table 100. Bremond (FM 46) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles	134
Table 101. Bremond (FM 46) Curve Spot Speed Results.	134
Table 102. Bremond (FM 46) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results	135
Table 103. Gap Distance with Respect to Direction.	151
Table 104. Centerline Crossing Time with Respect to Direction.	151
Table 105. Gap Distance with Respect to Speed.	152
Table 106. Centerline Crossing Time with Respect to Speed.	152
Table 107. Test of Proportions for the Number of Centerline Encroachments.	153
Table 108. Descriptive Statistics	154
Table 109. Gap Distance with Respect to Period.	160
Table 110. Gap Distance with Respect to Weekend and Weekday.	160
Table 111. Descriptive Statistics for Centerline Crossing Time	161
Table 112. Centerline Crossing Time with Respect to Period.	167
Table 113. Centerline Crossing Time with Respect to Weekday and Weekend.	167
Table 114. Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test for Passing Opportunity	168
Table 115. Test of Proportions for Percentage of Passing.	168
Table 116. Table and Figure Directional Matrix Explanation.	169
Table 117. Summary Count for FM 195 (Curve 1, Inside Lane).	169
Table 118. Summary Count for FM 195 (Curve 1, Outside Lane).	170
Table 119. Summary Count for FM 195 (Curve 2, Outside Lane)	170
Table 120. Summary Count for FM 195 (Curve 2, Inside Lane).	170
Table 121. Summary Count for FM 969 (Tangent, Direction 1)	171
Table 122. Summary Count for FM 969 (Tangent, Direction 2)	171
Table 123. Summary Count for FM 969 (Curve, Outside Lane)	171
Table 124. Summary Count for FM 969 (Curve, Inside Lane).	1/2
Table 125. Summary Count for FM 1431 (Tangent, Direction 1)	1/2
Table 126. Summary Count for FM 1431 (Tangent, Direction 2)	1/2
Table 127. Summary Count for FM 1431 (Curve, Inside Lane).	173
Table 128. Summary Count for FM 1431 (Curve, Outside Lane)	1/3
Table 129. Summary Count for FM 2222 (Tangent, Direction 1)	1/3
Table 130. Summary Count for FM 2222 (Tangent, Direction 2)	1/4
Table 131. Summary Count for FM 2222 (Curve, Outside Lane)	174
Table 132. Summary Count for FM 2222 (Curve, Inside Lane).	17/4

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Research findings have clearly shown that continuous rumble strips along the shoulders of highways have significant benefits in terms of reducing run-off-the-road (ROR) crashes. More recently, studies are beginning to show that continuous rumble strips installed along the centerline (CL) of highways have the potential to impact safety in a positive manner. Less understood, but potentially just as beneficial, are in-lane or transverse rumble strips, which are normally installed on approaches to rural, high-speed intersections, unexpected horizontal curves, or other locations where crashes occur more frequently than expected.

This project included an investigation of these three different types of rumble strips on Texas highways. The primary focus of the project was on the operational aspects of transverse rumble strips (TRSs) and centerline rumble strips (CRSs). Also included in the research scope, but with less emphasis, is the evaluation of edgeline rumble strips (ERSs) on two-lane highways.

This report represents the details of the research performed. An earlier report includes the stateof-the-art review, including:

- interviews with states identified as having significant experience with rumble strips;
- a database of rumble strip specifications, applications, and usage;
- draft guidelines for rumble strips; and
- a benefit-to-cost safety analysis projection for the installation of CRSs and ERSs (1).

This report documents the research activities related to TRSs, CRSs, and ERSs. The appendices report detailed statistical analyses along with the recommendations concerning rumble strip applications throughout the state of Texas.

CHAPTER 2

TRANSVERSE RUMBLE STRIPS

PROBLEM STATEMENT

This chapter documents the design of field evaluations for transverse rumble strips, including:

- overall study approach,
- site selection,
- installation of rumble strips, and
- data analysis variables.

Previous studies have examined the effects of rumble strips on approaches to various roadway junctions. The scope of this research was focused on rural stop-controlled intersections and horizontal curves. A review of previous research revealed that the application of rumble strips to similar intersections and horizontal curves produced a statistically significant reduction in mean and 85th percentile approach speeds. However, the actual reductions were on the magnitude of 1 - 4 mph, which is not practically significant (2). The goal of this research was not only to determine if the rumble strips help reduce the approach speeds of vehicles, but rather to determine if the rumble strips are effective in warning drivers of an upcoming intersection. Researchers analyzed the changes in drivers' approach speeds to determine if drivers used a more gradual change in approach speed while approaching the intersection in the post-treatment case as opposed to the pre-treatment case.

OBJECTIVES

Reaction to the rumble strips as an advanced warning treatment would be reflected in the deceleration rates, or change of speed on the approach to the intersection or horizontal curve. Larger (but still comfortable) changes in speed, located further upstream, would be an indication that the rumble strips were effective at warning drivers of an approaching intersection or horizontal curve. Smaller changes in speed located further downstream and nearer to the intersection or curve would indicate an improvement as well. An overall indication of improvement would be a more gradual and uniform deceleration profile.

Initial reaction to the rumble strips would be reflected in the speeds of vehicles approaching the intersection or curve. As in previous studies, researchers collected and analyzed approach speeds to determine if drivers utilized lower speeds to the intersection or curve. Lower speeds on the approach to the intersection or curve would indicate an improvement. Another important consideration is drivers' reaction to the rumble strips. Installing new traffic control devices creates the risk of inducing erratic maneuvers if the devices surprise or confuse drivers. In the case of transverse rumble strips, drivers might brake suddenly or swerve to avoid the strips. An installation of transverse rumble strips can be considered a good safety treatment if such maneuvers are minimized.

Previous studies did not differentiate the effect that rumble strips had on unfamiliar or unsuspecting drivers. Another goal of this project was to determine if the rumble strips were more effective on drivers during nighttime periods. Drivers may be more unsuspecting of approaching conditions due to unfamiliarity with the roadway, drowsiness, or other inhibiting factors at night. During these times, rumble strips may be more effective than in daytime periods when there are greater percentages of familiar or suspecting drivers on the roadway.

STUDY DESIGN

Before and After Field Experiments

The basic project approach for this research was to collect and evaluate traffic operations data at given field sites. The experiments were carried out at each site in typical before-and-after fashion. The before treatment case involved collecting traffic operations data while no rumble strips were in place and a Stop-Ahead or Curve-Ahead warning sign was in place. The after treatment case involved collecting data after installing the rumble strips. The Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) *Manual of Transportation Engineering Studies* (3) recommends before and after experiments both for statistical and practical reasons, including:

- site-to-site variation is eliminated,
- fewer sites are necessary to draw useful conclusions, and
- results make intuitive sense and are easily understood by engineers and non-technical readers alike.

Surrogate Crash Measures

To evaluate the effectiveness of the transverse rumble strips, surrogate crash measures were used. The primary objective of safety expenditures on roadways is to improve the safety along roadways through reductions in crashes and crash severity. The ultimate measure of effectiveness would be an evaluation or analysis of changes in crash experience. Crash-based evaluations are difficult because low crash frequencies require long periods of time to acquire the needed sample sizes. Other complications arise due to bias, inaccuracy, and confounding effects within the crash database (4).

To offset the shortcomings of using crash experience as the sole criterion, non-crash measures are used to provide an intermediate measure. Non-crash measures are considered intermediate because they are meant to be a supplement, not a substitute, for–crash-based measures. Some operational non-crash measures that have been identified as surrogates for safety include:

- spot speeds,
- speed profiles,
- delay,
- travel time,
- percentage of vehicles stopping,
- deceleration profile,
- speed changes, and
- queue length.

While the proper use of surrogate crash measures can provide intermediate indications as to the effectiveness of implemented safety projects, their direct relationship to crash occurrence has yet to be established (5). Surrogate crash measures are recommended for use as an operational review tool and to improve traffic flow and operations during project planning stages. However,

it is recommended that acceptance of non-crash measures as surrogate crash measures should be used with caution until quantitative relationships can be established (4). The measures of evaluation used in this research project include speed change and spot speeds.

Erratic Maneuvers

In addition to surrogate crash measures, another safety consideration is the frequency of erratic maneuvers like sudden/hard braking or swerving. As part of this research, video data were collected 24 hours after rumble strip installation at two of the stop-controlled intersection sites and then analyzed to determine the frequency of hard braking, swerving (sudden), or shifting (smooth) maneuvers.

General Field Procedures

For the research described here, a typical data collection effort at a given site was conducted in the following manner:

- Covertly collect traffic operations data (i.e., speeds, driver behavior) in the "before" period with the existing TxDOT warning signs in place.
- Install transverse rumble strips.
- Allow for a minimum three-week "warm up" period to allow novelty effects of the transverse rumble strips to wear off.
- Collect traffic operations data in the "after" period in the same manner as the "before" period.

The data collection effort made every attempt to select sites and design and perform the experiments to minimize biasing factors. With few exceptions, data collection was performed only on Mondays through Thursdays and under clear to partly cloudy weather conditions with dry pavement.

Site Selection

To satisfy the evaluation scenarios, 14 sites were selected and used for field evaluations. These sites included nine approaches to rural stop-controlled intersections and five approaches to horizontal curves. The locations where data were collected are listed in Table 2 and Table 3.

A number of criteria were used for the selection of sites. The main criterion for site selection was evidence of a hazardous condition that could potentially be remedied through the use of rumble strips. The main criteria for hazardous site identification were reports from TxDOT officials of intersections that had known problems, such as higher-than-state-average crash rates, locations of severe crashes, and/or intersections that had received public complaint. TxDOT also selected these sites based on engineering judgment. Traffic control devices such as warning signs had previously been deployed at these sites, but the crash rates and the number of complaints had not subsided as a result of these devices. Because selection of sites was based on the perceived availability of sites in the area and the most efficient way to use resources available for the project, the process was not random. Other selection criteria included:

- long uninterrupted tangent section on approach,
- no evidence of police over-enforcement in the area,
- close proximity to TTI headquarters, and
- feasibility and ease of data collection.

The sites selected contained similar features and controls. The features and controls were kept constant so drivers' speeds would not be influenced by external factors. Table 1 presents a summary of site selection controls. The characteristics for the intersection and curve project sites are displayed in Table 2 and Table 3, respectively. Detailed site descriptions are provided in the Findings section of the report.

Control	Criteria
Area Type	Rural
Terrain	No Restriction
Design Classification	Two-Lane on Project Approach
Intersection Control	Stop Ahead on Project Approach
Posted Speed Limit	55 – 70 mph
Traffic Volumes	Low (Less than 3000 vehicles/day [vpd])

Table 1. Site Selection Controls and Criteria.

Table 2. Characteristics of Rural Stop-Controlled Intersection Sites.

	Sites				
	FM 3118	FM 50	FM 208	FM 2154	FM 2549
Intersection Type	Two-way Stop	Two-way Stop	Four-way Stop	Four-way Stop	Two-way Stop
Development	Rural	Rural	Rural	Rural	Rural
Posted Regulatory Speed (mph)	65	65	65	70/65	70
Direction(s)	NB	NB/SB	NB/SB	NB/SB	NB/SB

	Sites				
	FM 1179	FM 3090 (I)	FM 3090 (II)	FM 244	FM 46
Roadway Type	RTLTW ¹				
Right or Left Curve	Right	Left	Left	Left	Right
Posted Regulatory Speed (mph)	65	65	65	70/65	65
Posted Curve Advisory Speed (mph)	35	15	15	40	None

Table 3. Characteristics of Horizontal Curve Project Sites.

¹ Rural, two-lane, two-way (RTLTW) highway.

Installation of Rumble Strips

After collecting sufficient before speed data, the rumble strips were installed. The Rumbler® rumble strip from Swarco Industries, Incorporated, was used exclusively at all test locations. Swarco Industries produces three types of strips: reflective yellow, reflective white, and black (6). The reflective white rumble strip was used in this project.

Rumble Strip Characteristics

Each Rumbler® rumble strip consists of a four-foot-wide piece of white rubber with three raised ridges. The three ridges act to provide the rumble effect and also to provide the audible warning. The reflective white rumble strip, which was used in this project, has a potential to have more warning capabilities because of the added visual effect (6). Figure 1 shows a cross-sectional view of the Rumbler® rumble strip.



Figure 1. Cross Section of Rumbler® (7).

Deployment Configuration

Two sets of Rumbler® rumble strips were installed on the approaches to the stop-controlled intersections and horizontal curves. The sets were spaced 500 feet apart, with the downstream set being 250 feet downstream of the warning sign and the upstream set being 250 feet upstream of the warning sign. Each set contained ten rumble strips, spaced two feet center to center. These strips are four feet long, which leaves space for a gap in the traveled way for motorcycles.

A minimum of a two-foot gap was included in the center of the lane and a six-inch space was left between the edges of the strips and both the edgeline and the centerline. A diagram of a typical deployment for a set of rumble strips is shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Standard Rumble Strip Layout.

Installation Procedures

For proper installation, the pavement had to be clean, dry, and warmer than 50° F. The pavement was dry, and its temperature just before installation was above 70° F in all cases. Once the pavement was clean, it was marked using a marking line and road chalk for proper placement and layout of the rumble strips. Adhesive, which was supplied by Swarco, was then applied to the pavement with a paint roller and allowed to set for approximately three minutes. After allowing the adhesive to set, seal tape was installed on the areas where the rumble strips would be located. An additional coat of adhesive was applied to the seal tape and allowed three minutes to set. The strips were placed on the seal tape and tamped manually and allowed about ten minutes to adhere to the surface before traffic was allowed to traverse over them. A typical installation is shown in Figure 3 and Figure 4.



Figure 3. Installation of Rumble Strips.



Figure 4. Upstream View of Installed Rumble Strips.

Traffic Operations Data Analysis Variables

The principal objective of this research project was to assess the effectiveness of rumble strips on driver behavior under various field conditions. Therefore, a detailed experiment was devised for each site based on the geometric characteristics. The following sections list descriptions of the independent, covariate, and dependent variables.

Independent Variables

The warning device treatment was the primary independent variable in the data analysis for each site. The null treatment was always the existing sign(s) that were in place. The existing warning treatments were the Stop-Ahead signs (ASTM Type III). The alternative treatments were the placement of rumble strips in addition to the existing warning sign. The null treatment was considered the before case (prior to the rumble strip installation) and the alternative treatment was considered the after case (with the rumble strips installed). Additional independent variables that were included in the analysis were as follows:

- ambient lighting condition (day or night period),
- data collection periods (weekday or weekend),
- vehicle type (only passenger vehicles with headways greater than 15 seconds were included in the analysis), and
- weather condition (data were only collected under clear to partly cloudy weather conditions).

Speed at Upstream Control Point (Covariate)

For the data analyses, the upstream control point speed was used as a covariate. Covariates are random variables that are treated as concomitants or as other influential variables that affect the response (8). It is reasonable to assume that the magnitude of drivers' responses to signs, geometric conditions, or intersections varied according to the speed at which they generally chose to drive (i.e., their uninhibited free-flow speed) (9). For example, drivers who travel faster on tangent sections will likely travel faster through curves. It was assumed that when approaching a stop-controlled intersection, faster drivers were forced to slow down more than slower drivers.

To provide an explicit measure of uninhibited free-flow driver behavior, initial spot speed measurements were taken on a tangent section upstream of the project site. Upstream speed measurements served as "control" data for the analysis. Upstream control point speed was included as a covariate in the analysis to account for the impact of individual drivers' uninhibited free-flow speed on speeds at the project site.

Dependent Variables (Measures of Effectiveness)

The stop-controlled intersection and horizontal curve studies utilized similar measures of effectiveness (MOEs). Before and after crash data were not available for the evaluations performed. Multiple literature sources have considered speed-related measures (i.e., speeds, decelerations, and speed variance) for vehicles approaching an intersection or curve as appropriate for surrogate crash evaluations. The MOEs were designed to detect changes in driver performance that were believed to be related to traffic safety. Available data collection resources were also considered in MOE development. Direct relationships between MOEs and crash occurrence were not established in the research. The MOEs employed for the stop-controlled intersections and horizontal curve sites included speed changes between data collection points and speeds approaching the intersection or curve.

Erratic Maneuver Data Analysis Variables

A secondary objective of this project was to determine whether installation of transverse rumble strips would induce erratic maneuvers as drivers encounter and pass over the strips. To determine the frequency of erratic maneuvers, video data were collected within 24 hours of strip installation so driver behavior could be observed directly. Data extracted from the footage included traffic volume counts, vehicle classifications, and maneuver classifications. These data were used to determine the frequency of erratic or avoiding maneuvers.

DATA COLLECTION

This section documents the field data collection and analytical procedures for the experiments performed in this project, including:

- determination of sample size,
- data collection procedures, and
- data screening and formatting.

Traffic Operations Data Collection

Traffic operations data were collected to satisfy the measures of effectiveness for each field evaluation. Speeds of free-flowing (> 15-second headway) passenger vehicles were measured for every field evaluation and were the basis for a majority of the MOEs. A 15-second headway was chosen because it was sufficiently large to ensure that drivers were uninfluenced by the brake lights of downstream vehicles. Because the researchers were more interested in the behavior of individual drivers than aggregated spot speeds, speeds of individual vehicles were tracked as they approached and proceeded through the project site. Vehicle tracking allowed speed profiles to be obtained for each vehicle, allowing for a more robust statistical analysis.

Table 4 shows a summary of the traffic operations data that were collected at the project sites to satisfy the measures of effectiveness.

Curves	Stop-Controlled Intersections
 Vehicle speeds prior to the curve and signs coming into view (control point) Vehicle speeds on the approach to the curve 	 Vehicle speeds prior to intersection or signs coming into view (control point) Vehicle speeds on the approach to the intersection Video footage of vehicle traversing the project site

Table 4. Traffic Operations Data Measured at Project Sites.

Determination of Sample Size

With project sites selected, the next task was to collect the geometric data of the sites. The geometric layouts of each site, including final placement of rumble strips, are shown in Appendix A. Next, approach speeds were needed prior to installation of rumble strips. The

minimum number of individual speed observations required depends on the variation in speeds and the accuracy of the speed measurements. Equation 1 (10) was used to estimate the number of speed observations needed to compute mean and 85th percentile speeds at each site:

$$n = \left(\frac{ts}{\varepsilon}\right)^2 \qquad (1)$$

Where,

n	=	required sample size,
S	=	standard deviation,
3	=	user-specified allowable error, and
t	=	coefficient of the standard error of the mean that represents user-specified
		probability level.

The value for standard deviation was estimated from previous studies (11,12,13,14, 15). The estimation was computed prior to the field studies. Levels of statistical precision (t, ε) were user-specified. For the purposes of this report, a 95 percent confidence interval (t = 1.96), and an ε value of 1 mph were chosen. The values for standard deviation from previous studies ranged from 5 to 8 mph. Thus, the value for estimated sample size (n) varied from 125 individual vehicle speeds to 250 individual vehicle speeds. A minimum of 250 individual vehicle speeds was determined to be the required sample size at each project location.

Data Collection Equipment

Tracking of individual vehicle speeds through a given site was accomplished by using a series of portable automated vehicle classifiers. Portable automated vehicle classifiers are commonly used by transportation agencies nationwide and allow for a large sample size to be collected. These devices are placed on the roadside and connected to a pair of sensors (pneumatic roadtubes in this case) that are affixed to the pavement surface. The device recorded information for each axle that traversed over the sensors. The device was then able to compute desired information about each vehicle. A light detecting and ranging (LIDAR) device was then used to ensure that the roadtubes were set up properly and recording accurate information.

Speeds of individual vehicles were tracked by the automated vehicle classifiers by placing a number of devices in succession at specific locations throughout the project site. The classifiers and roadtubes were placed at three locations: a control location, at the warning sign, and near the intersection or curve. Time clocks were synchronized for all devices. Individual vehicles were later tracked during the data reduction phase by tracking time stamps and classifications among successive counters.

PEEKTM ADR 2000 traffic counters were used, operating in Raw Data mode. All data were collected using the counters and downloaded into a format that was manageable by Microsoft ExcelTM. The geometric data (lane widths and distances) were measured using a measuring wheel.

Placement of Counters

As previously mentioned, there were three locations at which the traffic data counters were placed. The control location was placed on the approach at a point where the driver could not

see the intersection/curve or warning sign. The control location was used to compare changes in vehicle speeds in the before and after conditions. The second counter, referred to as the warning sign location, was placed at the Stop-Ahead or Curve-Ahead sign. The final counter, referred to as the intersection or curve location, was placed 450 to 500 feet upstream of the warning sign and 100 to 700 feet from the intersection or curve (see Figure 5). The placement of warnings was defined under the guidance of the *Texas Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices* (TMUTCD).

These locations were chosen to evaluate driver reaction to the rumble strips. The MOE used to evaluate driver reaction is the change in speed between speed trap locations. Change in speed approaching the stop sign is an appropriate MOE as it is desirable to reduce erratic vehicular decelerations and invoke a more comfortable deceleration profile (4, 16). An indication of improvement would be illustrated by higher (but still comfortable) changes in speed further upstream and lower changes in speed further downstream. Additional MOEs used at the project sites were the comparison of approach speeds to the intersection and/or curve.



Figure 5. Standard Site Layout.

The Two Tube Class and Speed mode was used to collect the data. After configuring the data files as specified in the PEEK ADR 2000 manual (17), the roadtubes were placed within the

traveled way. The roadtubes were placed 16 feet apart and perpendicular to the direction of traffic flow, as prescribed by the manual. A typical setup of the traffic counter and roadtubes is shown in Figure 6.



Figure 6. Typical Traffic Counter and Roadtube Configuration.

Duration of Study

A typical data collection period proceeded in the following manner:

- The field crew arrived at the site at approximately 10:00 AM to set up and began observations by 11:00 AM.
- A drive-through of the site was performed to locate the subject intersection, the warning sign, and a location for the control speed trap. The location of the control speed trap depended upon the requirement that drivers could see neither the intersection nor the warning sign.
- Once the location of the control speed trap was located, the traffic counters and roadtubes were placed as shown in Figure 5.

Data were collected during daytime and nighttime periods to determine if the effectiveness of the rumble strips changed throughout the day. The daytime and nighttime periods were defined from the sunrise and sunset times reported in *The Old Farmer's Almanac (18)*. Generally, daytime was defined as sunrise to sunset and nighttime was defined as sunset to sunrise. Periods in which sunlight was directly in drivers' eyes were removed; however, this was minimal because the sites' roads ran in the north and south directions. The dates of the data collection periods for each site are shown in Table 5.

Location	Before Data	Collection	After Data Collection		
Location	Starting Date	Ending Date	Starting Date	Ending Date	
FM 3118	9/23/2003	9/24/2003	11/21/2003	11/24/2003	
FM 50	9/5/2003	9/10/2003	12/12/2003	12/16/2003	
FM 208	5/12/2003	5/14/2003	6/25/2003	6/26/2003	
FM 2154	8/15/2003	8/18/2003	11/18/2003	11/20/2003	
FM 2549	8/22/2003	8/25/2003	2/20/2004	2/23/2004	
FM 1179	9/16/2003	9/17/2003	12/10/2003	12/11/2003	
FM 3090 (I)	5/28/2003	5/30/2003	10/29/2003	10/30/2003	
FM 3090 (II)	11/12/2003	11/14/2003	3/24/2004	3/26/2004	
FM 244	10/10/2003	10/14/2003	4/5/2004	4/7/2004	
FM 46	10/2/2003	10/3/2003	4/7/2004	4/9/2004	

Table 5. Data Collection Periods.

Data Screening and Reduction

The raw speed data measured at the project sites were screened to create a random and unbiased sample of speeds for free-flowing, uninhibited passenger vehicles. The objective of the data screening process was to isolate the effect of the transverse rumble strips on driver behavior by identifying and eliminating potentially biased data. Therefore, the main data screening task was to identify anomalous vehicles and exclude them from the final data set.

An additional subset of the data was made to evaluate the effectiveness of rumble strips on drivers that entered the project location at speeds greater than the posted speed limit. After comparing the change in vehicle speed for all passenger vehicles entering the site, the data were subset once more to include only those vehicles whose speed at the control point speed trap exceeded the posted speed limit. The change in vehicle speed between the warning sign speed trap and the intersection speed trap was compared. Evaluations were performed at each site and also for day, night, weekday, and weekend conditions, where applicable.

Definitions of Anomalous and Representative Vehicles

During data collection, the researchers were interested in obtaining data from a sample of freeflowing passenger vehicles that were traveling through the project site without influence by other vehicles. However, a certain percentage of vehicles passing through a site during data collection were influenced by factors external to the experiment and deemed anomalous to the experiment. The researchers made every attempt to identify these anomalous vehicles and to exclude them from that data set. With few exceptions, for all data collected during the field evaluations, researchers defined anomalous vehicle and representative vehicles by the conditions shown in Table 6.

Anomalous Vehicles (Excluded from Data Set)	Representative Vehicles (Included in Data Set)
 Non-passenger: Commercial Delivery Bus Farm equipment Influenced by other vehicles at the site: Non-free-flowing (≤ 15-second headway) Traversing through curve when vehicle is present in opposing lane (encroachment data only) Approaching Stop sign when queue is present (stop-controlled intersection sites only) Turning Towing trailer Motorcycle Erratic behavior Uninhibited upstream speed was deemed excessively slow (e.g., <50 mph for sites with 65-70 mph posted speed limits) 	 Passenger: Car Pickup truck Sports Utility Vehicle (SUV) Van Uninfluenced by other vehicles Traversing the entire project site Greater than 15-second headway Traveling at an appropriate uninhibited speed upstream of the site (e.g., ≥ 50 mph for sites with 65-70 mph posted speed limits)

les.

Data Formatting

Data collection files from the traffic counters were downloaded and imported into a Microsoft Excel format for the data reduction process. The number of initial observations ranged from 980 vehicles to 5400 vehicles. The following items were collected from the counters:

- date,
- time of day,
- number of vehicles per hour,
- vehicle classification, and
- vehicle speed.

Individual vehicle speeds and classifications were then analyzed to ensure that only free-flowing passenger cars were included in the database. Researchers deleted from the data file any non-passenger car and any vehicle less than fifteen-second headway after the previous vehicle. The percentage of passenger vehicles at each site ranged from 60 to 70 percent of the data set. The

percentage of passenger vehicles that were in platoons (non-free-flowing traffic) was less than 10 percent for all sites.

Once in spreadsheet format, timestamps were compared at successive counters in an attempt to "track" vehicles through the project approach. The expected travel times were calculated based on speed and distance between the counters and also assuming a uniform deceleration, or in a few cases, acceleration. The expected travel times were used to estimate a time of arrival at each successive counter. By comparing the estimated time of arrival with the timestamp from the counter, the majority of the vehicles could be uniquely identified as they passed each of the three speed collection points. After tracking the vehicles, the speed change between each speed collection point was determined for each vehicle traveling through the site. Some of the vehicles were not able to be tracked through the site; however, the percentage of the site data that could not be tracked was less than 5 percent for each site. These data were removed.

Data files for each site, which contained only free-flow passenger cars, were then analyzed. The data file included 50 to 60 percent of the original data set and the number of observations ranged from 500 to 2800. A summary of the data is shown in Appendix A (Table 48). This summary includes the following information for each rumble strip location:

- number of speed observations,
- 85th percentile speeds,
- standard deviation of speeds,
- mean speeds,
- minimum speeds,
- maximum speeds, and
- variance of speeds.

ANALYSIS

Upon completion of the data collection and formatting procedures, the data were analyzed to determine statistically significant correlations between the rumble strips and changes in traffic operational characteristics. To analyze the relationships between the variables, appropriate statistical tests were selected for each evaluation. The following subsections describe the statistical tests employed for the analyses. Due to the site-to-site differences, data from each site were analyzed separately. A graphical analysis was also performed to provide a visual indication of any relationships that might exist between the before and after treatment conditions. All statistical tests were performed at a 95 percent confidence level ($\alpha = 0.05$). The histograms and data analyses were completed using Statistical Package for Social SciencesTM (SPSS).

Test for Normality

The initial step in the data analysis was to determine if the data were normally distributed. To test for normal distribution in the data set, the change in speed between the control speed trap and the intersection speed trap was plotted in a histogram for each data set. A normal distribution would be indicated if the data had minimal skewness and followed the bell-shaped distribution that is associated with normally distributed data. This visual assessment of normality was checked using the SPSS software. The SPSS software was also used to generate Q-Q plots to check the assumption of normality.

Speed Data Analysis

To examine the effectiveness of the rumble strips in warning drivers of upcoming decision points, the change in speed was compared in the before and after condition. There were three locations at which speed measurements were collected at all sites for both time periods:

- free flowing (control point),
- warning sign, and
- intersection or curve.

The change in speed parameter was calculated between the warning sign and intersection/curve speed traps for each approach.

To determine if the transverse rumble strips caused a significant reduction in speed changes, a statistical procedure known as the multiple factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used. The multifactor ANOVA allows for testing of differences between mean values of multiple populations as a function of independent variables (i.e., before period or after period; day or night light conditions) and the interactions between the independent variables (8). The confidence level that was used was 95 percent. Thus, if the p-value was less than 0.05 (5 percent), then the null hypothesis could be rejected. The null and alternative hypotheses that were tested for analysis were:

- Null hypothesis (H₀): the changes in speed or approach speeds were not significantly different for the time periods.
- Alternative hypothesis (H_a): the changes in speed or approach speeds were significantly different for the time periods.

A model was developed for the multifactor ANOVA analyses from the independent and covariate variables that were discussed previously. The model (see Equation 2) tested before and after conditions based on light conditions. The specific comparisons made using Equation 2 were day (before) versus day (after) and night (before) versus night (after). These tests were also done to determine if the rumble strips were more effective during times that drivers might be less attentive or less familiar with the roadway. The following equation was used for the comparisons of all MOEs:

$$MOE = \beta_0 + \beta_1(Study) + \beta_2(Light) + \beta_3(Control Speed) + \beta_4(Study \times Light) + \beta_5(Light \times Control Speed) + \beta_7(Study \times Light \times Control Speed)$$
(2)

Where,

MOE	= the measure of effectiveness (speed change or approach speed),
Study	= study period condition (before or after study condition),
Light	= ambient light condition (day or night), and
Control Speed	= speed at free flow counter.

The control point speed was entered into the analysis as a covariate. Adding the control point speed as a covariate provides a way to account for vehicles having different speeds prior to the

driver viewing the intersection. Researchers used the models to compare the before and after conditions. Equation 3 summarizes where the MOE is proportionate to the control speed plus a treatment effect (intercept, α).

MOE = $\alpha_i + \beta$ (Control Speed) (3)

By comparing only one control speed in the ANOVA models, an assumption was made that the relationships (i.e., slope values) for control speed are constant regardless of the control speed. To account for different slopes, two control speeds were chosen to evaluate the models. The control speeds were chosen based on the mean and 85th percentile speeds for each site. If significant differences in approach speeds or speed change occurred at one or both control speeds, those differences would be observed by choosing two different control speeds.

The beta (β) values in the equation represent the regression coefficient estimates, which help predict the speed changes and approach speeds. The estimates were examined as to their significance in the model.

Before periods were denoted by -1 and after periods were denoted by 1 for the linear contrast models in the SPSS analysis. There were series of linear contrasts performed for the data sets. In the case where before daytime data were compared to after daytime data, a value of 1 was coded in for daytime periods and a value of 0 was coded in for nighttime periods. These codes allowed for day (before) versus day (after) comparisons. The nighttime comparisons were coded similarly for the respective linear contrasts.

Graphical Analysis

The graphical analysis consisted of construction of speed-plots of the mean speed at the three designated data collection locations: control (free flow), warning sign, and intersection. The objective of the graphical analysis was to visually compare the pre-treatment approach behavior with the post-treatment behavior.

Erratic Maneuver Data

For the purpose of observing drivers' initial reactions to the installation of the transverse rumble strips, approximately 16 hours (8 during the day and 8 at night) of video data were collected at two of the stop-controlled intersection sites within 24 hours of each installation. The following data were extracted from the footage:

- vehicle counts,
- vehicle classification (passenger vehicle, big truck, pickup with trailer, or motorcycle), and
- maneuver type, including:
 - normal pass, when the vehicle passes directly over the rumble strips (all tires contact the strips),
 - straddle right, when the vehicle is far enough onto the shoulder that either only the left tires pass over the strips, or the left tires straddle the right set of strips but do not contact them,
- straddle left, when the vehicle is far enough into the opposing traffic lane that either only the right tires pass over the strips, or the right tires straddle the left set of strips but do not contact them,
- around right, when the vehicle is completely onto the shoulder and no tires pass over the strips, and
- around left, when the vehicle is completely into the opposing traffic lane and no tires pass over the strips.

Note that these shifting maneuvers are executed smoothly, and thus not considered to be erratic. Figure 7 illustrates these maneuver classifications.



Figure 7. Maneuver Classifications.

From these data, the frequency of each maneuver type was determined for the overall traffic mix and each vehicle classification.

FINDINGS

This section describes the findings of the analysis of the traffic operations data. The findings have been organized based on approach type and site locations, which include:

- stop-controlled intersections

 Bosque County (FM 3118),
 Snook (FM 50),
 - Colorado City (FM 208),
 Millican (FM 2154), and
 - Hearne (FM 2549).
- horizontal curves
 - Steephollow (FM 1179),
 Navasota I (FM 3090),
 Navasota II (FM 3090),
 Keith (FM 244), and
 Bremond (FM 46).

The statistically significant results are presented for each site and then summarized for all sites following the individual site discussions. Statistical analysis tables are included in Appendix A (Table 49 - Table 102). The erratic maneuver data are also presented for the two sites where they were collected (Snook [FM 50] and Hearne [FM 2549]).

All the coefficients in Equation 3 were found to be significant while performing the multifactor ANOVA. The significant differences between before and after periods were denoted by the study variable and β_1 in Equations 2 and 3. The significant differences between daytime and nighttime periods were denoted by the light variable and β_2 in Equation 2. Thus, the results presented here and in the appendix are categorized by light condition (day or night) and control speed. Additionally, the speed distributions at all sites were found to be normally distributed unless stated otherwise in the specific site findings discussion. Appendix A includes the Q-Q plots generated in SPSS (Figure 71 - Figure 81).

Stop-Controlled Intersection Sites

Bosque County

The Bosque County project site was located at the intersection of FM 3118 and SH 22 near Waco, Texas. The site is a T-intersection near a recreational area that tends to attract many unfamiliar drivers. TXDOT indicated that there were multiple reports of cars driving through the intersection without stopping. The posted speed limit along the approaches was 70 mph.

The statistically significant changes observed at this site were as follows:

- day intersection spot speed decreased by 0.4 mph for the 55-mph control speed,
- day intersection spot speed decreased by 1.1 mph for the 70-mph control speed,

- day warning sign spot speed decreased by 0.5 mph for the 55-mph control speed, and
- night warning sign spot speed increased by 3.7 mph for the 70-mph control speed.

A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 8. As shown, little changed at the intersection and warning sign speed traps, though there was an increase in speeds at the control site.



Figure 8. Bosque County (FM 3118) Speed Profile.

Snook

The Snook project site was located at the intersection of FM 50 and FM 60. The site is a twoway stop intersection and is unobstructed; however, the intersection is the first stop in ten miles in both directions and is likely not expected by the driver. The posted speed limit along the approaches was 70 mph.

Southbound Approach

Data from the southbound approach on FM 50 near the Snook site had to be separated into two cases: vehicles entering the highway from a side road (turning vehicles) and through vehicles (highway vehicles). This was due to a bi-modal distribution in the control speeds (see Figure 9). This distribution was due to the control speed trap being located near a side road. The side road was located 420 feet upstream of the control speed trap. Vehicles turning onto FM 50 from the side road would traverse over the control speed trap; however, the speed would be lower than that of a vehicle traveling straight through the site. To analyze the data, the site was split into two groups. A speed of 45 mph was used to separate the groups. The average speeds for the turning vehicles and through vehicles were 33 mph and 68 mph, respectively. The standard deviations for the turning vehicles and the straight through vehicles were 4.0 mph and 8.0 mph,

respectively. Taking a range of three standard deviations away from the mean in each case yielded a delineating speed of 45 mph. Once the speed data were split, both subsets (turning and through) were found to be normally distributed.



Figure 9. Bi-Modal Distribution of the Southbound Approach at Snook (FM 50).

Turning Vehicles

The statistically significant changes observed for turning vehicles were as follows:

- night speed change between speed traps (intersection and warning sign) decreased by 7.5 mph for the 35-mph control speed,
- night speed change between speed traps decreased by 8.7 mph for the 40-mph control speed,
- night intersection spot speed increased by 4.7 mph for the 35-mph control speed, and
- night warning sign spot speed decreased by 7.5 mph for the 40-mph control speed.

Vehicles traveling at higher than the posted speed limit were not evaluated in this case due to a small sample size of speeding vehicles. A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 10. Very little change was observed at the control site, a small decrease in speeds was observed at the warning sign trap, and a small increase in speeds was observed at the intersection trap.



Figure 10. Snook (FM 50 SB turning vehicles) Speed Profile.

Through Vehicles

The statistically significant changes observed for the through vehicles were as follows:

- speed change for speeding vehicles increased by 1.6 mph,
- day warning sign spot speeds increased by 1.9 mph for the 65-mph control speed, and
- night warning sign spot speeds increased by 3.2 mph for the 65-mph control speed.

A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 11. The only changes observed were a small increase in speeds at the warning sign trap and a small decrease at the control site.



Figure 11. Snook (FM 50 SB through vehicles) Speed Profile.

Northbound Approach

The statistically significant changes observed were as follows:

- day speed change increased by 0.6 mph,
- night speed change for speeding vehicles increased by 0.9 mph,
- weekend speed change for speeding vehicles increased by 0.9 mph,
- day intersection spot speeds for the 65-mph and 80-mph control speeds decreased by 3.7 mph and 4.0 mph, respectively,
- night intersection spot speeds decreased by 2.0 mph for the 65-mph control speed,
- day warning sign spot speeds for the 65-mph and 80-mph control speeds decreased by 3.0 mph and 3.6 mph, respectively, and
- night warning sign spot speeds decreased by 2.8 mph for the 65-mph control speed.

A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 12. A small decrease in speeds was observed at both speed traps, while a larger increase was observed at the control site.



Figure 12. Snook (FM 50 NB) Speed Profile.

Erratic Maneuver Data

Eight hours and twenty-five minutes of video data (10:35 AM – 7:00 PM) from the southbound approach were reviewed to observe the prevalence of erratic or shifting maneuvers at this site. The traffic mix (count and percentage of each vehicle classification) observed is given in Table 7. Note that only one motorcycle was observed in the video footage, which limits the findings with respect to motorcycle driver behavior. Table 8, Figure 13, and Figure 14 provide the maneuver frequency for the vehicle classifications. Figure 14 provides the same information as Figure 13, but with a different x-axis minimum so the rare maneuvers (straddle left, around right, and around left) can be visible. Figure 15 shows the maneuver frequencies for the overall traffic mix.

Vehicle Classification	Count	Percentage
Passenger Vehicle	323	77.3
Big Truck	83	19.9
Pickup with Trailer	11	2.6
Motorcycle	1	0.2
All Vehicles	418	100.0

Table	7.	Snook	(FM 50 [°]) Traffic	Mix.
1 4010		SHOOK		,	1.1.1.1.1.0

Vahiala Classification	Maneuver Frequency (%)						
venicle Classification	Normal Pass	Straddle Right	Straddle Left	Around Right	Around Left		
Passenger Vehicle	79.9	18.3	1.5	0.3	0.0		
Big Truck	91.6	6.0	1.2	1.2	0.0		
Pickup with Trailer	81.8	18.2	0.0	0.0	0.0		
Motorcycle	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	0.0		
All Vehicles	82.1	15.8	1.4	0.7	0.0		

Table 8. Snook (FM 50) Maneuver Frequencies.



Figure 13. Snook (FM 50) Maneuver Frequencies by Vehicle Classification.



Figure 14. Snook (FM 50) Maneuver Frequencies by Vehicle Classification (Close-up).



Figure 15. Snook (FM 50) Maneuver Frequencies, All Vehicles.

The majority of vehicles (82.1 percent) passed over the strips normally, and the most common shifting maneuver was straddle right (15.8 percent). This site had ample shoulder space (11 feet) to allow the around right maneuver to occur, yet few drivers were observed trying to shift around to the right. One of the vehicles observed going around right was a motorcycle, despite the two-foot gap left between the strips (see Figure 2 and Figure 4). It was also observed that four drivers (all in passenger vehicles) braked slightly as they encountered the strips. No sudden or hard braking was observed, and no drivers swerved suddenly.

A closer look at the shifting maneuvers provides insight into which vehicle classifications are most likely to execute such maneuvers. Figure 16 provides a breakdown of the straddle right maneuvers by vehicle classification. As shown, 89.4 percent of the straddle right maneuvers were executed by drivers of passenger vehicles, even though passenger vehicles accounted for only 77.3 percent of the traffic mix. In other words, drivers of passenger vehicles account for more than their share of shifting maneuvers. This may be due to passenger cars being more maneuverable than large trucks or vehicles with trailers, or it may be because lighter vehicles experience larger jolts from contacting transverse rumble strips than vehicles with heavier loads.



Figure 16. Snook (FM 50) Straddle Right Maneuvers by Vehicle Classification.

Colorado City

The Colorado City project site was located at the intersection of FM 208 and SH 22. The site is a four-way stop-controlled intersection. The intersection is obstructed due to alignment conditions and follows a long tangent that could lead to unexpected conditions for drivers. The posted speed limit along the approaches was 70 mph.

Southbound Approach

The statistically significant changes observed were as follows:

- day intersection spot speeds for the 50-mph and 65-mph control speeds decreased by 4.4 mph and 4.1 mph, respectively;
- night intersection spot speeds decreased by 3.4 mph for the 50-mph control speed;
- day warning sign spot speeds for the 50-mph and 65-mph control speeds decreased by 5.2 mph and 4.8 mph, respectively; and
- night warning sign spot speeds for the 50-mph and 65-mph control speeds decreased by 3.1 mph and 4.1 mph, respectively.

Vehicles traveling at higher than the posted speed limit were not evaluated in this case due to a small sample size of speeding vehicles. A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the

overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 17. A decrease of about 4 mph was observed at each speed trap, while an increase of about 5 mph was observed at the control site.



Figure 17. Colorado City (FM 208 SB) Speed Profile.

Northbound Approach

The statistically significant results observed were as follows:

- day speed changes between the speed traps for the 50-mph and 65-mph control speeds decreased by 2.2 mph and 1.9 mph, respectively;
- night speed changes between the speed traps for the 50-mph and 65-mph control speeds decreased by 2.2 mph and 3.5 mph, respectively;
- day intersection spot speeds for the 50-mph and 65-mph control speeds increased by 1.3 mph and 1.8 mph, respectively; and
- night intersection spot speeds increased by 4.7 mph for the 65-mph control speed.

Vehicles traveling at higher than the posted speed limit were not evaluated in this case due to a small sample size of speeding vehicles. A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 18. A decrease of about 4 mph was observed at the control site, while a smaller decrease was observed at the warning sign speed trap with a slight increase at the intersection speed trap.



Figure 18. Colorado City (FM 208 NB) Speed Profile.

Millican

The Millican project site was located at the intersection of FM 2154 and FM 159. The site is a four-way stop-controlled intersection that is used by drivers to bypass SH 6, especially in the southbound direction. The intersection was obstructed due to overgrown vegetation near the intersection and sight distance obstructions. The intersection was the first stop for ten miles in the southbound direction, which could be an unexpected intersection to some drivers. One disadvantage to this project site was that a business was located on the west side of the subject roadway (FM 2154). The driveway had low volumes and was assumed to have a very minimal effect on the results. The posted speed limit along the approaches was 70 mph.

Southbound Approach

The statistically significant changes observed were as follows:

- day speed changes for the 65-mph and 75-mph control speeds decreased by 1.3 mph and 1.0 mph, respectively;
- day speed changes for speeding vehicles decreased by 1.1 mph;
- day intersection spot speeds increased by 1.5 mph for the 75-mph control speed;
- night intersection spot speeds increased by 4.2 mph for the 65-mph control speed; and
- night warning sign spot speeds increased by 3.4 mph for the 65-mph control speed.

A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 19. Small increases were observed at all three speed traps (control, warning sign, and intersection).



Figure 19. Millican (FM 2154 SB) Speed Profile.

Northbound Approach

The statistically significant results observed were as follows:

- day speed changes decreased by 1.7 mph for the 60-mph control speed;
- night speed changes increased by 4.1 mph for the 75-mph control speed;
- night speed changes for speeding vehicles increased by 3.4 mph;
- day intersection spot speeds for the 60-mph and 75-mph control speeds increased by 1.6 mph and decreased by 1.1 mph, respectively;
- night intersection spot speeds increased by 1.8 mph for the 60-mph control speed; and
- night intersection spot speeds decreased by 4.5 mph for the 75-mph control speed.

A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 20. Small increases were observed at all three speed traps.



Figure 20. Millican (FM 2154 NB) Speed Profile.

Hearne

The Hearne project site was located at the intersection of FM 2549 and FM 391. The site has a two-way stop and the view of the intersection is obstructed due to the alignment and the vegetation along the approach to the intersection. There are very few cues that an intersection is approaching. There is only standard TXDOT signage along the approach to the intersection. The posted speed limit along both approaches was 70 mph.

Northbound Approach

The only statistically significant change observed was in the weekend speed change for speeding vehicles. This change was an increase of 1.1 mph. A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 21. Small decreases (about 2 mph) were observed at all three speed traps.



Figure 21. Hearne (FM 2549 NB) Speed Profile.

Southbound Approach

The statistically significant results observed were as follows:

- day speed changes increased by 1.0 mph for the 75-mph control speed;
- day intersection spot speeds for the 60-mph and 75-mph control speeds decreased by 2.9 mph and 2.6 mph, respectively; and
- day warning sign spot speeds decreased by 2.6 mph for the 60-mph control speed.

A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 22. A moderate decrease was observed at the intersection and warning sign speed traps, while a moderate increase was observed at the control site.



Figure 22. Hearne (FM 2549 SB) Speed Profile.

Erratic Maneuver Data

Seven hours of video data (8:00 AM - 3:00 PM) from the southbound approach were reviewed to observe the prevalence of erratic or shifting maneuvers at this site. Table 9 gives the traffic mix (count and percentage of each vehicle classification) observed. Note that only one motorcycle was observed in the video footage, which limits the findings with respect to motorcycle driver behavior. Table 10, Figure 23, and Figure 24 provide the maneuver frequency for the vehicle classifications. Figure 24 provides the same information as Figure 23, but with a different x-axis minimum so the rare maneuvers (straddle left, around right, and around left) can be visible. Figure 25 shows the maneuver frequencies for the overall traffic mix.

Vehicle Classification	Count	Percentage	
Passenger Vehicle	69	86.3	
Big Truck	4	5.0	
Pickup with Trailer	6	7.5	
Motorcycle	1	1.3	
All Vehicles	80	100.0	

Table 9. Hearne (FM 2549) Traffic Mix.

Vehicle	Maneuver Frequency (%)							
Classification	Normal Pass	Straddle Right	Straddle Left	Around Right	Around Left			
Passenger Vehicle	92.8	5.8	1.4	0.0	0.0			
Big Truck	100.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0			
Pickup with Trailer	100.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0			
Motorcycle	100.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0			
All Vehicles	93.8	5.0	1.3	0.0	0.0			

Table 10. Hearne (FM 2549) Maneuver Frequencies.



Figure 23. Hearne (FM 2549) Maneuver Frequencies by Vehicle Classification.



Figure 24. Hearne (FM 2549) Maneuver Frequencies by Vehicle Classification (Close-up).



Figure 25. Hearne (FM 2549) Maneuver Frequencies, All Vehicles.

The majority of vehicles (93.8 percent) passed over the strips normally, and the most common shifting maneuver was straddle right (5.0 percent). Only one straddle left maneuver was observed, and no vehicles went around on the right or the left. This site did not have a shoulder, so there was no room for drivers to go around on the right side.

All of the shifting maneuvers observed were executed by drivers of passenger vehicles. All of the vehicles of the other three classifications (big truck, pickup with trailer, and motorcycle)

passed normally over the rumble strips. Also, no sudden or hard braking was observed as any of the vehicles passed over the strips, and no swerving maneuvers were observed.

Horizontal Curve Sites

Steephollow

The Steephollow project site was located on FM 1179, a rural two-lane highway near Bryan, Texas. A sharp curve was present at the site and the view of the curve was somewhat obstructed. The posted speed at the site was 65 mph, while the curve advisory speed was 35 mph.

The results for the change in speed, intersection spot speed, and warning sign spot speed comparisons are presented in Table 11, Table 12, and Table 13, respectively. All of the observed changes are statistically significant. Vehicles traveling at higher than the posted speed limit were not evaluated in this case due to a small sample size of speeding vehicles. A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 26.

Light Condition/Period	Overall Sample	Control Speed	Speed Change from Warning to Curve Speed Trap (mph)			
	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	2068	60	1.76	4.47	2.71*	0.000
		65	2.05	5.04	2.99*	0.000
Night	409	60	1.30	3.79	2.49*	0.000
		65	1.58	4.83	3.24*	0.000

Table 11. Steephollow (FM 1179) Change in Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

|--|

Light	Overall Control Curve Speed Trap (mp					mph)
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	2068	60	54.34	52.71	-1.63*	0.000
		65	57.90	56.47	-1.44*	0.000
Night	409 —	60	54.53	52.76	-1.77*	0.000
		65	58.02	56.38	-1.64*	0.003

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Light Condition/Period	Overall	Control	Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)			
	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	2068 -	60	56.10	57.18	1.08*	0.000
		65	59.96	61.51	1.55*	0.000
Night	409	60	55.83	56.54	0.71*	0.011
		65	59.60	61.20	1.61*	0.000

 Table 13. Steephollow (FM 1179) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.



Figure 26. Steephollow (FM 1179) Speed Profile.

Navasota I

The first Navasota project site was located on FM 3090, which is a rural two-lane highway near Navasota, Texas. The curve located at this project site was found to be the sharpest in the Bryan District with a ball bank indicator (BBI) score of 25 mph (4). The posted speed at the site was 65 mph, while the curve advisory speed was 15 mph.

The results for the change in speed, intersection spot speed, and warning sign spot speed comparisons are presented in Table 14, Table 15, and Table 16, respectively. All of the observed changes are statistically significant. Vehicles traveling at higher than the posted speed limit were

not evaluated in this case due to a small sample size of speeding vehicles. A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 27.

The results at this site were unlike those at any other site. Speeds in the "after" case actually decreased at the warning sign speed trap and increased at the curve speed trap. The change in speed was small at the control site. All of the speed change values listed in Table 14 are large negative values, indicating significant negative deceleration, or positive acceleration, between the speed traps.

Light Condition/Period	Overall Sample	Control Speed	o Curve Speed			
	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	314	55	6.82	-2.77	-9.59*	0.000
		60	7.88	-2.45	-10.33*	0.000
Night	77	55	8.24	-2.39	-10.63*	0.000
	//	60	10.41	-1.511	-11.92*	0.000

Table 14. Navasota I (FM 3090) Change in Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 15. Navasota I	(FM 3090)) Curve Spot	Speed Results.
	(Speed Lessansse

Light	Overall	Control Curve Speed Tr				ap (mph)	
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Day	314	55	46.47	49.31	2.83*	0.000	
		60	49.83	52.10	2.27*	0.001	
Night	77	55	45.13	50.10	4.92*	0.000	
	//	60	48.18	54.70	6.53*	0.000	

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Light	Overall	Control	Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Condition/Period Sample Size		Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Day	214	55	53.29	46.53	-6.75*	0.000	
	514	60	57.71	49.65	-8.06*	0.000	
Night	77	55	53.36	47.66	-5.71*	0.000	
		60	58.58	53.19	-5.39*	0.002	

Table 16. Navasota I (FM 3090) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.



Figure 27. Navasota I (FM 3090) Speed Profile.

Navasota II

The second Navasota project site was also located on FM 3090, a rural two-lane highway near Navasota, Texas. A sharp curve was present at the site and the view of the curve was somewhat obstructed. The posted speed at the site was 65 mph, while the curve advisory speed was 35 mph.

No statistically significant changes were observed at this site. Vehicles traveling during nighttime periods at higher than the posted speed limit were not evaluated in this case due to a small sample size of speeding vehicles. A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 28. Speeds at all three speed traps changed

very little. Night comparison could not be made due to lack of data collected during this time period.



Figure 28. Navasota II (FM 3090) Speed Profile.

Keith

The Keith project site was located on FM 244, a rural two-lane highway near Keith, Texas. A sharp curve was present at the site and the view of the curve was somewhat obstructed. The posted speed at the site was 65 mph, while the curve advisory speed was 40 mph.

The results for the change in speed, intersection spot speed, and warning sign spot speed comparisons are presented in Table 17, Table 18, Table 19, and Table 20, respectively. All of the changes are statistically significant except for the speed changes in speeding vehicles, the day speed change for the 60-mph control speed, and the night speed changes for both control speeds. A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 29. A decrease of about 2.0 mph was observed at the warning sign speed trap, along with a decrease of about 3.0 mph at the curve speed trap and a small decrease at the control site.

Light Condition/Period	Overall Sample	Control Speed	Speed Cl	hange fron Tr	n Warning (ap (mph)	to Curve Speed
	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	1011	60	2.47	2.76	0.29	0.086
		70	3.41	4.01	0.60*	0.013
Night	227	60	3.13	3.69	0.56	0.157
		70	4.25	5.02	0.77	0.259

Table 17. Keith (FM 244) Change in Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 18 Keith	(FM 244) Comnari	son of Chang	e in Sneed	for Speedin	σ Vehicles
Table 10. Keith	(1.1.1.2.4.4) Compari	son or Chang	i m spicu	ior specum	g venicies.

Light Condition/Period	Overall Sample Size	Speed Change from Warning to Curve Speed Tra (mph)			
		Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	498	3.529	3.796	0.267	0.394
Night	276	4.200	4.901	0.701	0.474

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Light	Overall	Control	Curve Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Day	1011	60	57.86	55.84	-2.02*	0.000	
	1011	70	64.40	60.44	-3.95*	0.000	
Night	227	60	57.98	53.33	-4.64*	0.000	
		70	63.51	58.03	-5.47*	0.000	

Table 19. Keith (FM 244) Curve Spot Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Light	Overall	Control	Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Day	1011	60	60.33	58.00	-1.73*	0.000	
	1011	70	67.81	64.45	-3.36*	0.000	
Night	227	60	61.10	57.03	-4.08*	0.000	
		70	67.76	63.06	-4.71*	0.000	

Table 20. Keith (FM 244) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.



Figure 29. Keith (FM 244) Speed Profile.

Bremond

The Bremond project site was located on FM 46, a rural two-lane highway near Bremond, Texas. A sharp curve was present at the site and the view of the curve was somewhat obstructed. The posted speed at the site was 65 mph, and no curve advisory speed plaque was present at the time of the project.

The statistically significant results observed were as follows:

- day speed changes between the warning sign and curve speed traps decreased by 0.5 mph for the 65-mph control speed,
- day curve spot speeds for the 65-mph control speed decreased by 0.9 mph, and
- night curve spot speeds for the 65-mph control speed decreased by 1.9 mph.

A graphical representation of the speed profiles for the overall before and after periods is shown in Figure 30. A decrease of about 3.0 mph was observed at the warning sign and curve speed traps, while speeds changed very little at the control site.



Figure 30. Bremond (FM 46) Speed Profile.

CHAPTER 3

CENTERLINE RUMBLE STRIPS

In 2001, more than half of all fatal multiple vehicle crashes on rural, two-lane, two-way (RTLTW) highways in the US involved drivers traveling in opposite directions (*19*). This is one reason why state departments of transportation (DOT) have recently begun investigating countermeasures for crossover (opposite direction) crashes associated with RTLTW highways.

As engineers investigate possible countermeasures to help mitigate the frequency and severity of crossover crashes, they must consider countermeasures that are both efficient and economical. Centerline rumble strips are a relatively new countermeasure that is one of the least expensive and one of the simplest countermeasures to install and maintain (20).

The purpose and design of CRSs are similar to the widely used shoulder rumble strips (SRS), a successful countermeasure for run-off-the-road crashes. As vehicles pass over rumble strips, audible and tactile sensations are generated that warn drivers of changes in roadway alignment and vehicle departures from the travel path. The most common application of CRSs is intermittent, depressed, transverse areas along the centerline pavement markings (*11, 20, 21, 22*). Figure 31 contains a photograph of CRSs from Kansas and a profile view drawing of CRSs.



Figure 31. Centerline Rumble Strips.

Various state DOTs, such as Alaska, Delaware, Idaho, Oregon, and Texas, are in the process of installing and testing CRS applications. Early research findings from Delaware indicate that CRSs are effective at reducing not only the number of crashes with increasing average annual daily traffic (AADT), but also the number of fatalities (23).

However, most of the current studies that have been published focus on crash data that can neither be used to explain how the traffic flow has changed, nor how the change in traffic flow impacted the improvement in safety by reducing crashes and/or severity of crashes. In particular, no research has been documented on the impact that CRSs may have on driver behavior during a passing maneuver.

PROBLEM STATEMENT

Concerns have been expressed about using CRSs in passing zones because of unknown driver reaction and performance (20, 21, 24). In particular, state DOT representatives were concerned with the physical reaction of drivers when crossing CRSs in passing zones. Of the 22 state DOTs that have implemented CRSs, only Alaska, Delaware, Kentucky, Maryland, Oregon, Texas and Washington currently have CRSs in passing zones (20, 25, 26, 27). This chapter contains the research efforts conducted by TTI to determine the impact that CRSs have on passing behavior for TxDOT's statewide rumble strip project.

A significant portion of the RTLTW highways in Texas is marked for passing, and TxDOT was specifically concerned that drivers may perceive a conflicting message when they cross over CRSs to pass other vehicles, which may result in driver uncertainty and possibly erratic maneuvers during the initial phase of the passing maneuver. There was a need to study driver behavior in the before and after periods along RTLTW highways with CRSs to assess any changes during the initial phases of passing maneuvers.

TxDOT was also concerned with the overall impact CRSs may have on driver behavior such as the use of passing zones and lateral position.

OBJECTIVES

The overall objective of the research detailed in this chapter was to investigate how CRSs impact driver behavior. The specific measures of effectiveness that were used to quantify changes in driver behavior were:

- 1. number and type of erratic driving movements during the initial stage of a passing maneuver;
- 2. gap distance between the front end of a passing vehicle and the rear end of a vehicle being passed, prior to completing a passing maneuver;
- 3. centerline crossing time during the initial stage of a passing maneuver;
- 4. passing opportunity;
- 5. percentage of traffic conducting passes along RTLTW highways marked for passing; and
- 6. lateral position.

The initial stage of passing maneuvers denotes the elapsed time between the point that a passing vehicle first queues behind a vehicle to be passed and the point when the passing vehicle completely crosses into the opposing lane of travel prior to completing a pass.

The research efforts were grouped into different study designs. The first study design required the design and development of an instrumented vehicle that could collect the data required to investigate the MOEs 1 through 5 as they pertained to driver performance during passing maneuvers. This portion of the project is discussed under the subheading of "Effects on Passing Operations." The second study design enabled the researchers to collect data pertaining to vehicular lateral position, and is addressed under the subheading of "Lateral Position."

EFFECTS ON PASSING OPERATIONS

The investigation of how CRSs affect passing operations was limited to an observation of the initial phase of passing maneuvers on US 67, a RTLTW highway in Comanche County, Texas. The project section was 15 miles long and the posted speed limit was 70 mph in the daytime. The average daily traffic (ADT) for the roadway was less than 4122 vpd with approximately 50/50 directional split traffic. One CRS design was tested.

Study Design

Measures of Effectiveness

In order to investigate passing behavior, various MOEs and their respective data collection method were studied (21, 27, 28, 29, 30).

Previous research related to passing operations used distance, time, and speed as MOEs to study passing maneuvers. Passing maneuvers were also subdivided into four different segments for discussion in *A Policy on Geometric Design on Highways and Streets* (*Green Book*) produced by the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) (31). Figure 32 is a drawing depicting the passing condition for a single vehicle pass and the terms for distance, d_1 through d_4 , as described in the *Green Book*. The system that was developed to collect the data for this report was able to accurately gather data on the second portion (d_2) of passing maneuvers; however, the researchers believed that driver behavior during passing would be most affected during the initial stage of the pass.

Hence, the researchers believed that the use of the passing maneuver criteria, as described in the *Green Book*, was not appropriate for a MOE, and different MOEs were generated that focused solely on the start of passing maneuvers. There were six MOEs selected to investigate driver reaction to CRSs prior to passing. They were:

- erratic movements,
- centerline encroachments,
- gap distance,
- centerline crossing time,
- passing opportunity, and
- percentage passing.

← →[]]				 		<u>])</u> ← →
	d ₁	1/3 d ₂		Oppos	sing Vehicle	j)
	••	<>		Passin	ng Vehicle)
				Block	ing/Passed Vehicle)
* *		0			• 	[]) ← →
	d1	•	2/3 d ₂	d₃ →	d₄	

Figure 32. Passing Maneuver Diagram.

Erratic Movements

Erratic movements referred to any movements that appeared to be outside what would be considered normal for the given roadway environment. For example, if a driver appeared to make a rapid alignment change or a wrong corrective action in his/her vehicle's direction of travel, it was recorded as an erratic movement. An example of a wrong corrective action would be a driver initially moving farther to the left rather than to the right when inadvertently contacting CRSs, as speculated by Elango and Noyce (21).

Centerline Encroachments

The second MOE was the number of and the time between centerline encroachments. An encroachment referred to any moment that a passing vehicle was in contact with the pavement markings delineating the centerline. The point at which the front, driver-side tire first touched the centerline pavement markings was the start of an encroachment. The end of an encroachment was denoted when the front, driver-side tire last touched the centerline marking when returning to the appropriate lane of travel. Each encroachment was counted, and when multiple encroachments were made by passing drivers prior to completing a pass, the time between encroachments was calculated. The researchers believed that drivers would encroach on the centerline less prior to passing after CRSs were installed.

Gap Distance

The third MOE was gap distance. Gap distance was the distance between a vehicle being passed and a vehicle attempting to pass at the time the passing driver initiated a pass. The researchers thought that gap distance would increase after CRSs were installed for at least two reasons. First, it was possible that drivers would perceive a need to have additional in-lane acceleration distance prior to crossing the CRSs to minimize their exposure to both the traffic in the opposing lane of travel and the sensations associated with crossing CRSs. Another possible reason was that drivers who prefer to encroach on the centerline to scan for on-coming traffic would increase the distance from the vehicle being passed. The additional gap distance would minimize the amount of visual information being processed by the passing driver, so that he or she could focus more on the visual input from the opposing travel lane. Figure 33 depicts of the passing gap distance measurement.



Figure 33. Passing Gap Distance.

Centerline Crossing Time

Centerline crossing time was the fourth MOE, and it denoted the time that was taken by drivers to completely cross the centerline at the beginning of a passing maneuver. The elapsed time started when the front, driver-side tire first contacted the centerline, and it ended when the front, passenger-side tire last touched the centerline during the start of a pass.

This MOE was investigated because the researchers believed that drivers would cross the centerline more quickly when CRSs were present in order to minimize any discomfort that may be experienced by the driver. Figure 34 depicts the previously described scenario, and the figure contains the equation used in this project to calculate the values for centerline crossing time.



Figure 34. Centerline Crossing Time.

Passing Opportunity

Passing opportunity is the amount of time that a passing vehicle is in a passing zone while queued behind a vehicle that the passing driver intends to pass, less the amount of time that there is opposing traffic, and all of this divided by the total amount of time that the passing driver is queued behind the passed vehicle. Figure 35 is a pictorial representation of passing opportunity. DRV represents the data recording vehicle, and in standard passing operations, it represents the vehicle being passed.



Figure 35. Passing Opportunity.

Percentage Passing

Percentage passing denotes the total number of drivers that conducted single vehicle passes divided by the total number of vehicles that were in a position to complete a single vehicle pass. A single vehicle pass defines the condition when one vehicle that has queued directly behind another vehicle completes a pass around the blocking vehicle. A single vehicle pass was presented in Figure 32.

Research Hypothesis

The general research null hypothesis was that the installation of CRSs in passing zones would not significantly change passing behavior during the initial stage of passing maneuvers on RTLTW highways. It was developed from the concerns of various state DOTs and the research of Elango and Noyce (21, 24, 25). The general alternative hypothesis was that passing behavior during the initial stage of passing maneuvers would significantly change after the installation of CRSs in passing zones. Passing behavior during the initial stage of passing maneuvers was investigated under the following specific hypotheses:

- Erratic Movements
 - \circ H₀: The number and type of erratic movements made by drivers prior to starting a passing maneuver on a RTLTW highway will be the same or decrease after installing CRSs.
 - H_a: The number and type of erratic movements made by drivers prior to starting a passing maneuver on a RTLTW highway will increase after installing CRSs.
- Encroachments
 - \circ H₀: The number of and time between encroachments on the centerline by drivers prior to starting a passing maneuver on a RTLTW highway will be the same or decrease after installing CRSs.
 - \circ H_a: The number of and time between encroachments of the centerline by drivers prior to starting passing maneuvers on a RTLTW highway will increase after installing CRSs.
- Gap Distance
 - \circ H₀: Gap distance prior to starting a passing maneuver on a RTLTW highway will be the same after installing CRSs.
 - \circ H_a: Gap distance prior to starting a passing maneuver on a RTLTW highway will decrease after installing CRSs.
- Centerline Crossing Time
 - \circ H₀: Centerline crossing time of drivers during the initial stage of a passing maneuver on a RTLTW highway will be the same after installing CRSs.
 - H_a: Centerline crossing time of drivers during the initial stage of a passing maneuver on a RTLTW highway will decrease after installing CRSs.
- Passing Opportunity
 - \circ H₀: Passing opportunity of drivers on a RTLTW highway will be the same after installing CRSs.
 - H_a: Passing opportunity of drivers on a RTLTW highway will increase after installing CRSs.

Data Collection

Previous studies of passing maneuvers were reviewed in detail to determine the potential options for collecting data and their associated advantages and disadvantages. Roadtubes (pneumatic sensors) were used in the earliest studies to collect data (26, 27, 28). Later studies were conducted using event recorders (32, 33). In some of the more recent studies, passing maneuvers were videotaped from either a moving vehicle (29) or a fixed point (30).

With the exception of the one study that videotaped passing maneuvers from a fixed point, the researchers believed that the data collection methodologies used previously may have influenced

the drivers conducting passes. For instance, roadtubes were placed at 50-foot intervals over approximately 0.5 mile in one of the earliest studies (26, 27, 28). Drivers would pass over more than 50 roadtubes when passing through the project site, and they would see, hear, and feel each one. Based on the experience of the researchers, this method would impact driving behavior.

While the researchers believed that the method in which a fixed-point video camera was used to record passing maneuvers did not affect driver behavior, this data collection method was also not chosen (30). The fixed camera location was from an elevated point, such as a nearby mountain peak or a helicopter. The project location for this report did not provide the topography for monitoring traffic from an overlooking mountain peak, and the use of a helicopter was considered too expensive. Furthermore, the researchers thought that long distance video coverage would not provide sufficient resolution to observe the MOEs.

Subsequently, the review of previous projects did not provide an acceptable means of data collection. Therefore, a unique project approach was developed. Appendix B details the design and calibration of the data collection system. The instrumented vehicle used in this project was referred to as the data recording vehicle.

Field Data Collection

Although the original intent was to collect data at three sites in Texas, TxDOT was only able to install milled CRSs at one location for this portion of the project. Thus, field data were collected at only one site. The site consisted of a 15-mile section of RTLTW highway on US 67 in Comanche County, Texas. US 67 runs approximately north and south. Data were collected in both directions. This section of roadway started at the northern edge of the town of Comanche, Texas, and it ended at the Comanche County line south of Dublin, Texas. The speed limit along this roadway was 70 mph with one short 55-mph speed zone approximately 10 miles north of the southern edge of the test section. The following site-specific details were:

- 44-foot roadway cross section with:
 - o 10-foot paved, asphalt concrete shoulders,
 - 12-foot paved, asphalt concrete lanes;
- average daily traffic was:
 - 4122 vehicle per day (vpd),
 - approximately a 50/50 directional split;
- predominately passing zones (greater than 75 percent);
- mean and 85th percentile speed:
 - o northbound (63 and 70 mph), and
 - southbound (67 and 73 mph).

The climatic conditions and the timeframes of data collection were different for the before and after periods (see Table 21). This difference was not intended, but instead was the result of various uncontrollable circumstances. The circumstances included:

- scheduling restrictions,
- TxDOT restrictions,
- installation delays, and
- limited financial resources.

The day after the researchers arrived at the project location, it began raining. The researchers decided to continue collecting data for the following reasons:

- The forecasted probability of rain continuing was low, and the rain was to be intermittent.
- Based on the previously mentioned restrictions, data collection would be delayed more than two months until May, and May and June are traditionally rainy months, so further delays would be expected.
- The project funds were limited and the researchers believed that the cost to reschedule once on site would strain the project funds.

Category	Before Period	After Period
Number of Sites	1	1
Days of the Week	Wednesday, Thursday, Friday	Friday, Saturday, Sunday, Monday
Period of the Day	7:30 am to 6:00 pm	7:30 am to 6:00 pm
Weather	Ideal (clear skies)	Intermittent Rain
Roadway	Ideal (dry)	Dry to Wet

Table 21. Data Collection Conditions.

All of the field data were recorded on videotape. In addition to recording passing maneuvers, supplemental comments related to the field environment during data collection were recorded to videotape through a microphone built into the camera located inside the DRV. These comments included things such as:

- direction of travel,
- location,
- identification of possible erratic movements, and
- acknowledgment of opposing traffic.

Collected Data

The DRV was driven northbound and then southbound along US 67 in Comanche County. Data were recorded continuously to videotape. The DRV induced drivers to pass by driving at 5, 10 and 15 mph below the posted daytime speed limit of 70 mph.

There were two purposes for collecting data at three different speeds. First, it was not certain what speeds would provide a sufficient amount of data within the timeframe of the data collection efforts to conduct statistical testing on the data. Second, it was believed that there would be a difference in the initial phase of the passing maneuvers with respect to the speed of the vehicle being passed.

A total of 723 vehicles were observed during the data collection; however, only 582 actually passed the DRV. Out of 582 passes, 103 vehicles were not analyzed because the passes were conducted by drivers who were in platoons or by drivers conducting multiple vehicle passes. All of the remaining passes recorded to videotape were isolated, single vehicle passes and the resulting sample sizes were:

- DRV traveling at 55 mph:
 - 92 passes before the installation of CRSs,
 - 99 passes after the installation of CRSs,
- DRV traveling at 60 mph:
 - 106 passes before the installation of CRSs,
 - 110 passes after the installation of CRSs,
- DRV traveling at 65 mph:
 - 25 passes before the installation of CRSs,
 - 47 passes after the installation of CRSs,
- Data collapsed regardless of speed:
 - o 223 passes before the installation of CRSs, and
 - 256 passes after the installation of CRSs.

Table 22 contains a detailed count of the number of observations recorded to video. The values presented in bold were analyzed with respect to the MOE for this report.

DRV Speed	55 mph		60 mph		65 mph		Total	
Period	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After
No Pass ¹	13	15	31	39	13	30	57	84
Pass ¹	92	99	106	110	25	47	223	256
Platooned Pass ¹	19	15	11	9	1	2	31	26
Multiple Pass ¹	9	10	9	12	4	2	22	24
Total	133	139	157	170	43	81	333	390

Table 22. Number of Observed Vehicles.

¹ No Pass = vehicle did not pass DRV; Pass = vehicle passed DRV; Platooned Pass = vehicle passed the DRV in a platoon; Multiple Pass = a vehicle passed the DRV and at least one other vehicle simultaneously.

Analysis

The data collected from the before and after periods were analyzed using Microsoft Excel and SPSS. The analysis approach detailed in Table 23 was selected after consulting various texts on statistical analysis (8, 34, 35, 36).

Table 23.	Statistical	Analysis	Approach.	

Method	Purpose
Descriptive Statistics	Mean, standard deviation, variance, range, percentiles
Graphical Analysis	Cumulative distribution, box plot, histogram, normal Q-Q plot
Statistical Tests	Test of Proportions, Wilcoxon Rank Sum, Chi-Square

Variables

Multiple spreadsheets were generated to organize the data and to analyze the data in steps. The first two spreadsheets were created containing all of the raw data for each recorded passing
vehicle, and each passing vehicle recorded could have anywhere from 4 to 100 or more lines of data. Hence, summary worksheets were produced to reduce all of the lines of data for each vehicle to one line of data for each represented vehicle. The summary data were the only data analyzed for this report. The variables that were analyzed included:

- number of erratic movements by type,
- number of and time between centerline encroachments,
- gap distance prior to passing,
- crossing centerline time,
- passing opportunity, and
- percentage passing.

Descriptive Statistics

The statistics formulated for each MOE included:

- quantity of data,
- mean, median (50th percentile),
- standard deviation,
- sample variance,
- range,
- minimum,
- maximum,
- skewness,
- kurtosis, and
- percentiles (10th, 15th, 25th, 50th, 75th, 85th, and 90th).

These values were grouped by the before and after periods, DRV speed (55, 60 and 65 mph), and direction of travel. The before period denoted the data collected prior to the installation of CRSs, and the after period defined the data collected after CRSs were installed. These statistics were used in conjunction with various different methods for plotting the data to graphically analyze the data for each MOE.

Graphical Statistics

Cumulative distributions, box plots, histograms, and Q-Q plots were used to analyze the MOEs when applicable. The cumulative distributions and the box plots were two ways of comparing the distribution of the data. While the calculation of the fences in the box plots do not always exactly represent the 25th and 75th percentiles in SPSS, researchers believed that the box plots provided a better way to compare the spread and the location of the center of each data set (*37*). The comparison provided an early insight into probable differences between various data sets.

Histograms and normal Q-Q plots were generated to analyze the distribution of the data. The histograms and the calculated values of skewness and kurtosis provided an early indication of the type of distribution associated with the data. The normal Q-Q plots were used to confirm whether data sets were normally distributed. The quantiles of the data sets with respect to the MOEs were plotted against a line that represented the expected path of a particular distribution, such as a normal distribution in the case of this report (*38*). Figure 36 contains a picture of a data

set that is normally distributed on the left and a data set that is not normally distributed on the right.



Figure 36. Normal Q-Q Plot.

Statistical Tests for Significance

The Chi-Square test, test of proportions, and Wilcoxon Rank Sum test were used to examine statistical significance. The Chi-Square test was used to determine whether any dependent variables (i.e., gap distance and centerline crossing time) were associated with each other. If any of the dependent variables were associated, a multivariate analysis would need to be conducted to test for statistical significance.

The test of proportions was used to investigate changes in MOEs based on counted values, such as the number of erratic movements by type and the number of centerline encroachments. The test of proportions is not affected by the distribution of the data. The equation for the test of proportions is:

$$t = \frac{p_1 - p_2}{\sqrt{p_0 \left(1 - p_0\right) \left(\frac{1}{N_1} + \frac{1}{N_2}\right)}}$$
$$p_0 = \frac{p_1 N_1 + p_2 N_2}{N_1 + N_2}$$

Where,

t = statistic of the t-distribution, $p_i =$ proportion observed in sample *i*, and $N_i =$ number of observations in sample *i*.

The Wilcoxon Rank Sum test was used to determine whether there was a change in MOEs based on measured values, such as time between encroachments, gap distance and centerline crossing time. This specific test allowed for the following:

- the data did not need to be normally distributed;
- the data needed to be continuous, but not paired; and
- the number of data points did not need to be equal between the before and after periods.

All tests for significance were conducted assuming a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval. A two-tailed test was chosen to statistically test whether the population of the data associated with each MOE after installing CRSs shifted to the right or the left of the data collected prior to installing CRSs. If the test statistic (i.e., t-statistic for the t-test or z-statistic for the z-test) is less than the lower (negative) critical value (i.e., t_{crit} or z_{crit}) for a given level of confidence, the first population (before period) is shifted to the right of the second population (after period), and vice-versa if the test statistic is greater than the upper (positive) critical value. If the first population is shifted to the second population. Again, this finding is switched when the test statistic indicates that the first population is shifted to the right.

Findings

Descriptive statistics that are addressed in detail below and the results of the Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests are discussed in this section. The descriptive statistics that are presented are the quantity of data points, the mean, and the 15th, 50th, and the 85th percentile values. The mean values are presented for a comparison with the percentile values, but the focus of the results are on the percentile values. This decision is based on two reasons: 1) the data with respect to each MOE were found to be skewed and so the median (50th percentile) is a better indicator of the center of the data, and 2) the 15th and the 85th percentile values are commonly used in transportation design. The histograms and normal Q-Q plots verified that the data were not normally distributed, which was one of the reasons for using the Wilcoxon Rank Sum test (*34*).

The Chi-Square test was used to test for association between the MOE variables. There was not a sufficient quantity of data to analyze the MOEs for erratic movements or centerline encroachments. Therefore, only centerline crossing time and gap distance were tested for association. No association was found. Consequently, a multivariate analysis was not necessary, and the Wilcoxon Rank Sum test was used to test the data for significant changes between the before and after periods.

The MOEs for gap distance and centerline crossing time were determined with respect to the:

- direction of travel (i.e., northbound and southbound);
- speed of the DRV (i.e., 55, 60, and 65 mph); and
- period (i.e., before and after).

It was found that the data were not statistically different with respect to direction. It was also found that the majority of the data were statistically different with respect to speed of the DRV; however, there did not appear to be any explainable trends. The above findings are documented in Appendix B in Table 103 through Table 106. Subsequently, direction was not considered a factor and the analysis discussed in this report was categorized by speed of the DRV and study period. The material in this chapter was organized by the analysis of each MOE, as follows:

- erratic movements,
- centerline encroachments,
- gap distance,
- centerline crossing time,
- passing opportunity, and
- percentage of passing.

Erratic Movements

While it was originally intended to count the number of erratic movements by type that occurred before and after the installation of CRSs, no erratic movements were recorded after observing 479 passing vehicles between the before and after periods. Furthermore, no drivers were recorded initially shifting left when contacting CRSs prior to returning to the original travel lane. Therefore, it was not possible to conduct statistical tests on erratic movements. However, because no erratic movements were recorded in either project period, the installation of CRSs along US 67 in Comanche County did not induce erratic movements and their installation did not negatively impact passing maneuvers with respect to this MOE.

Centerline Encroachments

The intent of this analysis was to compare differences in the number of and time between centerline encroachments before and after the installation of CRSs; however, the frequency of multiple centerline encroachments was less than expected. Out of 479 observed passing vehicles, only 41 centerline encroachments were recorded in addition to the centerline encroachment required at the start of a pass. Not enough data were available to conduct a Wilcoxon Rank Sum test on the time between encroachments.

A test of proportions was conducted on the number of encroachments. None of the t-statistics fell outside the t_{crit} values of -1.960 and 1.960 (see Table 24). Table 107 in Appendix B contains all of the factors that went into calculating the t-statistics shown in Table 24. The results indicate there was no change in driver behavior with respect to the number of times that a driver encroached on the centerline prior to passing. Subsequently, the installation of CRSs along US 67 in Comanche County did not change driver behavior with respect to encroaching on the centerline prior to initiating a passing maneuver.

DRV Speed	55 mph	60 mph 65 mph		Combined
Sample Size (B/A)	92/99	106/110	25/47	223/256
t-statistic	-0.678	-0.102	1.129	-0.026

Table 24. Test of Pro	portions for the	Number of Cer	nterline Encroachments.
	por croms ror circ	i tumber of ee	neer mile Ener ouenments.

*Indicates that the t-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval. There were no statistically significant changes.

Gap Distance

Gap distance was determined by measuring the distance between the front bumper of a passing vehicle and the back bumper of the DRV at the point in which the left tires of a passing vehicle encounter the centerline pavement markings at the start of a successful pass. The results are documented in Table 25 (also see Table 108 in Appendix B). Graphs that were generated to evaluate the spread and distribution of the gap distance data are located in Appendix B (see Figure 91 through Figure 102). The tests for significance associated with gap distance are presented in Table 26 and Table 27 (also see Table 109 and Table 110 in Appendix B).

DRV Speed	55 mph		60 1	60 mph		65 mph		Combined	
Period	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After	
Sample Size	92	99	106	110	25	47	223	256	
Mean (feet)	47.8	47.8	46.1	46.4	68.6	43.5	49.3	46.4	
15th Percentile (feet)	26	23	28	26	40	29	28	26	
50th Percentile (feet)	42	40	44	42	67	41	45	41	
85th Percentile (feet)	73	72	67	65	86	63	72	65	

Table 25. Descriptive Statistics for Gap Distance.

The null hypothesis that gap distance after the installation of CRSs is the same as the gap distance before the installation of CRSs was rejected for the data collected with the DRV traveling at 65 mph, but was not rejected at DRV speeds of 55 and 60 mph (see Table 26). Again, the findings are based on a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval. An analysis of the data when the DRV was traveling at 65 mph indicated that the gap distance decreased after the installation of the CRSs. The significant decrease indicates drivers accepted smaller gap distances between the passing and passed vehicles when initiating a passing maneuver around a vehicle traveling at 65 mph on US 67 in Comanche County after the installation of CRSs.

Table 26.	Wilcoxon	Rank	Sum	Test	for	Gap	Distance.
-----------	----------	------	-----	------	-----	-----	-----------

DRV Speed	55 mph	60 mph	65 mph	Combined
Sample Size (B/A)	92/99	106/110	25/47	223/256
z-statistic	0.807	0.590	3.822*	2.007*

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval.

While the Wilcoxon Rank Sum test could not be used to state whether a specific change, such as the mean gap distance, was significant, the results presented in Table 25 appear to emulate the findings of the statistical tests. For instance, 85 percent of the drivers that passed the DRV traveling at 65 mph after the installation of CRSs had a gap distance of 63 feet or less prior to

passing versus 86 feet before the installation of CRSs. This result was a reduction of approximately 23 feet. There were also reductions in gap distance after the installation of CRSs for the data collected while the DRV was traveling at 55 and 60 mph. These changes were not considered contradictory to the results of the statistical tests, which did not reject the null hypothesis, because these changes were small relative to the data collected before the installation of CRSs. For example, the 23-foot reduction was approximately a 27-percent decrease in the gap distance used by drivers passing a vehicle traveling at 65 mph. In the case of drivers passing the DRV traveling at 60 mph, there was a reduction of 3 feet, or 3 percent of the gap distance used before the installation of CRSs.

The gap distance data were collapsed and a Wilcoxon Rank Sum test was conducted on the entire data set irrespective of speed. The z-statistic was 2.007, which exceeded the upper end of the two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval, and the null hypothesis was rejected. The results of the collapsed data show that drivers used a shorter gap distance after the installation of CRSs. Hence, passing drivers along US 67 in Comanche County initiate their passes closer to a vehicle that they are passing after the installation of CRSs.

As stated earlier, possible systematic errors related to the study design may have impacted the results of the data collection efforts described in this report. Therefore, additional tests were conducted to investigate discrepancies. Gap distance data in the after period collected over the weekend were compared to the weekday data for 60 and 65 mph. The specific days of the week and the associated timeframes were the same as discussed previously for the Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests conducted on the centerline crossing time. However, it was found that there was not a statistically significant difference between weekend and weekday data collected at 60 and 65 mph in the after period (see Table 27).

DRV Speed	60 mph	65 mph
Sample Size (B/A)	24/31	13/16
z-statistic	0.81	-0.97

Table 37	Wilcowow	Doult Sum	Toot for	Can Distance	Weekdowwa	Washand)
I able 2/.	. уу псохоп	канк биш	1 est lor	Gab Distance	i weekuav vs.	weekenu).

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval. There were no statistically significant changes.

The null hypothesis is not rejected for either speed. Both z-statistics did not exceed the lower or upper 95 percent confidence interval z-values of -1.960 and 1.960, respectively. Hence, there was not a significant difference in the gap distance data collected on the weekend or on a weekday. This finding does not dispel the possibility that there may have been an effect on the results in relation to the weather; however, no data were collected before the installation of CRSs to test if there was a statistically significant difference between data collected under dry and wet conditions. Consequently, the differences may be a combination of the variation in the weather and the installation of the CRSs.

Centerline Crossing Time

Researchers investigated centerline crossing time by analyzing the amount of time that each driver that passed the DRV took to cross the centerline pavement markings. Table 28 contains the general results, and a complete list of the descriptive statistics calculated for centerline crossing time is in Table 111 in Appendix B. In addition, the plots that were generated to graphically analyze the data are contained in Appendix B (see Figure 103 through Figure 114). The graphical analysis is not discussed in this chapter because its sole purpose was to choose the proper tests for significance, which was the Wilcoxon Rank Sum test for the centerline crossing time data. The results of the Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests are shown in Table 29 and Table 30.

DRV Speed	DRV Speed 55 mph		60 1	nph	65 mph		Combined	
Period	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After
Sample Size	92	99	106	110	25	47	223	256
Mean (sec)	1.77	2.25	1.97	1.96	2.02	1.77	1.90	2.04
15th Percentile (sec)	1.10	1.51	1.20	1.33	1.34	1.30	1.17	1.39
50th Percentile (sec)	1.58	2.11	1.88	1.98	2.09	1.67	1.79	1.99
85th Percentile (sec)	2.23	2.93	2.72	2.65	2.56	2.32	2.52	2.72

Table 28. Descriptive Statistics for Centerline Crossing Time.

Table 29 contains the z-statistics for verifying any statistically significant changes in centerline crossing time after the installation of CRSs along the RTLTW highway used in this project. The parameters that were used to develop Table 29 are presented in Table 112 in Appendix B.

Fable 29. Wilcoxo	n Rank Sum	Test for	Centerline	Crossing	Time.
-------------------	------------	----------	------------	----------	-------

DRV Speed	55 mph	60 mph 65 mph		Combined
Sample Size (B/A)	92/99	106/110	25/47	223/256
z-statistic	-5.697*	-1.029	1.722	-3.665*

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval.

According to the z-statistics, assuming a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval, only drivers passing the DRV while it was traveling at 55 mph changed their driving behavior with respect to centerline crossing time at the start of a passing maneuver. The null hypothesis that the centerline crossing time in the after period was the same as the before period was rejected for the data collected at 55 mph, because the z-statistic (-5.697) is less than the z-value (-1.960) for the lower end of the 95 percent confidence interval. Analysis of the data indicated that the crossing time increased significantly. The z-statistics for data collected at 60 and 65 mph were within the 95 percent confidence interval, and they cannot be used to reject the null hypothesis. Therefore,

centerline crossing times at 60 and 65 mph after the installation of CRSs are not significantly different from centerline crossing times in passing zones without CRSs.

The results of the descriptive statistics appear to match the results of the statistical testing. The largest change was for the 85th percentile data collected at 55 mph. Before the installation of CRSs, drivers traversed the centerline in 2.23 seconds; and after the installation of CRSs, they crossed the centerline in 2.73 seconds. This was a 0.70-second increase (31 percent). This result supports the earlier statement that the population of the data collected at 55 mph after the installation of CRSs shifted to the right, or increased. Centerline crossing time data collected at 60 and 65 mph decreased for the 85th percentile, and these decreases were 3 and 9 percent, respectively. These changes were smaller than for data collected at 55 mph, which did not appear to contradict the statement that the installation of CRSs did not appear to shift the population of the data. Again, the Wilcoxon Rank Sum test does not allow it to be stated that a particular change of the values presented in Table 28 above was statistically significant.

A Wilcoxon Rank Sum test was also conducted on centerline crossing time data without regard to the speed of the DRV. The test statistic was -3.665, which was outside the two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval. The overall population of centerline crossing time after the installation of CRSs shifted to the right. Subsequently, driver behavior with respect to centerline crossing time while initiating a passing maneuver changed with drivers taking more time to cross the centerline after the installation of CRSs.

Additional tests were conducted to investigate the possibility of systematic error associated with the differences between the before and after periods other than the installation of the CRSs. The difference in the weather or pavement conditions cannot be fully addressed in this report, because no data were collected in the before period under wet roadway conditions. However, an analysis of after data was completed to determine whether there was a difference between data collected on a weekday versus a weekend.

In particular, centerline crossing time data collected in the after period when the DRV was traveling at 60 mph and 65 mph were analyzed. All of the after data recorded when the DRV was traveling at 55 mph were collected on the weekend, and so a weekend to weekday statistical comparison was not possible. The weekday 60 mph data were collected on a Friday morning from around 7:30 AM to 12:00 PM, and the weekend data were collected the following Saturday during the same timeframe. The weekday 65 mph after data were gathered from approximately 2:00 PM to 6:00 PM on Monday, and the weekend data were gathered the previous day (on Sunday) during the same timeframe. A Wilcoxon Rank Sum test was completed on the reduced data sets and results are listed in Table 30 below (also see Table 113 in Appendix B).

DRV Speed	60 mph	65 mph
Sample Size (B/A)	24/31	13/16
z-statistic	-4.76*	3.62*

Table 30. Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test for Centerline Crossing Time (Weekday vs. Weekend).

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval.

The null hypothesis that the centerline crossing time was the same during the weekday and weekend was rejected at both 60 mph and 65 mph. This result is of particular interest because it was presented earlier that the gap distance data collected when the DRV was traveling at 60 and 65 mph did not change significantly after the installation of CRSs (see Table 27). Hence, researchers believe that the significant differences in the centerline crossing time between the before and after periods cannot be said to be solely attributed to the installation of CRSs, but the variations may be a combination of the differences in the weather, the part of the week that the data were collected, and the installation of the CRSs.

Passing Opportunity

Passing opportunity was observed by measuring how long a vehicle was queued immediately behind the DRV while in passing zones, no-passing zones, and when opposing vehicles were present. The formulas used to calculate passing opportunity were presented earlier in Figure 35.

The descriptive statistics are presented in Table 31. The values in the table indicate the percentage of time that was available to a driver prior to making the decision to pass when there was no oncoming traffic and it was legal to pass. Based on the percentages it appears that drivers took more time to pass when traveling behind a vehicle moving at 55 mph than when passing vehicles traveling at higher speeds.

DRV Speed	55 mph		60 r	60 mph		65 mph		Combined	
Period	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After	
Sample Size	92	99	106	110	25	47	223	256	
Mean	28%	31%	24%	18%	27%	20%	26%	24%	
15th Percentile	0%	2%	1%	2%	2%	5%	1%	3%	
50th Percentile	11%	18%	14%	11%	14%	14%	12%	13%	
85th Percentile	100%	100%	45%	31%	60%	38%	65%	43%	

 Table 31. Descriptive Statistics for Passing Opportunity.

Table 32 contains the z-statistics for verifying any statistically significant changes in passing opportunity after the installation of CRSs along the RTLTW highway used in this project. A complete list of the parameters and their values that were used to develop Table 32 are presented in Table 114 in Appendix B.

The results of the Wilcoxon Rank Sum test are that the only statistically significant change in passing opportunity was for drivers passing a vehicle that was traveling at 55 mph. Statistical significance was established using the z-statistics, assuming a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval. Therefore, drivers appear to be waiting longer before passing a vehicle traveling at 55 mph.

DRV Speed	55 mph	60 mph	65 mph	Combined
Sample Size (B/A)	92/99	106/110	25/47	223/256
z-statistic	-2.024*	0.828	0.089	-0.940

Table 32	. Wilcoxon	Rank	Sum	Test for	Passing	Opportunity.
1 4010 02	и псолон	1 / / / / / / /	Sum	1 050 101	I abound	oppor cumey.

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval.

Percentage of Passing

A test of proportions was used to analyze whether passing decreased after the installation of CRSs. Table 33 contains the results of the tests, and there were not any statistically significant changes in the number of passes between the before and after period (see also Table 115 in Appendix B). The tests for significance were based on a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval t-statistic. Consequently, the null hypothesis is not rejected; CRSs did not appear to decrease the number of passes made by drivers at the project location.

Table 33. Test of Proportions for I	Percentage of Passing.
-------------------------------------	------------------------

DRV Speed	55 mph	60 mph	65 mph	Combined
Sample Size (B/A)	92/99	106/110	25/47	223/256
t-statistic	-0.678	-0.102	1.129	-0.026

*Indicates that the t-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval. There were no statistically significant changes.

LATERAL POSITION

Data Collection

There are various technologies available to collect lateral position data and they all vary in cost, accuracy, level of field supervision, and difficulty in data reduction. Based on cost, availability, and required level of accuracy, all of the field data were collected using a TTI camera trailer (see Figure 37). Data were collected during the daytime. The weather was clear to partially cloudy and the pavement was dry. Approximately three hours of video data were recorded for each project site for the before and after periods. The project sites, their geometric configuration, and CRS design are detailed in Table 34. The roadways were all asphalt concrete.



Figure 37. TTI Video Trailer.

Roadway	Alignment	Number of Lanes	Shoulders	CRS Design
FM 195	Curve 1	2	Yes	Yellow, 4-foot spacing, on each side of CL marking ¹
FM 195	Curve 2	2	Yes	Yellow, 4-foot spacing, on each side of CL marking ¹
FM 969	Tangent	2	No	Black, 4-foot spacing, staggered inside CL marking
FM 969	Curve	2	No	Yellow, 4-foot spacing, on each side of CL marking
FM 1431	Tangent	4	No	Yellow, 4-foot spacing, on each side of CL marking
FM 1431	Curve	4	No	Yellow, 4-foot spacing, on each side of CL marking
FM 2222	Tangent	4	No	Yellow, 4-foot spacing, on each side of CL marking
FM 2222	Curve	4	No	Yellow, 4-foot spacing, on each side of CL marking

 Table 34. CRS Lateral Position Project Site Characteristics.

¹ This site also included white pavement buttons spaced at 4-foot spacing adjacent to the outside edge of the edgeline, and are therefore raised edgeline rumble strips.

Figure 38 through Figure 41 are general pictures of each roadway that contain key information such as the number of lanes, existence of shoulders, delineation, and CRS design.



Figure 38. FM 195.



Figure 39. FM 969.



Figure 40. FM 1431.



Figure 41. FM 2222.

Tape markers were placed on the pavement at 6-inch intervals from the centerline markings, so that lateral position data could later be extracted (see Figure 42).



Figure 42. Lateral Position Markers.

Analysis

The data were tabulated into spacing categories that referenced the outside edge of the centerline markings adjacent to a particular lane of travel. Figure 43 contains a picture of the infield marking system that was used to bin the data into spacing categories. The binned data were also broken down by vehicle classification, but not enough data were collected in the sample size to properly analyze the effects of CRSs on lateral position by vehicle classification.

Probability and cumulative distributions were used to analyze the data. General trends were investigated such as shifts in the distribution of the population; however, no comments may be made as to whether a change was statistically significant using this analysis method.



Figure 43. Infield Lateral Position Marking System.

Findings

At all eight project sites, vehicular placement changed. The majority of drivers in the after period moved away from the centerline.

The findings are presented by site location. The term "inside lane" is used to define the travel lane on the inside of a curve, and "outside lane" denotes the travel lane on the outside of a curve. The terms "direction 1" and "direction 2" denote the two different directions of travel for a project site located on a tangent or straight segment of road. Figure 44 is a pictorial description of the previously mentioned terms. All of the descriptive statistics are detailed in Appendix B (Table 116 through Table 132).



Figure 44. Lane Referencing.

FM 195 (Curve 1)

Figure 45 and Figure 46 contain the distribution of vehicles by lateral position with respect to the centerline at Curve 1 along FM 195. Vehicles traveling in both the inside and outside lanes shifted away from the centerline.



Figure 45. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 195 (Curve 1, Inside Lane).



Figure 46. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 195 (Curve 1, Outside Lane).

For the inside lane of travel, 89 percent of motorists drove with a 42-inch gap between their left tires and the centerline markings in the before period. After the installation of CRSs, 94 percent of the motorists passed through the inside lane with at least a 42-inch gap. It should be noted that no vehicles were recorded passing through the inside lane with a gap greater than 42 inches before the installation of CRSs, while 85 percent of the vehicles were recorded traveling further than 42 inches from the centerline markings.

More than 85 percent of vehicles in the outside lane of travel were at least 24 inches from the centerline markings before the installation of CRSs. In the after period, 84 percent of vehicles were recorded with a gap of at least 36 inches between the left tires and the centerline markings.

FM 195 (Curve 2)

At Curve 2 along FM 195, vehicles also shifted away from the centerline in the inside lane; however, the vehicles in the outside lane shifted toward the centerline (see Figure 47 and Figure 48). Before CRSs were installed, 88 percent of motorists got as close as 12 inches to the centerline markings in the inside lane. Motorists appeared to shift approximately 12 inches from the centerline after the installation with 89 percent of motorists leaving a gap of at least 24 inches between their left tires and the centerline markings.



Figure 47. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 195 (Curve 2, Inside Lane).

The motorists in the outside lane shifted toward the centerline markings by approximately 12 inches with 88 percent of vehicles at 30 or more inches from the centerline before CRSs were installed and 92 percent of vehicles as close as 18 inches to the centerline after the installation.



Figure 48. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 195 (Curve 2, Outside Lane).

It is believed that the inward shift of the outside traffic may be the result of at least two factors. First, motorists in the outside lane may be shifting closer toward the centerline because they shifted in the same direction as the inside traffic. Motorists may shift in this manner because

their vehicular placement was based on the location of pavement markings and the location of oncoming traffic. Second, motorists in the outside lane may have been trying to avoid contacting the edgeline rumble strips.

FM 969 (Tangent)

Figure 49 and Figure 50 contain the distribution of vehicles by lateral position with respect to the centerline at the tangent section along FM 969. Vehicles traveling in direction 1 appear to be unaffected by CRSs with respect to lateral position. Before CRSs were installed, 83 percent of traffic maintained a gap of at least 12 inches, as opposed to 80 percent after installation.

Drivers traveling in direction 2 have shifted away from the centerline pavement markings by approximately 6 inches. Vehicles traveling with a gap of 24 inches or more between the left tires and the centerline markings accounted for 82 percent of the travel flow in the before period. After CRSs were installed, 81 percent of the drivers used a gap of 30 or more inches to traverse the project site. These changes are smaller than changes in lateral position recorded for the two FM 195 sites.

The researchers believe there are at least two reasons that these minimal changes may occur. The first possible reason is that the pattern used for the CRSs was less aggressive than the pattern used at other sites. In particular, the pavement buttons were staggered but had the same spacing. Subsequently, there were half as many pavement buttons placed along the centerline. Furthermore, the pavement buttons were placed inside the pavement markings, while at all other sites, the buttons were placed outside of the centerline markings and into the adjacent travel lanes.

A second possible reason for smaller changes in lateral position was that the pavement buttons were black and placed on asphalt concrete pavement. The black buttons may have blended in with the pavement better than the yellow buttons placed at the other project sites so drivers may have been less likely to notice the presence of the CRSs.



Figure 49. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 969 (Tangent, Direction 1).



Figure 50. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 969 (Tangent, Direction 2).

FM 969 (Curve)

Changes in lateral position along the curve project segment of FM 969 were similar to the tangent segment (see Figure 51 and Figure 52). The lateral vehicle position in the outside lane did not appear to change, and the inside lane positioning appeared to move approximately 6 inches away from the centerline markings. There were 80 percent of drivers traveling around the inside lane with at least 12 inches between the centerline markings and their left tires in the before period. After installing CRSs, 85 percent of the vehicles were recorded moving through the inside lane with at least 18 inches between the centerline and their left tires. It is believed that these small changes may have resulted from the less aggressive CRS pattern at this site.



Figure 51. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 969 (Curve, Inside Lane).



Figure 52. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 969 (Curve, Outside Lane).

FM 1431 (Tangent)

At the tangent project section along FM 1431, drivers in direction 1 shifted away from the centerline pavement markings; and in direction 2, drivers shifted toward the centerline.



Figure 53 and Figure 54 contain the lateral position distribution of the traffic flow for directions 1 and 2.

Figure 53. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 1431 (Tangent, Direction 1).

Drivers moving in direction 1 shifted approximately 12 inches away from the centerline. Before the installation of CRSs, 84 percent of the traffic traveled at least 18 inches from the centerline markings, and 78 percent of the traffic moved through the region at 30 or more inches from the centerline after CRSs were installed.

While vehicles in direction 2 did appear to travel closer to the centerline after the installation of CRSs, the change was minute. Furthermore, the closest a vehicle got to the centerline after installing CRSs was approximately 6 inches. This means that no vehicles were contacting and/or crossing the centerline markings into opposing traffic after the installation of CRSs.



Figure 54. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 1431 (Tangent, Direction 2).

FM 1431 (Curve)

There was a similar shift for drivers traveling through the curve segment of FM 1431 as was recorded for drivers along the tangent segment. The inside travel lane moved farther from the centerline pavement markings and the outside lane moved closer to the centerline (see Figure 55 and Figure 56). Both directions of travel appear to shift by approximately 6 inches.

There are at least two possible reasons for the traffic in the outside lane shifting toward the centerline. As stated earlier, it is likely that the motorists in the outside lane shifted with the inside traffic to maintain a similar gap distance between opposing traffic streams. This thought is congruent with the similar magnitude of lateral shifting (approximately six inches for each direction of travel). The second possibility is that this project site was a four-lane, undivided highway, and if the far outside lane shifted toward the centerline, it is likely that the adjacent lane closest to the centerline would also shift toward the centerline.



Figure 55. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 1431 (Curve, Inside Lane).



Figure 56. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 1431 (Curve, Outside Lane).

None of the vehicular traffic contacted the centerline before or after the installation of CRSs. In addition, all vehicles traveled at least 6 inches away from the centerline pavement markings after the installation of CRSs.

FM 2222 (Tangent)

The changes along the FM 2222 tangent section are almost identical in magnitude and type of lateral movement. Figure 57 and Figure 58 contain the distribution of the lateral position data for the tangent project segment along FM 2222. Direction 1 had an approximate shift of 12 inches away from the centerline markings with 95 percent of the traffic at least 6 inches from the centerline before the installation of CRSs and 95 percent at least 18 inches from the centerline after installation.



Figure 57. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles at FM 2222 (Tangent, Direction 1).



Figure 58. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 2222 (Tangent, Direction 2).

Direction 2 traffic shifted toward the centerline pavement markings. At least 80 percent of the vehicles were 30 or more inches away from the centerline before CRSs were installed. After installing CRSs, drivers shifted toward the centerline by about 6 inches with 81 percent of the drivers at 24 or more inches from the centerline. Again, it is believed that drivers shifting toward the centerline did so because they were following the lateral shift of vehicles in the opposing lane of travel.

None of the vehicular traffic contacted the centerline before or after the installation of CRSs. In addition, all vehicles traveled at least 6 inches away from the centerline pavement markings after the installation of CRSs.

FM 2222 (Curve)

For the FM 2222 curve project site, both directions of travel shifted away from the centerline (see Figure 59 and Figure 60). It was interesting that this was the only curve site where the largest shift occurred in the outside lane. While drivers traveling along the inside lane did move farther from the centerline pavement markings after the installation of CRSs, the change was minuscule (90 percent of the traffic was at least 42 inches from the centerline before installing CRSs and 94 percent after).

The larger change appeared with the vehicles in the outside lane. There was 91 percent of the traffic at 6 or more inches from the centerline in the before period, and 95 percent at 12 or more inches after the installation of CRSs.



Figure 59. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 2222 (Curve, Inside Lane).



Figure 60. Lateral Position Distribution of All Vehicles on FM 2222 (Curve, Outside Lane).

None of the vehicular traffic contacted the centerline before or after the installation of CRSs.

CHAPTER 4

EDGELINE RUMBLE STRIPS

PROBLEM STATEMENT

This chapter describes the research procedures employed for driver behavior observations before and after edgeline rumble strips (ERSs) were installed in the field. An ERS is a small rut milled into the pavement to create a rough surface. ERSs are similar to shoulder rumble strips (SRSs) that TxDOT often uses, but they differ slightly in placement. SRSs are installed several inches away from the edgeline, while ERSs are installed with a portion of the rumble strip covered by the edgeline. The purpose of this small change is to provide an earlier warning to drivers when they stray off of the traveled lane.

One method to improve road safety is to apply treatments that discourage drivers from straying off of the travel lanes. Crashes can occur if drivers become inattentive and drift onto the shoulder, and then off of the paved surface entirely. To determine the effectiveness of ERSs in reducing such events, a before and after evaluation was performed, and observations were made on shoulder usage. Researchers monitored the volumes of shoulder-encroaching traffic, observed some encroaching maneuvers to determine the circumstances that led to the shoulder usage, and calculated lateral positions of encroaching vehicles. A reduction in shoulder encroachment volumes would indicate an improvement.

OBJECTIVES

The purpose of installing ERSs is to improve road safety by reducing the number of accidental shoulder encroachment maneuvers that occur. When drivers stray out of the travel lane and onto the right shoulder of a highway, they increase their risk of losing control of their vehicles and running off of the road. Rumble strips provide warnings to drivers by creating noise and vibration when vehicles' tires pass over the strips. If the encroachment on the shoulder was unintentional (i.e., the driver was inattentive or drowsy), the noise and vibration can alert the driver to his mistake, so he can then steer back into the travel lane.

This project focused on the volume of shoulder encroachment maneuvers under several circumstances that can induce encroachment, including the:

- presence of emergency vehicles,
- occurrence of dangerous actions by other drivers that require evasive maneuvers,
- desire to let faster vehicles pass, and
- need to avoid turning vehicles.

Data were also analyzed to determine the positions of vehicles on the shoulder during such maneuvers. Observations were made at one site before and after ERSs were installed, to determine the effectiveness of the strips in reducing the frequency of accidental shoulder encroachment.

STUDY DESIGN

This experiment was designed as a simple, one-site before and after experiment to determine the effectiveness of the ERS treatment. Since the data for each case were collected within a few months, when seasonal variations in traffic characteristics are presumably small, it was determined that the use of a control site could be avoided.

Site Characteristics

The site chosen for this project was a five-mile segment of SH 6 between Calvert and Hearne, Texas. This segment of SH 6 is a rural, undivided, two-lane, two-way highway with the following geometric characteristics:

- generally north/south travel alignment;
- one 11-foot travel lane in each direction;
- 9-foot to 9.5-foot shoulders in each direction;
- a 4-foot-wide center segment marked with centerline pavement markings, striped to permit passing 77 percent of the time in each direction; and
- at least two segments in each direction with approximately one-mile sight distance.

See Figure 61 for a picture of the site during installation of the rumble strips.



Figure 61. SH 6 Project Site.

Based on volume data collected during the experiment, the ADT for this highway is approximately 10,800 vpd, with a NB/SB split of 49/51.

Installation Design

The ERSs installed at the site consisted of semicircular ruts milled into the pavement along the edgeline. Each strip measured 12 inches wide and 7 inches long, and they were spaced 12 inches on center. The inside edges of the strips were aligned with the inside edge of the edgeline, such that 4 inches of the strips' widths were on marked edgeline and 8 inches were on shoulder pavement.

Figure 62 and Figure 63 illustrate the design of the ERSs. Note that the design is similar to the CRS design described in Chapter 3.



Figure 62. Edgeline Rumble Strip Design.



Figure 63. Picture of Edgeline Rumble Strips.

DATA COLLECTION

Data were collected before and after installation of the ERSs to determine the following:

- traffic volumes and speeds;
- frequency of shoulder encroachment maneuvers;
- maneuver classification, including emergency, passing, turning, and other;
- vehicle classification (two-axle or three-axle);
- general time of maneuver (day or night); and
- lateral position of vehicles on the shoulder during encroachment maneuvers.

Data Collection Methods

PEEK pneumatic roadtubes were used to collect 1405 hours of lateral position, volume, and speed data. Seven hours of the data had to be discarded because of problems like ruptured tubes and trucks parked on the shoulder. The tubes were arranged in Z patterns, with two tubes extending across the shoulder and the travel lane, and the third placed diagonally across the shoulder only (see Figure 64). The two straight tubes were used to collect speed and volume data. The diagonal tube was used to collect lateral position data; the raw data provided the distance along the tube where vehicles' right front tires crossed the tube, and these measurements were then converted to lateral position using geometry and roadtube time stamp measurements as shown in Figure 65.



Figure 64. Placement of Roadtubes.



Figure 65. Lateral Position Calculations from Roadtube Measurements.

During daytime conditions, video footage was collected for the purpose of classifying shoulder encroachment maneuvers. A total of 120 hours of video data was collected.

Sample Size

A total of 2985 shoulder encroachments were observed in the reduced roadtube data. The before data were collected between September 10 and September 22, 2004, and the after data were collected between November 5 and November 17, 2004. The temporal distribution of these observations was as follows:

- 2473 encroachments (82.8 percent) during the daytime period (7 AM 6 PM),
- 512 encroachments (17.2 percent) during the nighttime period (6 PM 7 AM),
- 1965 encroachments (65.8 percent) during weekdays, and
- 1020 encroachments (34.2 percent) during weekends.

There were 745 additional encroachment observations that were removed from the data set for analysis because of anomalous results. For unknown reasons, these observations showed

shoulder encroachment position values greater than the shoulder width at the location of diagonal roadtube deployment. The maximum value for shoulder encroachment position (measured in inches away from the paved edge of the shoulder) should not be greater than the width of the shoulder.

A total of 1881 encroachments occurred while usable video footage (i.e., filmed during the day) was available to verify the reason for the encroachment. These shoulder encroachments were classified so further analysis could be conducted on shoulder usage.

ANALYSIS

The roadtube data were reduced and analyzed both to provide volume counts for the encroachment volume calculations and to determine the mean lateral positions of vehicles during video-verified encroachment maneuvers. In addition, the video footage was observed to determine if the ERSs induced any erratic maneuvers by drivers. No erratic maneuvers were observed in any of the video data.

Shoulder Encroachment Volume

The field data collected by the straight roadtubes were stratified by time (weekday [WD]/weekend [WE], day/night) and travel direction, and the percentage change in encroachment volumes for each data group were calculated based on percentage of ADT. Statistical t-tests were then performed to determine the significance of each change.

The 1881 shoulder encroachments that were video-verified were further classified to describe the reason for each encroachment maneuver, as follows:

- emergency –vehicles moving onto the shoulder to clear the way for an emergency vehicle, stopping on the shoulder because of breakdown, or pulling onto the shoulder evasively because of dangerous actions by another driver;
- turning –vehicles moving onto the shoulder to avoid a left-turning vehicle in the travel lane, to begin the execution of a right-turn maneuver, or to accelerate back into the traveled way after stopping for any reason;
- passing –vehicles moving onto the shoulder to provide room for faster vehicles to pass; and
- other –vehicles theoretically coming into inadvertent contact with the edgeline because of natural lane shifting, driver inattention or fatigue, swaying motions of trailers, or large load width.

The video-verified observations categorized as "other" or "passing" were further stratified by vehicle type (two axles or three plus axles). The percentage change in encroachment volumes was calculated for each data group based on percentage of ADT to provide insight into the effect of edgeline rumble strips on shoulder usage.

Lateral Position

For the video-verified encroachments, mean lateral positions of vehicles on the shoulder were calculated for both study periods (before and after) to provide additional insight into drivers' responses to the strips. Lateral position data were extracted from the diagonal roadtube

observations. Statistical t-tests were performed on mean position changes to determine significance. Cumulative histogram plots were also drawn. Encroachments classified as "other" or "passing" were further grouped by position category to determine specifically which types of encroachments were most likely to be affected by the installation of rumble strips. The following four position categories were defined for this analysis:

- right tires hit only the vehicle's right tires pass over the rumble strips,
- straddle the rumble strips are between the left and right tires such that neither tire is hitting the strips,
- left tires hit only the vehicle's left tires pass over the strips, and
- around the vehicle's left tires completely clear the strips on the right side.



The position categories are illustrated in Figure 66.

Figure 66. Position Categories for Shoulder Encroachment Maneuvers.

FINDINGS

This section presents the results of the data analysis with respect to shoulder encroachment volume and lateral position. The data are classified by time and travel direction. Encroachments that occurred during the collection of video data are further classified by maneuver type, as the causes of these maneuvers could be verified by the footage.

Shoulder Encroachment Volume

The general trend in the data was a 46.7-percent reduction in shoulder encroachment, as shown in Table 35. This reduction should increase the life span of the marked edgeline stripe because the rumble strips minimize the amount of tire contact with the stripe. The total number of encroachments decreased in the after case, and it is reasonable to assume that the edgeline rumble strips would also reduce the amount of time that drivers keep their tires positioned on the edgeline.

Period	Count	% of ADT	% Change
Before	1923	18.2	167
After	1062	9.7	-40.7

 Table 35. Shoulder Encroachment Volumes.

Table 36 provides the encroachment maneuver volumes (in % of ADT) during the before and after periods, grouped by time and travel direction. All of the data groups showed a decrease in encroachment volume, and all of the decreases were statistically significant except for the case of weekday night traffic in the northbound direction.

These data also show that shoulder encroachments occurred more often during the day than at night, and more often during weekdays than during weekends. This temporal variation is expected because traffic volumes are higher during the day and during weekdays. Shoulder usage is likely to increase with higher volumes for two reasons:

- a larger number of platoons will form as fast drivers catch up with slower drivers and desire to pass them, and
- the probability of turning conflicts increases.

A left-turning conflict occurs when a driver making a left turn is forced to slow down or stop, to allow a conflicting vehicle in the opposing through lane to clear the intersection. A right-turning conflict occurs when a driver making a right turn is compelled to pull onto the shoulder because a faster-moving through vehicle is approaching from behind. Through- and turning-vehicle arrivals at the project site were random, so the occurrence of turning conflicts was also random, but more likely with higher volumes. See Figure 67 for an illustration of turning conflicts and resulting shoulder encroachment maneuvers.
Travel Direction	WD/WE	Time	Period	Maneuver Count	% of ADT	% Change	Significance
		Davi	Before	578	5.5	15 5*	Significance 6.73 1.75 2.35 1.98 6.15 3.02 5.01 4.88
	WD	Day	After	315	2.9	-45.5	
	WD	Night	Before	79	0.7	32.0	1 75
NP		Nigitt	After	53	0.5	-32.9	1.75
ND		Dav	Before	213	2.0	76.8*	Significance 6.73 1.75 2.35 1.98 6.15 3.02 5.01
	WE	Day	After	156	1.4	-20.8	2.33
	W E	Night	Before	62	0.6	41.0*	Significance 6.73 1.75 2.35 1.98 6.15 3.02 5.01 4.88
		Nigitt	After	36	0.3	-41.7	
		Dev	Before	516	4.9	44.0*	6 15
	WD	Day	After	289	2.6	-44.0*	0.15
	WD	Night	Before	91	0.9	51.6*	1.98 6.15 3.02
SB		Nigitt	After	44	0.4	-51.0*	5.02
		Dav	Before	270	2.5	-/10 6*	5.01
	WE	Day	After	136	1.2	-49.0	5.01
	W L	Night	Before	114	1.1	_71 1*	1.98 6.15 3.02 5.01 4.88
		INIgitt	After	33	0.3	-/1.1	4.00

 Table 36. Encroachment Maneuver Volumes.



Figure 67. Turning Conflicts.

A total of 1094 video-verified shoulder encroachments were observed in the before period, and 787 in the after period. Figure 68 shows the counts and proportions of each maneuver classification in the before and after cases. Decreases were observed in all four classifications, but the largest proportional decrease was in the "other" case, which includes presumably accidental contact with the edgeline due to driver inattention.



Figure 68. Maneuver Classification Counts and Proportions, Before and After.

Table 37 shows the observed encroachment volumes for emergency and turning maneuvers. There was an observed decrease of 23.5 percent in emergency shoulder encroachments, but this percentage is calculated from numbers that were originally small (29 encroachments before vs. 23 encroachments after). This small decrease can probably be attributed to changes in random events like the number of emergency vehicle arrivals or the number of vehicular breakdowns that occurred during the two study periods (before and after), not the influence of the rumble strips on driver behavior. Furthermore, drivers are highly unlikely to avoid pulling onto the shoulder if the encroachment is part of an evasive maneuver. In drivers' minds, avoiding a crash would certainly take precedence over avoiding brief annoyance experienced when crossing over rumble strips.

Table 37. Shoulder	Encroachment	Volumes f	or Emergency	and Turning	Maneuvers.
--------------------	--------------	-----------	--------------	-------------	------------

Maneuver Classification	Period	Count	% of ADT	% Change	Significance	
Emorgonau	Before	29	0.3	22.5	0.96	
Emergency	After	23	0.2	-23.5		
Turning	Before	113	1.1	26.6*	2.18	
Turning	After	86	0.8	-20.0		

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence (t \ge 1.96).

The observed 26.6 percent decrease in turning encroachment volumes might be a concern, as the capacity of a road would decrease if turning vehicles blocked the travel lane for longer periods of time, and other drivers chose to wait instead of going around turning vehicles. However, the

project site was a two-lane rural road segment with random through-vehicle and turning-vehicle arrivals and random turn-conflict frequencies. The decrease in turning maneuver encroachment volumes might have been caused by a commensurate decrease in turn-conflict frequencies, not the influence of ERSs on driver behavior.

Table 38 shows the observed encroachment volumes for "other" maneuvers, stratified by travel direction and vehicle type. Decreases in encroachment volume were observed for all cases, but the only statistically significant changes occurred in the "other" category in both travel directions for two-axle vehicles and the overall traffic mix. The largest changes were observed in the overall "other" category (-45.0 percent NB and -41.5 percent SB), with much of the change attributed to two-axle vehicles (-59.0 percent NB and -51.8 percent SB) and only modest change attributed to vehicles with three or more axles (-14.4 percent NB and -18.2 percent SB, neither of which was statistically significant). When compared with the overall proportions shown in Figure 68, the results in Table 38 show that the ERSs were particularly effective in reducing "other" maneuvers by two-axle vehicles (including passenger vehicles); this reduction was proportionally the largest.

Travel Direction	Vehicle Type	Period	Count	% of ADT	% Change	Significance	
NB	A 11	Before	400	3.8	45.0*	5 24	
	All	After	228	2.1	-43.0*	3.24	
	2 Avles	Before	275	2.6	50.0*	5.05	
	2 Axies	After	117	1.1	-39.0*	5.95	
	$3 \pm \Lambda x \log$	Before	125	1.2	14.4	0.84	
	5 + Axies	After	111	1.0	-14.4		
	A 11	Before	216	2.0		2.50	
	All	After	131	1.2	-41.5*	5.50	
SP	2 Ayles	Before	150	1.4	51 8*	2 75	
SB	2 Axies	After	75	0.7	-51.6*	5.75	
	$3 \pm \Lambda x \log$	Before	66	0.6	18.2	0.70	
	J + AXIES	After	56	0.5	-10.2	0.79	

Table 38. Shoulder Encroachment Volumes for Other Maneuvers.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence ($t \ge 1.96$).

Table 39 shows the observed encroachment volumes for passing maneuvers, stratified by travel direction and vehicle type. The overall change in passing maneuver encroachment volumes is modest (-12.7 percent NB and -2.9 percent SB, neither of which was statistically significant), so

the effect of ERSs on such maneuvers is neutral. In other words, the installation of ERSs did not discourage drivers to pull onto the shoulder to allow faster vehicles to pass. The number of three-axle vehicles executing such maneuvers actually increased by 44.6 percent NB and 1.8 percent SB, but it is unknown why this change occurred. The bulk of the increase occurred in the northbound direction, suggesting that the increase is artificially high, and perhaps attributable to a rare event like the passing of a large convoy of slow trucks. It is worth noting that this 44.6-percent increase was calculated from small numbers (32 encroachments before vs. 48 encroachments after), and when the number of passing encroachments by two-axle vehicles (1.1 percent of ADT after) is compared to the number by vehicles with three or more axles (0.4 percent of ADT after), it can be seen that passing encroachments are far more often executed by two-axle vehicles.

Travel Direction	Vehicle Type	Period	Count	% of ADT	% Change	Significance	
NB	A 11	Before	190	1.8	12.7	0.02	
	All	After	172	1.6	-12.7	0.92	
	2 A vlos	Before	158	1.5	24.2	1.(5	
	2 Axies	After	124	1.1	-24.3	1.05	
	$3 \pm \Lambda x \log$	Before	32	0.3	11.6	-1.14	
	5 T AXIES	After	48	0.4	44.0	1.1 1	
	A 11	Before	146	1.4	-2.9	0.19	
	All	After	147	1.3	-2.9	0.18	
SB	2 Avles	Before	110	1.0	-1.5	0.24	
30	2 AXICS	After	109	1.0	-4.5	0.24	
	$3 \pm \Lambda y \log$	Before	36	0.3	1.8	0.05	
	J + AXIES	After	38	0.3	1.0	1.65 -1.14 0.18 0.24 -0.05	

Table 39. Shoulder Encroachment Volumes for Passing Maneuvers.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence (t \ge 1.96). No significant changes were observed.

Lateral Position

The video-verified encroachment maneuvers were further analyzed to identify any changes in the lateral positions of vehicles during shoulder usage. Lateral position was defined as distance away from the paved edge of the shoulder, with a position of zero on the paved edge and the maximum position (an average value of 9 feet) on the left edge of the marked edgeline. With few exceptions, the general trend was a decrease in mean lateral position, corresponding to

positions farther onto the shoulder. Large standard deviations were also observed in all cases, showing a high level of variability. The following three tables summarize these trends.

Emergency and Turning Maneuvers

Table 40 shows the lateral position calculations for emergency and turning maneuvers. Both changes were small, and neither was statistically significant.

Maneuver Classification	Period	Count	Mean Lateral Position (inches)	Standard Deviation (inches)	Change (inches)	Significance	
Emergency	Before	29	69.4	34.1	4.2	0.47	
	After	23	65.2	31.3	-4.3	0.47	
Turning	Before	113	47.6	29.2	1.0	-0.43	
Turning	After	86	49.5	32.1	1.9		

 Table 40. Lateral Position Calculations for Emergency and Turning Maneuvers.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95percent level of confidence (t \ge 1.96). No significant changes were observed.

Other Maneuvers

Table 41 shows the lateral position calculations for "other" maneuvers, stratified by travel direction and vehicle type. In every case, there was a statistically significant decrease in mean lateral position. The largest decreases were observed for two-axle vehicles (-15.1 inches NB and -18.5 inches SB).

Figure 69 shows the cumulative distribution of lateral positions for all "other" encroachments observed. The origin of the x-axis is defined as the right (outermost) paved edge of the shoulder. Assuming a shoulder width of 9 feet (the actual shoulder width at the project site varied by as much as 7 inches), the vertical dotted lines represent the location of the ERSs. The curves on the graph represent the location of the right edge of the encroaching vehicle's right front tire as it passes over the diagonal roadtube. Lateral position measurements greater than 108 inches shown in the graph represent observations that occurred where the shoulder width exceeded nine feet.

Travel Direction	Vehicle Type	Period	Count	Mean Lateral Position (inches)	Standard Deviation (inches)	Change (inches)	Significance
	A 11	Before	400	94.4	19.9	10.6*	4.02
	All	After	228	83.8	28.9	-10.0	Significance 4.93 4.70 2.90 3.89 3.84 2.60
NB	2 Ayles	Before	275	92.6	20.2	15.1*	4.70
	2 Axies	After	117	77.5	32.1	-13.1	
	3+ A vlee	Before	125	98.5	18.6	8.0*	2.90
	J + Axies	After	111	90.4	23.4	-8.0	
	A 11	Before	216	82.0	32.1	-14.6*	2.80
	All	After	131	67.4	35.1	-14.0*	5.85
SD	2 A vlas	Before	150	77.2	34.1	19.5*	2.84
SB	2 Axies	After	75	58.7	34.0	-18.5	4.70 2.90 3.89 3.84 2.60
	$2 \pm \Lambda y \log$	Before	66	92.9	24.0	12.0*	2.60
	3+ Axles	After	56	79.0	33.3	-13.9	2.60

 Table 41. Lateral Position Calculations for Other Maneuvers.

* Statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence (t \ge 1.96).



Figure 69. Lateral Position Cumulative Distribution for Other Maneuvers.

The lateral position data graphed in Figure 69 can provide insight into vehicle positions during "other" maneuvers if the following dimensions are assumed:

- tread base (distance from left edge of left tire to right edge of right tire) for two-axle vehicles = 6 feet,
- tread base for vehicles with three or more axles = 8 feet, and
- tire width for all vehicles = 8 inches.

These dimensions are based on recommendations for design vehicle dimensions in Chapter 2 of the *Green Book (31)*. Table 42 provides the counts of position categories for all of the "other" maneuvers observed during the after study period. The largest total decreases occurred in encroachments when only the right tires contacted the rumble strips, which are relatively minor encroachments likely caused by natural lane shifting or slight driver inattention. Straddling maneuvers decreased for two-axle vehicles but increased for vehicles with three or more axles. One possible explanation for the moderate increase in straddling maneuvers for vehicles with three or more axles is the fact that vehicles with wide loads or swaying trailers are more difficult to position precisely in the middle of a travel lane, and drivers of such vehicles might have chosen to straddle the rumble strips intentionally. Changes for the other two position categories ("left tires hit" and "around") were relatively minor.

Position Category			2 Axles		3+ Axles			
	Period	Count	% of ADT	% Change	Count	% of ADT	% Change	
Right Tires	Before	298	2.8	-71.8	160	1.5	21.2	
Hit	After	87	0.8		114	1.0	-51.5	
0, 11	Before	72	0.7	-35.7	27	0.3	71.4	
Stradule	After	48	0.4		48	0.4		
Left Tires	Before	39	0.4	22.4	4	0.0	20.5	
Hit	After	31	0.3	-23.4	5	0.0	20.5	
Around	Before	16	0.2	567		NT/ A		
	After	26	0.2	56.7 N/A				

Table 42.	Position	Category	Counts for	Other	Maneuvers.
1 abic 72.	1 USITION	Category	Counts for	other	mancuvers.

The calculations in Table 42 show that the ERSs did not, in fact, cause more drivers to shift farther onto the shoulder. The apparent rightward shifts shown in Figure 69 are caused by the fact that the rumble strips were most effective in reducing the number of "other" encroachments when only vehicles' right tires contacted the strips, while they were comparatively less effective in reducing the volume of encroachments farther onto the shoulder.

Passing Maneuvers

Table 43 shows the lateral position calculations for passing maneuvers, stratified by travel direction and vehicle type. In every case except southbound two-axle vehicles, there was a decrease of mean lateral position. However, only two of the changes (NB all vehicles and NB two-axle vehicles) are statistically significant. These two shifts were -6.2 inches and -7.3 inches, respectively, which represent less than one tire width.

Travel Direction	Vehicle Type	Period	Count	Mean Lateral Position (inches)	Standard Deviation (inches)	Change (inches)	Significance
	A 11	Before	190	53.6	25.0	()*	2 27
	All	After	172	47.4	26.8	-0.2*	2.27
NB	2 Aylos	Before	158	53.7	25.9	7 2*	2.22
	2 Axies	After	124	46.4	26.2	-7.5	2.55
	$3 \pm \Lambda y \log$	Before	32	53.0	20.8	2 1	0.57
	5+ Axies	After	48	49.9	28.5	-5.1	
	A 11	Before	146	46.5	22.9	2.1	0.70
	All	After	147	44.4	27.7	-2.1	0.70
SD	2 Aylog	Before	110	42.6	20.3	0.4	0.12
SB	2 Axies	After	109	43.0	28.3	0.4	0.70
	$2 \pm \Lambda x \log$	Before	36	58.3	26.4	0.8	1.62
	3+ Axles	After	38	48.5	25.7	-9.0	1.62

Table 43. Lateral Position Calculations for Passing Maneuvers.

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence (t \ge 1.96).

Figure 70 shows the cumulative distribution of lateral positions for all passing encroachments observed, with the location of the rumble strips illustrated by the vertical dotted lines. The rightward shift in this graph is less pronounced than the shift in Figure 69, as the mean lateral position changes were smaller than the changes for "other" maneuvers.



Figure 70. Lateral Position Cumulative Distribution for Passing Maneuvers.

Table 44 shows further analysis of the passing maneuvers grouped by position category. For the two-axle vehicles, there were slight decreases in the counts for "straddle" and "left tires hit" positions, and a moderate increase for the "around" position. In the case of passing maneuvers, drivers intentionally pull onto the shoulder, and all drivers executing such maneuvers will pass over the ERSs. In the before study period, 75.0 percent of drivers in two-axle vehicles either straddled the edgeline or positioned their vehicles such that the left tires were passing along the marked edgeline. Drivers executing such maneuvers typically intend to pull far enough to the right to help a faster vehicle pass, but not necessarily completely onto the shoulder. In the after study period, drivers executing the same maneuvers chose to pull completely onto the shoulder (into the "around" position category) to minimize the annoyance of passing over the rumble strips. This is demonstrated by the increase in the count and frequency of "around" maneuvers in the after study period.

Table 44 shows increases in counts for all three position categories applicable to vehicles with three or more axles. This is consistent with the volumes reported in Table 39. These observations are likely biased because of the seemingly anomalous 44.6 percent increase in passing maneuvers by vehicles with three or more axles in the northbound direction. In addition, a 9-ft shoulder is not wide enough to allow vehicles with three or more axles to encroach in the "around" position, leaving "straddle" as the most likely position for passing maneuvers. Table 44 shows that "straddle" was the most common position before and after installation of the rumble strips, though the frequency of the "straddle" maneuver did decrease slightly. Thus, based on the data collected in this experiment, the effect of ERSs on passing maneuvers by vehicles with three or more axles is neutral.

Position Category			2 Axles		3+ Axles			
	Period	Count	% of ADT	% Change	Count	% of ADT	% Change	
Right Tires	Before	28	0.3	-10.5	10	0.1	61	
Hit	After	26	0.2		11	0.1	0.1	
0, 11	Before	109	1.0	-36.3	54	0.5	12.5	
Stradule	After	72	0.7		63	0.6		
Left Tires	Before	92	0.9	24.5	4	0.0	190.2	
Hit	After	72	0.7	-24.3	12	0.1	189.3	
Around	Before	39	0.4	55.0				
	After	63	0.6	55.8 N/A				

 Table 44. Position Category Volumes for Passing Maneuvers.

CHAPTER 5

SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This report documents the research conducted by TTI to investigate various types of rumble strips and their impact on drivers along Texas rural highways. Rumble strips are roadway treatments that consist of raised or depressed sections that induce aural and vibratory sensations when tires cross over them. The research efforts consisted of the following general tasks:

- state-of-the-art review (completed in the year 1 report);
- benefit to cost analysis (completed in the year 1 report),
 - centerline rumble strips,
 - edgeline rumble strips (a form of shoulder rumble strips);
- field evaluation,
 - o TRSs,
 - o CRSs,
 - ERSs;
- generate TxDOT recommendations,
 - design and
 - o implementation.

SUMMARY

Transverse Rumble Strips

In this portion of the project, field measured vehicle speeds were used to investigate the impact of TRSs on driver behavior at approaches to rural stop-controlled intersections and horizontal curves. Researchers used the measured speeds to determine the deceleration patterns at each project site. A more uniform deceleration pattern would indicate that drivers had been more adequately alerted to upcoming decision points. The outcomes of previous research have produced varied results. Previous research has reported a statistically significant reduction in speed; however, the reduction in speed has been of the magnitude of 2 to 5 mph, which may not be practically significant.

To accomplish this objective, nine approaches to rural stop-controlled intersections and five approaches to rural horizontal curves were evaluated. Researchers hypothesized that the TRSs would prompt a change in traffic speeds. Speed data were collected and analyzed to evaluate the effectiveness of TRSs on driver behavior and traffic operations.

At stop-controlled intersections, the installation of TRSs produced mostly small changes in traffic operations. Table 45 contains the findings for the stop-controlled intersection project sites. There were some negative driver behavioral impacts (i.e., speed increases) that occurred after the installation of TRSs; however, erratic maneuvers did not occur at either of the project sites selected to investigate such issues, and very few smooth shifting maneuvers were observed.

Site	Finding	Beneficial Impact?
Bosque County (FM 3118)	 Approach speeds reduced slightly (less than 1 mph) in most cases Approach speeds evaluated at night yielded an increase in speed No significant effect on speed change parameter 	No
Snook (FM 50 SB Turning)	 Nighttime and weekend data yielded significant differences (2 - 8 mph) in speed change parameter Inconsistent effects on approach speeds No erratic maneuvers; few shifting maneuvers 	Marginal
Snook (FM 50 SB Highway)	 Speed change parameter increased slightly (0.6 – 1 mph) Slight (1 – 2 mph) increases in approach speeds No erratic maneuvers; few shifting maneuvers 	No
Snook (FM 50 NB)	 Inconsistent effect on speed change parameter Small (less than 1 mph) speed changes yielded significant differences Approach speeds reduced in all cases Most speed reductions were reported to be significantly different at a 2 – 3 mph change 	Marginal
Colorado City (FM 208 SB)	 No significant differences in speed change parameter Approach speeds were significantly reduced Approach speeds reduced from 2 – 5 mph 	Yes
Colorado City (FM 208 NB)	 Speed change parameter significantly reduced Speed change differences were reduced by 2 – 3 mph Intersection spot speeds increased Warning sign spot speeds decreased slightly 	Marginal
Millican (FM 2154 SB)	Slight decrease in speed change parametersApproach speeds increased	No
Millican (FM 2154 NB)	 Inconsistent effects on both speed change and approach speeds Small (1 mph) changes in both speed change and approach speed parameters 	No
Hearne (FM 2549 NB)	 No significant differences in speed change or approach speed parameters Approach speeds were reduced slightly (less than 1 mph) 	No
Hearne (FM 2549 SB)	 Inconsistent effect on speed change parameter Approach speeds were reduced No erratic maneuvers; few shifting maneuvers Approach speeds had significant reductions at 2 – 4 mph 	Marginal

Table 45. Findings for Stop-Controlled Intersection Sites.

Similar results were documented for the horizontal curve sites. Only small changes in traffic operations were observed, such as increases in control speed. Table 46 contains the findings for the horizontal curve project sites.

Site	Primary Finding	Beneficial Impact?
Steephollow (FM 1179)	 Speed changes significantly (p = 0.05) increased in after case Spot speeds at warning sign were higher in after case Slight (1 - 2 mph) decrease in spot speeds near curve 	No
Navasota I (FM 3090)	 Statistically significant reductions in speed change (9 – 11 mph) Spot speeds at warning sign were significantly reduced (6 – 8 mph) Spot speeds near curve increased 	Marginal
Navasota II (FM 3090)	 No significant differences in speed change parameter No significant differences in approach speeds Approach speed reductions were less than 2 mph 	No
Keith (FM 244)	 Slight (less than 1 mph) differences in speed change Significant reductions in spot speeds at warning sign Significant reductions in spot speeds near curve 	Yes
Bremond (FM 46)	 Slight (less than 1 mph) difference in speed change Slight (1 - 2 mph) reductions in spot speeds at warning sign and near curve 	No

Table 46. Findings for Horizontal Curve Sites.

The general findings were:

- For most of the sites analyzed, the installation of TRSs did not significantly affect the speed change between the warning sign speed trap and intersection speed trap. Of the sites that recorded statistically significant reductions in speed changes, only three sites showed reductions larger than 1 mph. However, the overall trend was small reductions in speed change between the warning sign and intersection speed collection points.
- While statistically significant changes of 2-3 mph in approach speeds were recorded, previous research suggests a reduction of 4 mph is required to be practically significant (1). Thus, TRSs did not seem to be successful at reducing approach speeds at the project sites.
- At the two sites where data were collected to determine the prevalence of erratic maneuvers (Snook [FM 50] and Hearne [FM 2549]), no sudden braking, hard braking, or swerving occurred, and all shifting maneuvers were smooth. Thus, the installation of transverse rumble strips did not appear to induce erratic maneuvers.
- Transverse rumble strips are a low-cost treatment and easy to install.

Centerline Rumble Strips

The purpose of this portion of the project was to ascertain how drivers respond to the installation of centerline rumble strips. CRSs were installed along five rural undivided highways. Three designs were used and seven MOEs were investigated. The first six MOEs focused on driver reaction to contacting CRSs during passing operations, and the last MOE focused on whether CRSs affected lateral position of drivers.

Video data were collected using two different data collection methods. In order to investigate how drivers react to contacting CRSs during passing operations, a mobile data collection system was developed and referred to as the data recording vehicle. The DRV collected data that allowed for the analysis of:

- erratic movements,
- number of encroachments prior to passing,
- gap distance prior to passing,
- centerline crossing time during the initial phase of passing,
- passing opportunity, and
- percentage of passing.

There was one project site to investigate the impact of CRSs on passing operations. One design of CRSs was milled continuously in no-passing and passing zones along the marked centerline of US 67, a rural, two-lane, two-way (RTLTW) highway between the cities of Comanche and Dublin in north-central Texas.

Data were also collected to investigate whether CRSs impacted vehicle placement. These data were collected with a TTI video trailer. There were two sites for each roadway studied. The roadways were FM 195, FM 969, FM 1431, and FM 2222.

There were two raised CRS designs evaluated with regard to their impact on vehicle placement. One design used yellow pavement buttons placed adjacent to the outside edges of the centerline markings. The other design consisted of black pavement buttons staggered along the inside edges of the centerline markings.

Passing Operations

- The number of centerline encroachments by a passing vehicle prior to starting a pass did not significantly increase after the installation of CRSs.
- There were not enough data with respect to time between centerline encroachments to analyze if there was a change after the installation of CRSs.
- Gap distance decreased significantly for drivers passing the DRV traveling at 55 mph after the installation of CRSs, but not when the DRV traveled at 60 and 65 mph.
- Gap distance, irrespective of the speed of the DRV, decreased after the installation of CRSs.
- Centerline crossing time increased significantly for drivers passing the DRV traveling at 55 mph after the installation of CRSs, but not when the DRV traveled at 60 and 65 mph.
- Centerline crossing time, irrespective of the speed of the DRV, increased significantly after the installation of CRSs.
- Passing opportunity did not change significantly with the installation of CRSs.
- The percentage of vehicles that pass did not change significantly with the installation of CRSs.

Lateral Position

- Frequency of inadvertent contact with the centerline decreased with the installation of CRSs.
- Yellow pavement buttons placed in the travel lanes adjacent to the outside edge of the centerline markings appeared to have a greater impact on lateral position than staggered black pavement buttons.
- The majority of drivers shifted their vehicles' lateral position farther from the centerline pavement markings after the installation of raised CRSs consisting of pavement buttons.

Overall

- No erratic movements were recorded either before or after the installation of CRSs.
- None of the changes in any of the MOEs were considered to be increases or decreases of a magnitude that merited a practical change in driving characteristics.
- None of the changes in any of the MOEs were considered either to affect the driving environment adversely or to induce unsafe driving practices.

Edgeline Rumble Strips

Milled ERSs were installed at one site in Texas for investigation of their impact on drivers' shoulder usage. Data were collected using a video trailer and roadtubes. The roadtubes were used to observe lateral position of vehicles that encroached on the shoulders, and video data allowed the researchers to ascertain the purpose of encroachment. Shoulder usage was categorized into one of the following four types:

- Emergency encroaching to allow emergency vehicles to pass, to avoid a collision, or stopping on the shoulder.
- Turning vehicles encroaching to pass left-turning vehicles on the right, decelerating to turn off the highway, or accelerating up to speed from a stop.
- Passing vehicles encroaching to allow queued vehicles behind them a better opportunity to pass with more improved sight distance and a decrease in the need for encroaching on the opposing lane of travel.
- Other vehicles inadvertently contacting with the shoulder due to poor lateral position, intentionally encroaching on the shoulder due to a driver's desire to place more distance between their vehicle and oncoming vehicles (i.e., drivers of vehicles with wide loads, such as manufactured homes), or intentional encroachment of the shoulder by a driver who wishes to drive below the speed limit.

ERSs appeared to have a positive impact on driver lane keeping. The least desirable types of shoulder encroachments were categorized as "other," and they were reduced significantly. Furthermore, no erratic maneuvers were observed. The general findings are bulleted below.

- Shoulder encroachment decreased by almost 50 percent.
- Reductions were recorded regardless of direction, period of the week, or period of the day.

- A statistically significant reduction in "other" traffic was recorded, which includes inadvertent contact with the edgeline caused by natural lane shifting, wide loads, swaying trailers, and driver inattention.
- "Other" drivers shifted 8 to 18.5 inches farther onto the shoulder, and this change was statistically significant for the following reasons:
 - it resulted from the largest reduction in number of encroachments coming from vehicles that only crossed over the edgeline by a few inches (theoretically a decrease in the number of inadvertent encroachments from inattentive drivers),
 - 72 percent reduction for two-axle vehicles,
 - 31 percent reduction for three or more axle vehicles, and
 - 71 percent increase in the three or more axle vehicles that straddle the edgeline, possibly because the drivers of vehicles with wide loads or swaying trailers wished to avoid constant contact with the ERSs and could not keep their vehicles positioned entirely within the lane.
- "Passing" drivers in two-axle vehicles were more likely to pull completely onto the shoulder when allowing a vehicle to pass (56 percent increase) after the ERSs were installed.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Transverse Rumble Strips

Although the data do not support consistent reductions in speed, the data also do not indicate that TRSs cause any need for concern. Furthermore, previous research does support reductions in crashes (11). Subsequently, the researchers recommend limited use until at least the first item below is complete:

- conducting crash studies for the project sites,
- studying additional sites for the purpose of comparison with previous studies,
- studying stop compliance at stop-controlled intersections, and
- monitoring long-term maintenance.

Centerline Rumble Strips

There are no findings from the research described in this report to suggest that CRSs negatively impact roadway operations at any of the project sites, and the researchers believe that there is no evidence to recommend removing any of the CRS treatments. Additional recommendations include:

- Survey states that have installed CRSs to document specifically why and where CRSs are installed, and why or where CRSs were not installed in passing zones.
- Analyze available crash data from RTLTW highways with CRSs to continue to document the benefits of CRSs.
- Analyze the various MOEs available to investigate changes in driver behavior associated with safety improvements from the installation of CRSs, in particular, a validation of the MOEs used in this report.
- Conduct an additional research project similar to the one documented in this report of at least three more similar sites that have CRSs installed.

- Conduct a simulator project that focuses specifically on passing behavior.
- Investigate the effects of raised and milled CRSs on lateral position on other rural undivided highways at multiple sites that have varying shoulder widths and lane configurations such as two-lane, three-lane, and four-lane.
- Investigate lateral position interactions along rural undivided highways with CRSs and ERSs or CRSs and shoulder rumble strips.
- Investigate additional benefits of CRSs, such as improvements in:
 - wet-night visibility;
 - nighttime visibility versus reflectorized raised pavement markings and reflectorized, recessed raised pavement markings (i.e., plowable raised pavement markings); and
 - pavement marking life cycle and retroreflectivity with respect to placement over milled rumble strips.

Edgeline Rumble Strips

Based on the findings above, the researchers have no reason to recommend the removal of ERSs along SH 6 between Hearne and Calvert. The researchers have the following recommendations.

- Conduct additional evaluations of ERSs at similar locations to verify whether these findings are unique to SH 6 or consistent with the treatment.
- Investigate whether there is an interaction between shoulder usage and vehicular lateral position along roadways with ERSs as a factor of shoulder width.
- Investigate additional benefits of ERSs, such as:
 - improvements in wet-night visibility,
 - improvements in nighttime visibility, and
 - improvements in pavement marking life cycle and retroreflectivity with respect to placement over milled rumble strips.

Other Recommendations

Previous research (21) has raised the question whether drivers would be confused when inadvertently contacting CRSs or SRSs (ERSs are a form of SRSs). Subsequently, it is recommended that CRSs have a set spacing that is different from the spacing of ERSs to minimize the confusion. Appendix C contains a preliminary CRS and ERS design for review by TxDOT, and Appendix D contains a basic safety analysis of rumble strips.

REFERENCES

- Carlson, P.J., and J.D. Miles. *Effectiveness of Rumble Strips on Texas Highways: First Year Report*. FHWA/TX-05/0-4472-1 Report, Texas Transportation Institute, The Texas A&M University System, College Station, Texas, 2003.
- Dudek, C.L., R.D. Huchingson, F.T. Creasey, and O. Pendleton. Field Studies of Temporary Pavement Markings at Overlay Project Work Zones on Two-Lane, Two-Way Rural Highways. In *Transportation Research Record 1160*, TRB, National Research Council, Washington D.C., 1987, pp. 22 – 34.
- 3. ITE *Manual of Transportation Engineering Studies*. Edited by H.D. Robertson, Institute of Transportation Engineers, Washington D.C., 2000.
- Perkins, D.D. and B.L. Bowman. Effectiveness Evaluation by Using Non Crash Measures of Effectiveness. *Transportation Research Record 905*, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington D.C., 2000, pp. 138 – 142.
- Gates, T.J., H.G. Hawkins, S.T. Chrysler, P.J. Carlson, A.J. Holick, and C.H. Spiegelman. Traffic Operational Impacts of Higher Conspicuity Sign Materials. FHWA/TX-04/4271-1 Report, Texas Transportation Institute, The Texas A&M University System, College Station, Texas, 2003.
- 6. The Swarco Website URL: http://www.swarco.com/english/index.htm. Accessed February 2003.
- 7. Meyer, E. "Guidelines for the Application of Removable Rumble Strips." K-TRAN KU-02-03, March 2003.
- 8. Montgomery, D.C. and G.C. Runger. Applied Statistics and Probabilities for Engineers. Third Edition. John Wiley & Sons Publishing, Inc, New York, NY, 2002, pp. 258 – 260.
- 9. Lyles, R.W. An Evaluation of Warning and Regulatory Signs for Curves on Rural Roads. Final Report. Maine University at Orono, Social Science Research Institute, Federal Highway Administration, March 1980.
- 10. May, Adolf D. Traffic Flow Fundamentals. First Edition. Prentice Hall, Incorporated, Upper Saddle River, NJ, 1990, pp. 108 111.
- 11. Harwood, W. "Use of Rumble Strips to Enhance Safety." Synthesis of Highway Practice 191, Transportation Research Board, Washington D.C., 1993.
- 12. Kermit, M. L., and T.C. Hein. Effect of Rumble Strips on Traffic Control and Behavior, Proceedings, Highway Research Board, Volume 41, 1962.
- 13. Sumner, R., and J. Shippey. The Use of Rumble Areas to Alert Drivers, TRRL Report No. 800, Transport and Road Research Laboratory, Department of the Environment, Department of Transport, Crowthorne, Berkshire, United Kingdom, 1977.
- Zaidel, D., A. S. Hakkart, and R. Barkan. Rumble Strips and Paint Stripes at a Rural Intersection. *Transportation Research Record 1069*. Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington D.C., 1986, pp. 7 – 13.
- 15. Owens, R.D. Effect of Rumble Strips at Rural Stop Locations on Traffic Operation. *Highway Research Record 170*. Highway Research Board, National Research Council, Washington D.C., 1967.
- Hostetter, R.S. and H. Lunenfeld. Planning and Field Data Collection. Volume 3 in a Series on Positive Guidance. Report FHWA-TO-80-2, Federal Highway Administration, USDOT, Washington D.C., 1980.
- 17. ADR 2000 Manual. Peek Traffic, Sarasota, Florida, November 2002, pp. 10 11.
- 18. The Old Farmer's Almanac Online Edition. URL: http://www.almanac.com. Accessed April 2003.

- 19. Fatality Analysis Reporting System (FARS) Web-Based Encyclopedia. NHTSA. http://www-fars.nhtsa.dot.gov. Accessed April 2, 2003.
- 20. Slack, K., T. Neuman, and R. Pfefer. A Guide for Addressing Head-On Collisions. NCHRP Report 500: Guidance for Implementation of the AASHTO Strategic Highway Safety Plan. NCHRP, CH2M Hill, Maron Engineering, Vol. 4, 2003.
- 21. Elango, V. V., and D. A. Noyce. Safety Evaluation of Centerline Rumble Strips. University of Massachusetts Transportation Center, Amherst, Massachusetts, November 2003.
- 22. FHWA. Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), FHWA, 2002.
- 23. Centerline Rumble Strips. The Delaware Experience. Delaware Department of Transportation. http://www.deldot.net/static/projects/rumblestrip/handout.pdf. Accessed February 21, 2002.
- 24. Monsere, C. Centerline Rumble Strip Policy in Oregon. Oregon DOT. Personal interview, monsere@pdx.edu, June 25, 2003.
- 25. Smith, K., and R. Martindale. Centerline Rumble Strip Policy in Alaska. Alaska DOT. Personal interview, kurt_smith@dot.state.ak.us, July 1, 2004.
- 26. Prisk, C. W. Passing Practices on Rural Highways. In Proceedings HRB, Vol. 21, Highway Research Board, 1941, pp. 366-378.
- 27. Holmes, E. H. Procedure Employed in Analyzing Passing Practices of Motor Vehicles. Public Roads, No. 19:11, 1939, pp. 209-212, 221.
- 28. Normann, O. K. Progress in Study of Motor-Vehicle Passing Practices. Public Roads, No. 20:12, 1940, pg. 221.
- 29. Glennon, J. C., and G. D. Weaver. Passing Performance Measurements Related to Sight Distance Design. Research Report 134-6. Texas Transportation Institute, The Texas A&M University System, College Station, Texas, June 1971.
- Polus, A., et al. Evaluation of the Passing Process on Two-Lane Rural Highways. In *Transportation Research Record 1701*, TRB, National Research Council, Washington D.C., 2000, pp. 53-60.
- 31. AASHTO. A Policy on Geometric Design on Highways and Streets. 2001.
- 32. Farber, E. Passing Behavior on Public Highways Under Daytime and Nighttime Conditions. In *Highway Research Record 292*, Highway Research Board, National Research Council, Washington D.C., 1969, pp. 11-23.
- Polus, A., and Andrej Tomecki. Passing Experiment on Two-Lane Rural Highways. In *Transportation Research Record 1112*, TRB, National Research Council, Washington D.C., 1987, pp. 115-123.
- 34. Ott, R.L. An Introduction to Statistical Methods and Data Analysis, Fourth Ed. Wadsworth, Inc., California, 1993.
- 35. Agresti, A. An Introduction to Categorical Data Analysis. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1996.
- 36. Conover, W. J. Practical Nonparametric Statistics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: New York, 1999.
- 37. SPSS. Resolution Detail: 26015. http://support.spss.com. Accessed August 14, 2002.
- 38. SPSS. Topics: Q-Q Plots. SPSS version 12.0.1. SPSS Inc., November 11, 2003.
- 39. Gates, T.J., Schrock, S.D., and Bonneson, J.A. Comparison of Portable Speed Measurement Devices. Submitted to Transportation Research Board (Forthcoming).

APPENDIX A

DATA COLLECTION METHODS

Tracking of individual vehicle speeds through a given site was accomplished by the use of a series of portable automated vehicle classifiers. Portable automated vehicle classifiers are commonly used by transportation agencies nationwide and allow for a large sample size to be collected. These devices are placed on the roadside and connected to a pair of sensors (pneumatic sensors, roadtubes in this case) that are affixed to the pavement surface. The device recorded information for each axle that traversed over the sensors. The device was then able to compute desired information about each vehicle.

Speeds of individual vehicles were tracked by the automated vehicle classifiers by placing a number of devices in succession at specific locations throughout the project site. The classifiers and roadtubes were placed at three locations: a control location, at the warning sign, and near the intersection or curve. Time clocks were synchronized for all devices. Individual vehicles were later tracked during the data reduction phase by tracking time stamps and classifications among successive counters.

Another option for the data collection equipment was light detecting and ranging (LIDAR) devices. LIDAR devices measure speed and range of a moving object by sending out hundreds of invisible infrared laser light pulses per second. The laser beams are reflected off the object and directed back to the device. Internal algorithms are then used to derive the speed of the moving object from a successive number of range calculations.

Due to the low traffic volume that was expected at each of the project locations, the automated vehicle classifiers were used. The classifiers were able to minimize the amount of person-hours required at the sites to collect a sufficient sample size and were durable enough to remain in the field during the study periods. A LIDAR device was used to ensure that the setup of the roadtubes was done correctly and that accurate speeds were recorded by the automated vehicle classifiers.

The accuracy of roadtubes as well as other portable speed measurement devices (including LIDAR) has been proven in determining the speed of traveling vehicles. In a study by the Texas Transportation Institute (TTI), the accuracy and precision of five portable speed measurement systems were evaluated in a controlled field evaluation. The researchers found that there was little difference (less than 1.5 mph) in the speed measurement systems. It was also found that all devices were accurate and that speed measurement equipment should be selected to suit the characteristics of a given data collection situation (39). A comparison of the advantages and disadvantages of automated vehicle classifiers versus LIDAR is shown in Table 47 (39).

	LIDAR	Automated Vehicle Classifiers
Advantages	 Accurate, precise, and reliable Small and lightweight Simple to use and requires very little training Greater level of worker safety Data collector has supervision over measurements, improving reliability Vehicles may easily be tracked through a site Very little data reduction 	 Accurate, precise, but somewhat less reliable Large sample sizes are obtained with less effort Few person-hours are necessary for data collection Speeds are measured at a precise location for each vehicle Vehicle/traffic characteristics other than speed may be measured
Disadvantages	 Cosine bias if equipment is offset from vehicle path, such as at curves Many person-hours needed for large sample size Difficult to measure speed at a precise location on the roadway Potential data bias if data collector is visible to drivers Potential data bias if high percentage of radar/laser detector use by the motoring public 	 Equipment failures occasionally occur Lower level of worker safety Equipment may be challenging to use Traffic control required to place/remove equipment Equipment vandalism Anomalous vehicles are difficult to determine due to lack of supervision Potential data bias if sensors are visible to drivers

Table 47. Advantages and Disadvantages of LIDAR versus Automated Vehicle Classifiers.

SITE CHARACTERISTICS

Location	Number of Observations	85th Percentile Speed (mph)	Standard Deviation (mph)	Mean Speed (mph)	Minimum Speed (mph)	Maximum Speed (mph)	Variance
FM 3118	2616	61	6.9	53.8	8	76	48.2
FM 50	1174	72	17.7	53.9	21	97	314.2
FM 208	3717	76	7.4	69.6	34	109	54.3
FM 2154	1028	60	7.4	53.0	25	83	53.9
FM 2549	561	62	7.3	54.8	30	75	53.1
FM 1179	1093	73	6.3	66.8	36	87	39.6
FM 3090	1941	73	7.4	65.8	33	105	54.2
FM 244	1071	72	9.4	63.3	25	104	89.1
FM 46	871	70	10.3	59.6	18	87	105.9

Table 48. Transverse Rumble Strip Site Characteristics.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS TABLES

Table 49 through Table 102 contain all of the tabulated findings for the TRS project sites.

 Table 49. Bosque County (FM 3118) Change in Speed Results.

Light Condition/Pariod	Overall Sample	Control Speed	Spe Int	ed Chang ersection	e from Wa Speed Tra	arning to p (mph)
Condition/Period	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	1859	55	12.246	12.181	-0.065	0.714
		70	17.388	17.802	0.414	0.355
Night	261	55	12.839	12.084	-0.755	0.105
		70	16.084	17.422	1.338	0.201

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Table 50. Bosque County (FM 3118) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles.

Light	Overall Sample	Speed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Size	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Day	103	18.350	18.272	-0.078	0.940	
Night	83	19.000	16.684	-2.316	0.282	

Light	Overall	Control	Inte	ersection	Speed Tr	ap (mph)
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
D	1859	55	39.852	39.425	-0.427*	0.044
Day		70	46.873	45.791	-1.082*	0.044
Night	261	55	39.884	40.250	0.366	0.512
		70	44.117	46.489	2.372	0.059

Table 51. Bosque County (FM 3118) Intersection Spot Speed Results.

Table 52.	Bosque	County	(FM 3118) Warning	Sign S	Snot Si	need Resu	lts.
1 abic 52.	Dosque	County	(1 11 5110	, wai ming	Dign L	porbl	pecu nesu	103.

Light	Overall	Control	War	ning Sigi	n Speed T	rap (mph)
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	1859	55	52.098	51.606	-0.492*	0.004
		70	64.261	63.593	-0.668	0.126
Night	261	55	52.723	52.334	-0.389	0.392
		70	60.201	63.911	3.710*	0.000

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 53. Snook (FM 50 SB turning vehicles) Change in Speed Results.

Light Condition/Devied	Overall Sample	Control Speed	Speed Ch	ange from V Speed T	Warning to rap (mph)	Intersection
Condition/Period	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	361	35	10.704	10.358	-0.346	0.653
		40	11.509	9.480	-2.030	0.139
Night	57	35	12.113	4.636	-7.477*	0.000
		40	14.693	6.003	-8.690*	0.005

Light	Overall	Control	Intersection Speed Trap (mph)			
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
D	361	35	46.846	47.950	1.104	0.217
Day		40	49.890	49.120	-0.771	0.628
Night	57	35	43.282	47.970	4.688*	0.046
		40	46.136	46.332	1.196	0.737

Table 54. Snook (FM 50 SB turning vehicles) Intersection Spot Speed Results.

Table 55. Sr	100k (FM 50 SB	turning vehicles)	Warning Sign	Spot Speed Results.
				1 1

Light	Overall	Control	Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)			
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	361	35	57.550	58.308	0.758	0.387
		40	61.400	58.599	-2.801	0.073
Night	57	35	55.395	52.606	-2.789	0.226
		40	59.829	52.335	-7.494*	0.033

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 56. Snook (FM 50 SB through vehicles) Change in Speed Results.

Light Condition/Boyind	Overall Sample	Control Speed	ControlSpeed Change from Warning to IntersectiSpeedSpeed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Dav	570	65	10.928	11.827	0.899	0.060	
Day		80	14.014	14.916	0.902	0.298	
Night	107	65	9.662	10.262	0.600	0.604	
		80	10.613	12.309	1.697	0.432	

Light Condition/Boried	Overall Sample	Speed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Size	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Day	603	11.502	12.650	1.148	0.079	
Night	181	9.283	11.310	2.027	0.253	
Weekday	400	12.038	13.038	1.000	0.345	
Weekend	384	10.778	12.343	1.565*	0.040	

 Table 57. Snook (FM 50 SB through vehicles) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles.

Table 50 C	naal (EM	50 CD	4 h		T-town offers (+ C	mand Daar	-14-
1 able 58. 5	nook (f Ni	20 2B	unrougn	venicies)	Intersection a	spot S	peea kesi	nus.

Light	Overall	Control	Int	tersection S	peed Trap (1	mph)
Condition/Period Sample		Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Dav	570	65	45.040	46.087	1.047	0.078
Day	570	80	51.921	51.785	-0.136	0.899
Night	107	65	42.591	45.189	2.598	0.071
		80	50.286	50.165	-0.120	0.964

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Table 59 Snook ((FM 50 SR throug	h vehicles) Warning	Sign Snot Sr	eed Results
1 abic 57. Shouk j	(FMI SU SD till Ougi	i venieres, varming	, orgin opor op	iccu iccouits.

Light	Overall	Control	Wa	rning Sign S	Speed Trap (mph)		
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Davi	570	65	55.969	57.914	1.945*	0.000	
Day	570	80	65.935	66.700	0.766	0.420	
Night	107	65	52.253	55.451	3.198*	0.012	
		80	60.898	62.475	1.576	0.505	

Light Condition (Deviad	Light Overall Sample		Speed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)			
Condition/Period	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Davi	2455	65	7.012	7.588	0.576*	0.000
Day		80	9.371	9.752	0.381	0.060
Night	401	65	7.953	7.180	-0.773	0.060
		80	10.125	9.946	-0.180	0.749

Table 60. Snook (FM 50 NB) Change in Speed Results.

Table 61, Snook	(FM 50 NB) (Comparison of	Change in Speed	1 for Speeding Vehicles.
1 4010 010 010 011	()	comparison or	onange mopeet	a rot ~ pround , on orost

Light Condition (Poriod	Overall Sample	Speed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Feriod	Size	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Day	3034	7.873	8.318	-0.339	0.171	
Night	1208	8.371	8.031	0.889*	0.000	
Weekday	2019	8.442	8.104	-0.339	0.171	
Weekend	2223	7.498	8.387	0.889*	0.000	

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 62. S	Snook (FM 50	NB) Interse	ction Spot S	need Results.
1 abic 02. C	JIIOOK (I IVI 3 0	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	cuon spor s	pecu neguno.

Light	Overall	Control	Intersection Speed Trap (mph)			
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Dav	2455	65	53.022	49.454	-3.568*	0.000
Day		80	61.018	57.032	-3.986*	0.000
Night	401	65	50.016	47.971	-2.045*	0.004
		80	55.551	54.581	-0.969	0.317

Light	Overall	Control	Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)			
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Dav	2455	65	60.034	57.042	-2.992*	0.000
Day		80	70.839	66.784	-3.606*	0.000
Night	401	65	57.969	55.151	-2.818*	0.000
		80	65.676	64.527	-1.149	0.235

Table 63. Snook (FM 50 NB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

					•	a 11	
Table 64.	Colorado	City (FI	VI 208	SB) Chan	ge in	Speed 1	Results.

Light Condition/Deviad	Overall Sample	Control Speed	Speed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Dav	691	50	10.423	9.534	-0.888	0.072	
Day		65	13.942	13.250	-0.692	0.248	
Night	170	50	10.412	10.660	0.248	0.762	
		65	13.810	12.212	-1.598	0.194	

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Table 65.	Colorado City	(FM 208 SB) Intersection S	pot Speed Results.
		(,	

Light	Overall	Control	Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Davi	601	50	39.955	31.523	-4.432*	0.000	
Day	091	65	39.381	35.245	-4.136*	0.000	
Night	170	50	33.769	30.406	-3.363*	0.001	
		65	36.885	34.377	-2.507	0.091	

Light	Overall	Control	Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Dav	691	50	46.378	41.058	-5.230*	0.000	
Day		65	53.323	48.495	-4.827*	0.000	
Night	170	50	44.182	41.067	-3.115*	0.007	
		65	50.695	46.590	-4.105*	0.019	

Table 66. Colorado City (FM 208 SB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

Table 67 Colorado	City (FM	208 NR)	Change in S	need Results
Table 07. Color aut		200 IND)	Change in 5	pecu results.

Light Condition (Deriod	Overall Sample	Control Speed	Speed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Dav	407	50	8.964	6.781	-2.183*	0.000	
Day	407	65	10.959	9.017	-1.942*	0.011	
Night	109	50	9.014	6.791	-2.223*	0.014	
		65	12.153	8.616	-3.537*	0.023	

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 68. Colorado City (FM 208 NB) Intersection Spot Speed Results.

Light	Overall	Control	Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Sample Speed Size (mph)		After	Δ	Significance	
Day	407	50	33.819	35.152	1.333*	0.035	
		65	37.474	39.304	1.830*	0.049	
Night	109	50	32.735	33.575	0.841	0.440	
		65	35.075	39.763	4.688*	0.013	

Light	Overall	Control	Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
D	407	50	42.783	41.933	-0.849	0.145	
Day		65	48.433	48.321	-0.112	0.897	
Night	109	50	41.749	40.366	-1.382	0.168	
		65	47.229	48.379	1.151	0.506	

Table 69. Colorado City (FM 208 NB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Table 70. Mil	llican (FM 2154	4 SB) Cha	nge in Spee	ed Results.

Light Condition/Doriod	OverallControlSampleSpeed		Speed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Feriod	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Dav	794	65	10.190	8.895	-1.294*	0.003	
Day		75	14.573	13.540	-1.033*	0.029	
Night	128	65	8.280	7.502	-0.778	0.401	
		75	12.055	12.055	0.365	0.762	

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 71. Millican (FM 2154 SB) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles.

Light Condition/Boried	Overall Sample	Speed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)					
Condition/Feriod	Size	Before	After	Δ	Significance		
Day	723	13.087	11.989	-1.099*	0.004		
Night	423	10.209	10.070	-0.140	0.888		

Light	Overall	Overall Control		Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance		
Dav	794	65	41.723	42.638	0.915	0.093		
Day		75	47.591	49.052	1.460*	0.015		
Nicht	129	65	42.762	46.952	4.190*	0.000		
Might	128	75	51.077	52.715	1.638	0.286		

Table 72. Millican (FM 2154 SB) Intersection Spot Speed Results.

 Table 73. Millican (FM 2154 SB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

Light	Overall Control		Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Dav	704	65	51.912	51.533	-0.379	0.482	
Day	/ 94	75	62.164	62.591	0.427	0.474	
Night	120	65	51.041	54.454	3.413*	0.003	
Night	128	75	63.132	65.135	2.003	0.187	

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Fable 74. Millican	(FM 2154 NB)	Change in Speed Results.
--------------------	--------------	--------------------------

Light Condition/Poriod	Overall Sample	WerallControlSpeed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/reriod	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	1294	60	11.808	10.144	-1.664*	0.001
Day		75	15.595	16.793	1.198	0.056
Night	ght 378	60	10.126	8.973	-1.153	0.218
Night		75	13.656	17.750	4.093*	0.004

Light	Overall Sample	erall Speed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Feriod	Size	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Day	1378	14.432	15.139	0.707	0.195	
Night	410	12.119	15.530	3.411*	0.006	

Table 75. Millican (FM 2154 NB) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles.

Table 76.	Millican	(FM 2	2154 NB)	Intersection	Spot S	Speed	Results.
-----------	----------	-------	----------	--------------	--------	-------	----------

Light	Overall	Control	Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Day	1294	60	37.757	39.308	1.551*	0.001	
Day		75	41.018	39.896	-1.122*	0.049	
Nicht	279	60	39.487	41.280	1.793*	0.036	
Night 3/8	578	75	44.128	39.629	-4.499*	0.000	

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 77. Millican (FM 2154 NB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

Light	Overall	Overall Control		Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance		
Dav	1204	60	49.565	49.452	-0.113	0.807		
Day	1294	75	56.613	56.689	0.075	0.897		
Night	Night 378	60	49.613	50.253	0.641	0.469		
inight		75	57.784	57.379	-0.406	0.756		

Light Condition (Deviad	Overall Sample	Control Speed	Speed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Davi	821	60	8.433	8.493	0.061	0.820	
Day		75	11.696	11.981	0.286	0.494	
Nicht	172	60	9.220	9.578	0.358	0.497	
Night 1/2	75	12.598	13.753	1.155	0.241		

Table 78. Hearne (FM 2549 NB) Change in Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Table 79	Hearne	(FM 2549	NB) Com	parison of	Change in	Speed for S	peeding Vehicles.
		\	,				

Light	Overall Sample	Speed Cl	hange fror Speed	n Warning Trap (mp	to Intersection h)
Condition/Feriod	Size	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	637	10.599	11.145	0.546	0.184
Night	171	11.395	12.225	0.830	0.417
Weekday	427	11.354	11.324	-0.030	0.965
Weekend	381	10.261	11.321	1.060*	0.021

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 80. Hearne	(FM 2549 NB) Intersection S	pot Speed Results.
------------------	-------------	------------------	--------------------

Light	Overall Sample Size	Control Speed (mph)	Intersection Speed Trap (mph)			
Condition/Period			Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	821	60	48.858	48.733	0.148	0.709
		75	54.454	54.298	-0.156	0.802
Night	172	60	47.432	47.420	-0.012	0.988
		75	54.006	52.230	-1.775	0.226

Light Condition/Period	Overall Sample Size	Control Speed (mph)	Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)			
			Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	821	60	57.018	57.226	0.208	0.576
		75	66.150	66.280	0.130	0.824
Night	172	60	56.651	56.998	0.346	0.639
		75	66.604	65.984	-0.620	0.653

Table 81. Hearne (FM 2549 NB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Light Condition/Doriod	Overall Sample	Control Speed	Speed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)			
Condition/Period	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	690	60	7.169	7.512	0.343	0.251
		75	9.233	10.278	1.045*	0.045
Night	122	60	6.839	6.698	-0.141	0.844
		75	9.444	9.068	-0.376	0.759

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 83. Hearne (FM 2549 SB) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles.

Light	Overall Sample Size	Speed Change from Warning to Intersection Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Feriod		Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Day	371	8.685	9.019	0.335	0.580	
Night	117	7.382	7.938	0.556	0.726	
Weekday	578	8.252	8.396	0.144	0.893	
Weekend	238	8.919	9.042	0.124	0.856	
Light	Overall	Control	Int	tersection S	peed Trap (1	mph)
---------------------------------	----------------	----------------	--------	--------------	--------------	--------------
Condition/Period Sample Size	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Dav	600	60	50.406	47.511	-2.896*	0.000
Day	090	75	55.504	52.943	-2.561*	0.004
Night 122	60	48.929	47.548	-1.381	0.260	
	122	75	56.992	54.786	-2.207	0.291

Table 84. Hearne (FM 2549 SB) Intersection Spot Speed Results.

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 85. Hearne (FM 2549 SB) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

Light	Light Overall Ondition/Period Size	Control	Wa	rning Sign S	Speed Trap	(mph)
Condition/Period		Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Dav	600	60	57.575	55.023	-2.552*	0.000
Day	090	75	64.737	63.221	-1.516	0.108
Night 122	100	60	55.768	54.246	-1.522	0.242
	122	75	66.436	63.853	-2.583	0.244

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Light Condition/Period	Overall Sample	Control Speed	Speed Change from Warning to Curve Speed Trap (mph)			
	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Dav	ay 2068	60	1.76	4.47	2.71*	0.000
Day		65	2.05	5.04	2.99*	0.000
Nicht	400	60	1.30	3.79	2.49*	0.000
INIgit	409	65	1.58	4.83	3.24*	0.000

Light	Overall	Control	Curve Speed Trap (mph)			
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day 2068	2068	60	54.34	52.71	-1.63*	0.000
	2068	65	57.90	56.47	-1.44*	0.000
Night	409	60	54.53	52.76	-1.77*	0.000
		65	58.02	56.38	-1.64*	0.003

Table 87. Steephollow (FM 1179) Curve Spot Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

 Table 88. Steephollow (FM 1179) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

Light Condition/Period	Overall	Control	Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)				
	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Dav	2068	60	56.10	57.18	1.08*	0.000	
Day		65	59.96	61.51	1.55*	0.000	
Night	409 65	60	55.83	56.54	0.71*	0.011	
		65	59.60	61.20	1.61*	0.000	

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 89	. Navasota	I (FM	3090)	Change in	n Speed	Results.
----------	------------	-------	-------	-----------	---------	-----------------

Light Condition/Poriod	Overall Sample	Control Speed	Speed Change from Warning to Curve Speed Trap (mph)			
Condition/reriod	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Dav	Day 314	55	6.82	-2.77	-9.59*	0.000
Day		60	7.88	-2.45	-10.33*	0.000
Night	77	55	8.24	-2.39	-10.63*	0.000
		60	10.41	-1.511	-11.92*	0.000

Light	Overall	Control	Curve Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Dav	314	55	46.47	49.31	2.83*	0.000	
Day		60	49.83	52.10	2.27*	0.001	
Night	77	55	45.13	50.10	4.92*	0.000	
		60	48.18	54.70	6.53*	0.000	

Table 90. Navasota I (FM 3090) Curve Spot Speed Results.

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

esults.
2

Light	Overall	Control	Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)			
Condition/Period	Sample Speed Size (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Day	314	55	53.29	46.53	-6.75*	0.000
		60	57.71	49.65	-8.06*	0.000
Night	77 -	55	53.36	47.66	-5.71*	0.000
		60	58.58	53.19	-5.39*	0.002

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 92. Navasota II	(FM 3090)) Change in S	need Results.

Light Condition (Deriod	Overall Sample	Control Speed	Speed	Change fr Speed	om Warn Trap (mp	ing to Curve h)
Condition/Period	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Day	102	55	8.14	8.95	0.816	0.274
	103	60	9.38	10.15	0.773	0.459

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Light	Overall	Overall Control		Curve Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance		
D	102	55	44.83	45.51	0.676	0.434		
Day	105	60	47.77	48.89	1.13	0.352		

Table 93. Navasota II (FM 3090) Curve Spot Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Table 94. Navasota II (FM 3090) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

Light	Overall Control		Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
D	103	55	52.97	54.46	1.49	0.086	
Day	105	60	57.15	59.05	1.90	0.118	

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Light Overall Can dition (Denied Sample		Control Speed	Speed Change from Warning to Curve Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Dav	1011	60	2.47	2.76	0.29	0.086	
Day	1011	70	3.41	4.01	0.60*	0.013	
Night	227	60	3.13	3.69	0.56	0.157	
		70	4.25	5.02	0.77	0.259	

Table 95. Keith (FM 244) Change in Speed Results.

Light	Overall Sample	Speed	Change f Speed	hange from Warning to Curve Speed Trap (mph)			
Condition/Period	Size	Before	After	Δ	Significance		
Day	498	3.529	3.796	0.267	0.394		
Night	276	4.200	4.901	0.701	0.474		

Table 96. Keith (FM 244) Comparison of Change in Speed for Speeding Vehicles.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Light	Overall	Control	Curve Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
D	1011	60	57.86	55.84	-2.02*	0.000	
Day		70	64.40	60.44	-3.95*	0.000	
Night	227 -	60	57.98	53.33	-4.64*	0.000	
		70	63.51	58.03	-5.47*	0.000	

Table 97. Keith (FM 244) Curve Spot Speed Results.

* Statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Table 98.	Keith	(FM 244)) Warning	Sign	Spot 8	Speed Result	ts.
1 abic 70.	IXCIUI	(1 11 2 4 4	, ,, ai iiiig	Sign	Shor	speca nesun	10.

Light	Overall	Control	Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Davi	1011	60	60.33	58.00	-1.73*	0.000	
Day		70	67.81	64.45	-3.36*	0.000	
Night	227	60	61.10	57.03	-4.08*	0.000	
		70	67.76	63.06	-4.71*	0.000	

Light Overa Sampl		Control Speed	Speed Change from Warning to Curve Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Size	(mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Davi	615	65	2.54	3.04	0.51*	0.012	
Day	615	75	3.52	3.85	0.33	0.244	
Night	103 -	65	2.72	3.40	0.68	0.146	
		75	3.58	4.37	0.79	0.263	

Table 99. Bremond (FM 46) Change in Speed Results.

*Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence.

Light Condition (Deviod	Overall Sample	Speed Change from Warning to Curve Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Size	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Day	515	2.846	3.134	0.288	0.297	
Night	273	2.951	3.600	0.649	0.401	

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Light	Overall	Control	Curve Speed Trap (mph)				
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance	
Dav	615	65	61.34	60.43	-0.91*	0.019	
Day		75	68.45	67.71	-0.74	0.169	
Night	103	65	61.51	59.60	-1.91*	0.033	
		75	68.85	66.54	-2.31	0.091	

Table 101. Bremond (FM 46) Curve Spot Speed Results.

Light	Overall	Control	Warning Sign Speed Trap (mph)			
Condition/Period	Sample Size	Speed (mph)	Before	After	Δ	Significance
Dav	615	65	63.88	63.47	-0.40	0.203
Day		75	71.97	71.56	-0.41	0.346
Nicht	102	65	64.23	63.00	-1.24	0.091
Night	103	75	72.42	70.91	-1.51	0.175

Table 102. Bremond (FM 46) Warning Sign Spot Speed Results.

* Indicates statistically significant at 95 percent level of confidence. None of the values were statistically significant.

Q-Q PLOTS FOR NORMALITY TESTING



Figure 71. Bosque County (FM 3118) Q-Q Plot.



Figure 72. Snook (FM 50 SB) Q-Q Plot.



Figure 73. Snook (FM 50 SB turning vehicles) Q-Q Plot.







Figure 75. Snook (FM 50 NB) Q-Q Plot.



Observed Value













Figure 79. Millican (FM 2154 NB) Q-Q Plot.









APPENDIX B

DATA COLLECTION SYSTEM DESIGN

The researchers determined that the best form of field data to measure the six MOEs with respect to driver response to CRSs was video footage of passing maneuvers. Since TTI did not have the equipment readily available to collect this type of data, the researchers designed and developed an instrumented vehicle, referred to as the data recording vehicle (DRV). The vehicle, a four-door sedan, had four concealed cameras mounted on it in locations that provided video coverage of vehicles passing around the DRV (see Figure 82). Three of the cameras were placed exterior to the vehicle to monitor passing maneuvers (see Figure 83). The fourth camera was placed inside the DRV, and it recorded the speed of and distances traveled by the DRV. Speeds and distances were calculated and displayed by a distance measuring instrument (DMI) (see Figure 83).

The cameras monitoring passing maneuvers were enclosed in an aerodynamic, hard-body, cargo carrier and carried on the roof of the DRV. Camera "R" faced the rear of the vehicle and recorded onto videotape encroachments and the beginning of passing maneuvers. Camera "S" recorded onto videotape the opposing lane of travel by being placed on the left side of the cargo carrier and angled perpendicular to the travel direction. Camera "F" was affixed at the front of the cargo carrier, and it was angled in the direction of travel of the DRV. This camera recorded oncoming traffic and the completion of passing maneuvers. Figure 82 depicts the general orientation of the camera setup for cameras R, S and F.



Figure 82. Video Camera Setup.



Figure 83. Close-up View of Cameras.

Figure 84 is a picture of the fully instrumented DRV.



Figure 84. Data Recording Vehicle.

The three cameras affixed to the interior of the cargo container were mounted in a manner that did not alert drivers to the data collection efforts. The faces of each camera were painted black and symmetrical black ovals were painted on the cargo container to camouflage the viewing ports. Figure 85 contains various pictures of the DRV configuration with close-ups of the camouflaged viewing ports.



Figure 85. External Close-up Views.

Furthermore, the viewing angles of the cameras were adjustable to allow for variation in the vehicle height of the DRV being used for data collection (see Figure 83). The forward- and rearward-facing cameras were positioned as close as possible to the left (the driver side of the vehicle) of the cargo carrier to capture the instant that vehicles encroached upon the centerline of the roadway.

The power supply and the video feed cables were sent internally to the vehicle through the trunk of the vehicle. The video recorder was located in the backseat, and it was restrained by harnesses. Power to the recording unit was supplied by a direct current to an alternating current (DC/AC) cigarette lighter power converter.

Camera "I" was placed in the interior of the DRV, and it was mounted on a stable platform with a DMI and a clock (refer back to Figure 83). The stable platform minimized the need to permanently attach any fastening devices to the interior of the vehicle for the camera, DMI and/or clock. The platform was not permanently mounted in the vehicle. Instead, technicians at TTI designed the platform to fit snuggly into the cup holders of the DRV. Consequently, the platform was very stable, yet easy to remove.

The instrumentation of the DRV was calibrated by the researchers in a controlled environment at the Riverside Campus at Texas A&M University in College Station, Texas.

Calibration

The data collection system developed for this report was calibrated to obtain accurate data. One instrument on the DRV that needed calibration was the DMI. This device was calibrated using the manufacturer's recommended calibration method. The other instruments calibrated for this report were the data reduction reviewing monitors (see Figure 86).

The calibration of the reviewing monitors consisted of developing a distance relationship between objects presented on the monitors and the objects in the field. The purpose of this calibration was to allow researchers to estimate distances between objects videotaped in the field (i.e., passing vehicles) by measuring distances off of a reviewing monitor. The estimated gap distance measurements were essential to studying gap distance prior to a vehicle passing the DRV. It is important to note that the distance relationship is not linear and it was developed from meticulous data collection in a controlled environment at a gated research facility.



Figure 86. Reviewing Television Monitor.

The data for the calibration were recorded at the Riverside Campus at Texas A&M University. The DRV was driven north and south on runway 35R. The Erosion and Sediment Control Laboratory Rainfall Simulator located at the south end of runway 35R was used as a fixed reference point. Video footage was collected as the DRV was driven away from and toward the facility along a perpendicular trajectory from the north facing wall of the building (see Figure 87 and Figure 88).



Figure 87. Lab Facility.



Figure 88. Riverside Campus Layout.

The location of the base (bottom) of the facility was used in conjunction with the distance measures collected from the DMI to establish the gap distance of the front and rear bumpers of the DRV from the north face of the facility. The vertical distance on a reviewing monitor (see Figure 86) between the base of the lab building and the projected horizon of each video camera was measured. The measurements on the reviewing monitor were based on a Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) scale of 50 (1/50th of an inch). This measure was correlated with the in-field physical distance recorded from the DMI.

Calibration video was taken for the before period and the after period. From this data, empirical formulas were developed for the R1 and F1 cameras (see Figure 89 for R1 curves). The formulas in Figure 89 were developed using Microsoft Excel's regression analysis. Power functions were used because the trend lines appeared to fit the data the best with R2 values greater than 0.99. The differences in the two curves presented in Figure 89 are that the data were reduced on more than one monitor. Consequently, calibration curves were generated for each reviewing monitor to minimize the possibility of systematic data reduction errors. While the formulas generated in the before and after periods could generate non-integer values, only the rounded integer values were used because the distance measures recorded with the DMI were only accurate to whole numbers.



Figure 89. R1 Camera Gap Distance Calibration Curve (after period).

DATA REDUCTION PROCEDURE

This section of the report contains a detailed discussion of the method used to reduce the data from the videotape for the analysis of the MOE, and it is subdivided into the following topics:

- prior to passing maneuver, and
- initial stage of a passing maneuver.

Prior to Passing Maneuver

The MOEs for erratic movements and time between encroachments were investigated from data collected on a tracked vehicle prior to a driver initiating a successful pass. A successful pass was considered any completed pass around the DRV that did not require the driver of the DRV or of an opposing vehicle to leave his/her respective lane of travel to allow the passing vehicle to complete its pass. The reviewer of the video data focused on the tracked vehicle's proximity to the centerline pavement markings to determine whether to collect any data prior to passing on either of the two MOEs mentioned above.

All of these data were reduced from the R1 camera view (see Figure 86). The MOE for erratic movements was a count value, and the MOE for time between encroachments was a calculated value from time measurements.

Erratic Movements

With regard to erratic movements, the reviewer specifically looked for rapid lane shifts or wrong corrective action by the tracked driver. It was believed that a rapid lane shift would be denoted by a downward shift of the front headlight on the side of a tracked vehicle opposite the directional change. This vehicle lean would be caused by the acceleration. It was also presumed that drivers that conducted rapid lane shifts would need to make corrective action to stabilize their respective vehicles in their intended lane of travel.

When a tracked driver inadvertently contacted CRSs and corrected to the left instead of the right, a wrong corrective action was recorded. This specific action was documented by Elango and Noyce (*21*). However, it was decided to further investigate this responsive action, because it was believed that drivers would not continue to respond in this manner with increased exposure. It was thought that a wrong corrective action would appear to be an increase in a tracked vehicle's leftward movement when contacting the CRSs, followed by a rightward shift back into the initial lane of travel. Figure 90 depicts the travel path of the front, driver-side tire of a tracked vehicle with respect to a proposed wrong corrective action. The travel path was not based on field data, and may be more or less conservative than a real-world corrective action.

While it was possible that erratic movements could occur throughout a passing maneuver, it was not believed that the reason for the erratic movement could be solely attributed to the installation of CRSs. For instance, an erratic movement that occurs when a tracked vehicle is in the opposing direction of travel would not be contacting CRSs. Furthermore, a driver that passes would have already made the active decision to cross CRSs, and it was assumed that erratic movements by drivers would occur because of a driver's discomfort with contacting CRSs or the result of inadvertently contacting CRSs. A driver that actively decided to cross CRSs did not inadvertently contact them. Also, it was believed that a driver who was uncomfortable with crossing CRSs would not attempt to complete a pass.



Figure 90. Front, Driver-Side Tire Path for Wrong Corrective Action.

Time between Encroachments

Time between encroachments was the second MOE extracted from the data collected prior to a tracked vehicle completing a successful pass. Data were recorded each time that a tracked vehicle encroached on the centerline markings. This particular MOE was the measure of time between two consecutive encroachments. The starting reference point occurs when the tracked vehicle's front, driver-side tire last touches the centerline pavement marking when the vehicle is returning from an encroachment. The next consecutive encroachment, when the front, driver-side tire contacts the centerline is the ending reference point. The transcribed video data were input into a computer spreadsheet that calculated the difference between these values.

Initial Stage of a Passing Maneuver

Centerline crossing time and gap distance were the two MOEs investigated using the data reduced from successful passing maneuvers. All of the data for both of these MOEs were collected from the R1 camera view. While the initial passing maneuver was normally started

prior to crossing the centerline, it was assumed that the start of a pass occurred when the front, driver-side tire first contacted the centerline pavement marking. This was assumed because it was not possible to know the point at which a driver first decided to pass, but it was possible to assume that contacting the centerline at the beginning of a successful pass indicated the intent to pass.

It was thought that the first initial shift toward the centerline may be an indicator of the intent to pass. This was not chosen because early system testing prior to collecting field data indicated that drivers had a tendency to shift in the lane. Consequently, it was believed that it was not possible to clearly differentiate between natural lane shifting within the lane and natural lane shifting into the opposing lane of travel prior to passing.

Centerline Crossing Time

Data were collected at two different points to evaluate centerline crossing time. Data were first transcribed from video when the front, driver-side tire first contacted the centerline. The next set of data was collected when the front, passenger-side tire last contacted the centerline. The elapsed time between these two events was the centerline crossing time value. This value was not calculated during the video data reduction process. These values were input into a computer, and the differences were calculated in a summary spreadsheet.

Gap Distance

The gap distance was recorded at the start of each successful pass. Data were reduced from the video when the front, driver-side tire first contacted the centerline pavement marking. The actual transcribed value was the physical distance from the bottom of the front of a tracked vehicle in the R1 camera view to the marked horizon line. This value was then input into a power function, and a relative distance was computed. These calculations were also conducted internal to a computer spreadsheet based off of the original transcribed video measurement.

STATISTICAL TESTING ON DIRECTION AND SPEED

This section is subdivided by type of analysis, speed, and MOE with respect to the Comanche project site.

Statistical Significance of Direction

This section of the appendix contains all of the tabulated results of the statistical tests on the data with respect to direction (see Table 103 and Table 104). The Wilcoxon Rank Sum test was used. These tests were categorized by speed and period. The general hypothesis and the associated assumptions for significance were:

- H₀: there is not a difference between data collected at speed *i* in northbound direction from the southbound direction at speed *i* in period *j*;
- H_a: there is a statistical difference between data collected at speed *i* in northbound direction from the southbound direction at speed *i* in period *j*;
- 95 percent confidence interval;
- two-tailed test with z-value = 1.960; and
- reject H_0 if -1.960 > z-stat or if z-stat > 1.960.

Table 103. Gap Distance with Respect to Direction.

DRV Speed	55 mph		60 mph		65 mph	
Period	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After
Sum	1212	684	1608	1056	24	186
Т	2034.5	2817.5	2781.0	3760.0	95.5	683.0
Count (Northbound)	40	52	53	63	9	29
Count (Southbound)	52	47	53	47	16	18
μ_{T}	1860.0	2600.0	2835.5	3496.5	117.0	696.0
$\sigma_{\rm T}^2$	16094.9	20352.3	25013.1	27367.5	311.5	2084.3
στ	126.9	142.7	158.2	165.4	17.6	45.7
z-stat	1 375	1 525	-0.345	1 593	-1 218	-0.285

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval. None of the results were statistically significant.

The null hypothesis was not rejected for any of the tested categories in Table 103 above.

Table 104. Centerline Crossing Time with Respect to Direction.

DRV Speed	55 mph		60 mph		65 mph	
Period	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After
Sum	1062	768	1476	1338	18	204
Т	2058.5	2561.0	3052.0	3775.0	99.0	743.0
Count (Northbound)	40	52	53	63	9	29
Count (Southbound)	52	47	53	47	16	18
μ_{T}	1860.0	2600.0	2835.5	3496.5	117.0	696.0
$\sigma_{\rm T}^{2}$	16098.0	20350.5	25015.9	27361.7	311.6	2083.9
στ	126.9	142.7	158.2	165.4	17.7	45.6
z-stat	1 564	-0 273	1 369	1 684	-1 020	1 030

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval. None of the results were statistically significant.

The null hypothesis was not rejected for any of the tested categories in Table 104.

Statistical Significance of Speed

This section of the appendix contains all of the tabulated results of the statistical tests on the data with respect to speed (see Table 105 and Table 106). The Wilcoxon Rank Sum test was used. These tests were categorized by speed and period. The general hypothesis and the associated assumptions for significance were:

- H₀: there is not a difference between data collected at speed *i*₁ from the data at speed *i*₂ in period *j*,
- H_a: there is a statistical difference between data collected at speed *i*₁ from the data at speed *i*₂ in period *j*,
- 95 percent confidence interval,
- two-tailed test with z-value = 1.960, and
- reject H_0 if -1.960 > z-stat or if z-stat > 1.960.

DRV Speed	55 and	d 60 mph	60 and	60 and 65 mph 55 and 65 mph		
Period	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After
Sum	8796	4674	2220	3348	1644	1944
Т	9180.5	10253.0	6374.0	8713.0	4940.0	7213.0
Count (Speed i_l)	92	99	106	110	92	99
Count (Speed i_2)	106	110	25	47	25	47
μ _T	9154.0	10395.0	6996.0	8690.0	5428.0	7276.5
$\sigma_{\rm T}^{2}$	161537.4	190477.4	29121.2	68012.8	22593.4	56963.6
σ_{T}	401.9	436.4	170.6	260.8	150.3	238.7
z-stat	0.066	-0.325	-3.645*	0.088	-3.247*	-0.266

Table 105. Gap Distance with Respect to Speed.

The i_1 speed indicates the first speed listed in the speed category and i_2 denotes the second speed. For the first two columns of values, the i_1 equals 55 mph and the i_2 equals 60 mph.

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval.

Table 106	. Centerline	Crossing	Time with	Respect to	Speed.
-----------	--------------	----------	-----------	------------	--------

DRV Speed	55 and	l 60 mph	60 and 65 mph		55 and 65 mph	
Period	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After
Sum	8556	5400	2250	2694	1686	2862
Т	8107.0	11603.5	6828.0	9235.0	5064.0	8271.5
Count (Speed i_l)	92	99	106	110	92	99
Count (Speed i_2)	106	110	25	47	25	47
μ_{T}	9154.0	10395.0	6996.0	8690.0	5428.0	7276.5
$\sigma_{\rm T}^{2}$	161542.4	190462.3	29120.8	68024.3	22592.9	56946.8
σ_{T}	401.9	436.4	170.6	260.8	150.3	238.6
z-stat	-2.605*	2.769*	-0.984	2.090*	-2.422*	4.170*

The i_1 speed indicates the first speed listed in the speed category and i_2 denotes the second speed. For the first two columns of values, the i_1 equals 55 mph and the i_2 equals 60 mph.

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval.

NUMBER OF CENTERLINE ENCROACHMENTS

These results are solely for the Comanche project site.

DRV Speed	55 mph	60 mph	65 mph	Combined
P ₁	0.052	0.102	0.074	0.079
P ₂	0.075	0.106	0.021	0.079
P ₀	0.064	0.104	0.040	0.079
N ₁	97	118	27	242
N_2	107	123	48	278
t-statistic	-0.678	-0.102	1.129	-0.026

Table 107. Test of Proportions for the Number of Centerline Encroachments.

 P_1 is the proportion of multiple passes that occurred prior to installing CRSs and P_2 is the proportion after the installation of CRSs. P_0 is a combination of P_1 and P_2 . N_1 is the number of observed centerline encroachments prior to installing CRSs and N_2 is the number observed after installing CRSs.

*Indicates that the t-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval. None of the results were statistically significant.

GAP DISTANCE

All of the data analysis detailed in this section is solely for the Comanche project site.

DRV Speed	55 1	nph	60 1	nph	65 mph Combir		bined	
Period	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After
Sample Size	92	99	106	110	25	47	223	256
Mean (ft)	47.79	47.81	46.08	46.38	68.55	43.48	49.30	46.40
Std. Error (Mean)	2.320	2.837	1.749	2.441	7.055	2.181	1.554	0.040
C.I. Lower Bound ¹ (mean)	43.18	42.18	42.61	41.55	53.99	39.09	46.24	43.32
C.I. Upper Bound ¹ (mean)	52.40	53.44	49.55	51.22	83.11	47.87	52.37	49.49
5% Trimmed Mean	46.09	44.86	44.73	43.78	64.99	42.96	47.39	43.74
Median	42.41	39.94	44.04	41.82	66.78	41.27	45.21	41.00
Variance	495.117	796.621	324.180	655.199	1244.211	223.491	538.400	628.877
Std. Deviation	22.251	28.224	18.005	25.597	35.273	14.950	23.203	25.077
Minimum	19	12	17	16	17	21	17	12
Maximum	134	164	106	224	199	78	199	224
Range	116	152	89	208	182	58	182	212
Interquartile Range	33	27	21	25	40	23	32	25
10th Percentile	24	21	26	24	36	26	26	23
15th Percentile	26	23	28	26	40	29	28	26
25th Percentile	31	29	32	30	44	32	32	30
50th Percentile	42	40	44	42	67	41	45	41
75th Percentile	64	55	54	55	82	54	63	55
85th Percentile	73	72	67	65	86	63	72	65
90th Percentile	74	87	71	71	96	64	74	73
Skewness	1.262	1.711	1.070	3.451	2.076	0.502	1.912	2.555
Std. Error (skewness)	0.251	0.243	0.235	0.230	0.464	0.347	0.163	0.152
Kurtosis	2.301	3.284	1.091	20.578	7.070	-0.621	7.674	11.656
Std. Error (Kurtosis)	0.498	0.481	0.465	0.457	0.902	0.681	0.324	0.303

¹ A 95 percent confidence interval (CI) for the mean.





Figure 91. Cumulative Distribution of Gap Distance (55 mph).



Figure 92. Cumulative Distribution of Gap Distance (60 mph).



Figure 93. Cumulative Distribution of Gap Distance (65 mph).



Figure 94. Cumulative Distribution of Gap Distance.



Figure 95. Box Plot of Gap Distance with Respect to Speed.



Figure 96. Distribution of Gap Distance (55 mph).



Figure 97. Distribution of Gap Distance (60 mph).



Figure 98. Distribution of Gap Distance (65 mph).

Normality Testing



Figure 99. Normal Q-Q Plot of Gap Distance (55 mph).



Figure 100. Normal Q-Q Plot of Gap Distance (60 mph).

Normal Q-Q Plot of Gap Distance (ft)

Normal Q-Q Plot of Gap Distance (ft)



Figure 101. Normal Q-Q Plot of Gap Distance (65 mph).



Normal Q-Q Plot of Gap Distance (ft)



Figure 102. Normal Q-Q Plot of Gap Distance (Speeds Combined).

Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test

Table 109 contains the complete Wilcoxon Rank Sum test results conducted on the gap distance data. The general hypothesis and the associated assumptions for significance were:

- H₀: there is not a difference between gap distance data collected at speed *i* between the before and after periods,
- H₁: There is a statistical difference between gap distance data collected at speed *i* between the before and after periods,
- 95 percent confidence interval,
- two-tailed test with z-value = 1.960, and
- reject H_0 if -1.960 > z-stat or if z-stat > 1.960.

Table 109.	Gap	Distance	with	Respect to	Period.

DRV Speed	55 mph	60 mph	65 mph	Combined
Sum	4596.0	6138.0	342.0	48666.0
Т	9140.0	11772.0	1235.5	56552.5
Before	92	106	25	223
After	99	110	47	256
μ_{T}	8832.0	11501.0	912.5	53520.0
$\sigma_{\rm T}^{2}$	145631.9	210723.2	7141.4	2282508.8
σ_{T}	381.6	459.0	84.5	1510.8
z-stat	0.807	0.590	3.822*	2.007*

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval.

The test results detailed in Table 110 were only from the after period and they did not include all of the data points. Data collected over identical sections of the time on a weekday and a weekend were tested to verify if there was any difference between weekend and weekday data in the after period. No tests were needed for the before data, because the data were collected on weekdays only.

Table 110. Gap Distance with Respect to Weekend and Weekday.
--

DRV Speed	60 mph	65 mph		
Sum	270.0	60.0		
Т	719.5	173		
Weekday	24	13		
Weekend	31	16		
μ_{T}	672	195		
$\sigma_{\rm T}{}^2$	3466.4	518.7		
σ_{T}	58.9	22.8		
z-stat	0.807	-0.966		

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval. None of the results were statistically significant.

CENTERLINE CROSSING TIME

All of the data analysis detailed in this section is solely for the Comanche project site.

DRV Speed	55 mph		60 mph		65 mph		Combined	
Period	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After
Sample Size	92	99	106	110	25	47	223	256
Mean (sec)	1.7706	2.2458	1.9724	1.9612	2.0245	1.7714	1.8950	2.0364
Std. Error (Mean)	0.09784	0.06813	0.08068	0.05594	0.13380	0.07473	0.05787	0.03970
C.I. Lower Bound ¹ (mean)	1.5762	2.1106	1.8124	1.8503	1.7484	1.6210	1.7809	1.9582
C.I. Upper Bound ¹ (mean)	1.9649	2.3810	2.1324	2.0720	2.3007	1.9218	2.0090	2.1146
5% Trimmed Mean	1.6548	2.2165	1.8879	1.9571	2.0119	1.7459	1.8056	2.0137
Median	1.5826	2.1125	1.8821	1.9830	2.0881	1.6678	1.7851	1.9891
Variance	0.881	0.459	0.690	0.344	0.448	0.262	0.747	0.403
Std. Deviation	0.93843	0.67784	0.83070	0.58674	0.66901	0.51230	0.86425	0.63521
Minimum	0.71	0.88	0.81	0.55	0.80	0.99	0.71	0.55
Maximum	7.93	4.39	6.06	3.39	3.45	3.38	7.93	4.39
Range	7.22	3.51	5.25	2.84	2.65	2.39	7.22	3.84
Interquartile Range	0.77	0.94	0.84	0.92	0.85	0.64	0.82	0.94
10th Percentile	1.01	1.47	1.12	1.19	1.18	1.20	1.09	1.31
15th Percentile	1.10	1.51	1.20	1.33	1.34	1.30	1.17	1.39
25th Percentile	1.23	1.78	1.40	1.48	1.52	1.41	1.32	1.52
50th Percentile	1.58	2.11	1.88	1.98	2.09	1.67	1.79	1.99
75th Percentile	1.99	2.71	2.22	2.39	2.32	2.03	2.12	2.45
85th Percentile	2.23	2.93	2.72	2.65	2.56	2.32	2.52	2.72
90th Percentile	2.55	3.10	2.91	2.74	2.87	2.52	2.81	2.82
Skewness	3.757	0.606	2.030	0.073	0.295	0.892	2.741	0.543
Std. Error (skewness)	0.251	0.243	0.235	0.230	0.464	0.347	0.163	0.152
Kurtosis	20.803	0.258	6.652	-0.546	-0.131	0.885	13.245	0.303
Std. Error (Kurtosis)	0.498	0.481	0.465	0.457	0.902	0.681	0.324	0.303

 Table 111. Descriptive Statistics for Centerline Crossing Time.

¹ Confidence interval (C.I.).





Figure 103. Cumulative Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (55 mph).



Figure 104. Cumulative Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (60 mph).



Figure 105. Cumulative Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (65 mph).



Figure 106. Cumulative Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time.



Figure 107. Box Plot of Centerline Crossing Time with Respect to Speed.



Figure 108. Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (55 mph).



Figure 109. Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (60 mph).



Figure 110. Distribution of Centerline Crossing Time (65 mph).
Normality Testing



Figure 111. Normal Q-Q Plot of Centerline Crossing Time (55 mph).



Normal Q-Q Plot of Centerline Crossing Time (sec)



Figure 112. Normal Q-Q Plot of Centerline Crossing Time (60 mph).



Normal Q-Q Plot of Centerline Crossing Time (sec)



Figure 113. Normal Q-Q Plot of Centerline Crossing Time (65 mph).



Normal Q-Q Plot of Centerline Crossing Time (sec)



Figure 114. Normal Q-Q Plot of Centerline Crossing Time (Speeds Combined).

Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test

Table 112 contains the complete Wilcoxon Rank Sum test results conducted on the centerline crossing time data. The general hypothesis and the associated assumptions for significance were:

- H₀: there is not a difference between centerline crossing time data collected at speed *i* between the before and after period,
- H₁: there is a statistical difference between centerline crossing time data collected at speed *i* between the before and after period,
- 95 percent confidence interval,
- two-tailed test with z-value = 1.960, and
- reject H_0 if -1.960 > z-stat or if z-stat > 1.960.

DRV Speed	55 mph	60 mph	65 mph	Combined
Sum	5154.0	7836.0	522.0	68934.0
Т	6658.0	11028.5	1058.0	47998.5
Before	92	106	25	223
After	99	110	47	256
$\mu_{\rm T}$	8832.0	11501.0	912.5	53520.0
$\sigma_{\rm T}^2$	145620.2	210687.7	7137.9	2282087.7
σ_{T}	381.6	459.0	84.5	1510.7
z-stat	-5.697*	-1.029	1.722	-3.655*

Table 112. Centerline Crossing Time with Respect to Period.

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval.

The test results detailed in Table 113 were only from the after period and they did not include all of the data points. Data collected over identical sections of the time on a weekday and a weekend were tested to verify if there was any difference between weekend and weekday data in the after period. No tests were needed for the before data, because the data were collected on weekdays only.

DRV Speed	60 mph	65 mph
Sum	240.0	48.0
Т	391.5	277.5
Weekday	24	13
Weekend	31	16
μ_{T}	672	195
$\sigma_{\rm T}^{2}$	3467.0	519.0
σ_{T}	58.9	22.8
z-stat	-4.764*	3.621*

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval.

PASSING OPPORTUNITY

All of the data analysis detailed in this section is solely for the Comanche project site. Table 114 contains the results from a Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test of passing opportunity.

Parameter		Passing O	pportunity	
Speed	55 mph	60 mph	65 mph	Combined
Direction	NB & SB	NB & SB	NB & SB	NB & SB
Sum	42066	19914	714	249240
Т	8061.5	11881.0	920.0	52101.5
Before	92	106	25	223
After	99	110	47	256
μ_{T}	8832.0	11501.0	912.5	53520.0
σ_T^2	144848.2	210435.0	7134.2	2278341.3
σ _T	380.6	458.7	84.5	1509.4
z-stat	-2.024*	0.828	0.089	-0.940

Table 114. Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test for Passing Opportunity.

*Indicates that the z-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval.

PERCENTAGE OF PASSING

All of the data analysis detailed in this section is solely for the Comanche project site. Table 115 contains the results from a test of proportions on the percentage of passing.

DRV Speed	55 n	nph	60 r	nph	65 n	nph	Combined		
Period	Before	After	Before After		Before	After	Before	After	
No Pass	13	15	31 39		13	13 30		84	
Pass	92	99	106	110	25	25 47		256	
% No Pass	12.4%	13.2%	22.6%	26.2%	34.2%	39.0%	20.4%	24.7%	
Ν	105	114	137 149		38	38 77		340	
p ₀	12.	8%	24.	5%	37.4%		22.7%		
t-stat	-0.	17	-0.	70	-0.50		-1.29		

Table 115. Test of Proportions for Percentage of Passing.

*Indicates that the t-statistic is significant for a two-tailed, 95 percent confidence interval. None of the results were statistically significant.

LATERAL POSITION

All of the data analysis detailed in this section (Table 116 – Table 132) is for the following project sites:

- FM 195 (Curve 1 and 2),
- FM 969 (Tangent and Curve),
- FM 1431 (Tangent and Curve), and

FM 969 (Tangent)

FM 1431 (Curve)

FM 1431 (Curve)

FM 1431 (Tangent)

FM 1431 (Tangent)

FM 2222 (Curve)

FM 2222 (Curve)

FM 2222 (Tangent)

FM 2222 (Tangent)

• FM 2222 (Tangent and Curve).

Site	Direction ¹	Direction ²
FM 195 (Curve #1)	In	Inside
FM 195 (Curve #1)	Out	Outside
FM 195 (Curve #2)	In	Outside
FM 195 (Curve #2)	Out	Inside
FM 969 (Curve)	In	Outside
FM 969 (Curve)	Out	Inside
FM 969 (Tangent)	In	Direction 1

Out

Out

Out

Out

Out

In

In

In

In

Direction 2

Direction 2

Direction 1

Direction 2

Outside

Inside

Inside

Outside Direction 1

Table 116. Table and Figure Directional Matrix Explanation.

¹ Vehicles were observed traveling "In" and "Out" of the television screen.

² Direction will be referenced in graphs in this manner, and in particular,

"Inside" denotes a vehicle on the inside of a horizontal curve and "Direction 1 & 2" only indicates that there were two different directions of travel.

Table 117. Summary Count for FM 195 (Curve 1, Inside Lane).

Roadway	Alignment	Direction	Distance (inches) ¹									
FM 195	Curve 1	In	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0
Before	Passenger Vehicle	648	0	0	0	1	0	2	8	42	595	0
Before	Large Truck	78	0	1	0	0	2	4	4	13	54	0
Before	All	728	0	1	0	1	2	6	12	56	650	0
After	Motorcycle	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	3
After	Passenger Vehicle	509	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	11	32	462
After	Large Truck	75	0	0	0	0	1	4	8	9	21	32
After	All	588	0	0	0	0	1	4	12	21	53	497

Roadway	Alignment	Direction	Distance (inches) ¹									
FM 195	Curve 1	Out	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Before	Passenger Vehicle	646	0	1	11	31	39	72	103	99	124	166
Before	Large Truck	60	0	0	2	4	12	12	9	6	10	5
Before	All	707	0	1	13	35	51	84	112	105	134	172
After	Motorcycle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
After	Passenger Vehicle	453	1	1	1	3	8	13	41	63	64	258
After	Large Truck	55	0	0	0	1	1	4	8	12	13	16
After	All	508	1	1	1	4	9	17	49	75	77	274

Table 118. Summary Count for FM 195 (Curve 1, Outside Lane).

Table 119. Summa	ry Count for FM	[195 (Curve 2	, Outside Lane).
------------------	-----------------	----------------	------------------

Roadway	Alignment	Direction	Distance (inches) ¹									
FM 195	Curve 2	In	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Before	Passenger Vehicle	541	0	16	43	53	97	77	88	44	39	84
Before	Large Truck	56	0	2	11	3	8	11	9	3	2	7
Before	All	597	0	18	54	56	105	88	97	47	41	91
After	Motorcycle	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	4
After	Passenger Vehicle	993	0	2	5	25	68	156	184	175	170	208
After	Large Truck	50	1	0	2	3	6	8	17	2	4	7
After	All	1048	1	2	7	28	74	164	201	177	175	219

¹ Distances were measured from the outside edge of the centerline marking nearest the travel flow for the direction of traffic being observed. The presented values are binned data.

|--|

Roadway	Alignment	Direction	Distance (inches) ¹									
FM 195	Curve 2	Out	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Before	Passenger Vehicle	449	0	0	2	8	14	26	66	42	70	221
Before	Large Truck	63	0	0	2	3	0	5	8	6	9	30
Before	All	512	0	0	4	11	14	31	74	48	79	251
After	Motorcycle	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
After	Passenger Vehicle	1140	3	10	15	50	132	186	246	202	158	138
After	Large Truck	44	1	2	5	6	5	6	9	4	1	5
After	All	1186	4	12	20	56	137	192	256	206	159	144

Roadway	Alignment	Direction				Di	stance	(inche	es) ¹			
FM 969	Tangent	In	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Before	Passenger Vehicle	155	0	1	7	18	26	46	28	19	6	4
Before	Large Truck	90	0	1	33	20	26	6	4	0	0	0
Before	All	245	0	2	40	38	52	52	32	19	6	4
After	Motorcycle	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
After	Passenger Vehicle	654	5	43	74	143	150	138	69	23	7	2
After	Large Truck	50	0	5	14	18	6	4	1	1	1	0
After	All	706	5	48	88	161	156	142	70	25	8	3

Table 121. Summary Count for FM 969 (Tangent, Direction 1).

Table 122. Summary Count for FM 969 (Tangent, Direction 2	2).
---	-----

Roadway	Alignment	Direction				Di	istanc	e (inc	hes) ¹			
FM 969	Tangent	Out	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
Before	Passenger Vehicle	295	0	0	1	5	20	29	51	57	65	67
Before	Large Truck	87	0	1	5	8	28	24	19	2	0	0
Before	All	384	0	1	6	13	48	53	70	60	65	68
After	Motorcycle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
After	Passenger Vehicle	267	0	2	0	2	1	22	34	52	65	89
After	Large Truck	45	0	1	1	5	15	9	8	4	1	1
After	All	312	0	3	1	7	16	31	42	56	66	90

¹ Distances were measured from the outside edge of the centerline marking nearest the travel flow for the direction of traffic being observed. The presented values are binned data.

Roadway	Alignment	Direction				Dist	ance	(inch	es) ¹			
FM 969	Curve	In	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
Before	Passenger Vehicle	348	56	26	99	80	46	26	11	3	0	1
Before	Large Truck	70	28	15	24	2	1	0	0	0	0	0
Before	All	419	84	41	123	82	47	27	11	3	0	1
After	Motorcycle	3	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
After	Passenger Vehicle	209	20	31	45	50	27	20	11	2	1	2
After	Large Truck	116	39	28	39	5	5	0	0	0	0	0
After	All	328	59	59	84	56	32	21	11	2	1	3

Table 123. Summary Count for FM 969 (Curve, Outside Lane).

Roadway	Alignment	Direction		Distance (inches) ¹									
FM 969	Curve	Out	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42	
Before	Motorcycle	2	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	
Before	Passenger Vehicle	164	3	4	11	15	15	24	29	25	18	20	
Before	Large Truck	64	6	3	19	17	9	7	3	0	0	0	
Before	All	230	9	7	30	32	24	32	32	25	18	21	
After	Motorcycle	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2	
After	Passenger Vehicle	285	4	1	2	7	37	42	53	47	37	55	
After	Large Truck	120	5	9	10	25	24	28	14	3	2	0	
After	All	408	9	10	12	32	61	70	67	50	40	57	

Table 124. Summary Count for FM 969 (Curve, Inside Lane).

Roadway	Alignment	Direction				Ι	Distanc	e (incl	nes) ¹			
FM 1431	Tangent	In	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	5
Before	Passenger Vehicle	671	0	5	22	78	133	146	141	66	33	47
Before	Large Truck	15	0	0	1	6	1	4	1	1	0	1
Before	All	692	0	5	23	84	134	150	143	67	33	53
After	Motorcycle	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3
After	Passenger Vehicle	412	0	0	0	7	21	57	100	92	76	59
After	Large Truck	17	0	0	1	0	4	4	4	1	1	2
After	All	432	0	0	1	7	25	61	104	93	77	64

¹ Distances were measured from the outside edge of the centerline marking nearest the travel flow for the direction of traffic being observed. The presented values are binned data.

Table 126. Su	mmary Count	t for FM 143	1 (Tangent,	Direction 2).
				,

Roadway	Alignment	Direction	Distance (inches) ¹									
FM 1431	Tangent	Out	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Before	Passenger Vehicle	307	0	0	0	8	2	8	41	32	78	138
Before	Large Truck	14	0	0	0	0	0	5	1	5	1	2
Before	All	321	0	0	0	8	2	13	42	37	79	140
After	Motorcycle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
After	Passenger Vehicle	342	0	0	0	0	5	30	43	65	86	113
After	Large Truck	16	0	0	0	2	1	5	3	0	4	1
After	All	358	0	0	0	2	6	35	46	65	90	114

Roadway	Alignment	Direction]	Dista	nce (in	ches) ¹			
FM 1431	Curve	In	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	2
Before	Passenger Vehicle	639	0	0	1	24	44	135	136	159	85	55
Before	Large Truck	6	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	2	2
Before	All	648	0	0	1	25	44	135	136	161	87	59
After	Motorcycle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
After	Passenger Vehicle	230	0	0	0	2	8	26	32	51	50	61
After	Large Truck	13	0	0	1	0	3	3	4	2	0	0
After	All	243	0	0	1	2	11	29	36	53	50	61

Table 127. Summary Count for FM 1431 (Curve, Inside Lane).

Roadway	Alignment	Direction	Distance (inches) ¹									
FM 1431	Curve	Out	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	2
Before	Passenger Vehicle	455	0	2	8	5	28	63	90	103	71	85
Before	Large Truck	10	0	0	0	2	5	1	2	0	0	0
Before	All	469	0	2	8	7	33	64	92	104	72	87
After	Motorcycle	2	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
After	Passenger Vehicle	430	0	0	3	19	69	114	118	63	27	17
After	Large Truck	9	0	0	0	2	3	1	0	2	0	1
After	All	441	0	0	3	22	72	115	118	65	27	19

Table 128. Summary Count for FM 1431 (Curve, Outside Lane).

¹ Distances were measured from the outside edge of the centerline marking nearest the travel flow for the direction of traffic being observed. The presented values are binned data.

Table 129. Summary	Count for	FM 2222 ((Tangent	Direction 1).

Roadway	Alignment	Direction		Distance (inches) ¹								
FM 2222	Tangent	In	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	13	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	3	6
Before	Passenger Vehicle	1529	1	70	422	346	326	206	101	40	12	5
Before	Large Truck	9	0	2	6	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Before	All	1551	1	72	428	347	326	208	102	41	15	11
After	Motorcycle	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0
After	Passenger Vehicle	955	1	2	5	36	94	202	257	154	122	82
After	Large Truck	26	0	0	2	2	6	6	6	3	1	0
After	All	983	1	2	7	38	100	208	263	158	124	82

Roadway	Alignment	Direction	Distance (inches) ¹									
FM 2222	Tangent	Out	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	7
Before	Passenger Vehicle	1040	0	1	11	24	69	99	190	226	226	194
Before	Large Truck	10	0	0	0	1	1	3	2	1	2	0
Before	All	1059	0	1	11	25	70	102	193	227	229	201
After	Motorcycle	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	5
After	Passenger Vehicle	909	0	0	7	36	127	166	204	165	113	91
After	Large Truck	14	0	0	4	0	4	4	0	2	0	0
After	All	931	0	0	11	36	131	170	204	169	114	96

Table 130. Summary Count for FM 2222 (Tangent, Direction 2).

Roadway	Alignment	Direction	Distance (inches) ¹									
FM 2222	Curve	In	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	4	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	2	0
Before	Passenger Vehicle	958	6	83	246	246	184	112	56	12	10	3
Before	Large Truck	5	0	2	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0
Before	All	967	6	85	247	248	185	113	56	12	12	3
After	Motorcycle	11	0	0	0	0	0	2	2	1	0	6
After	Passenger Vehicle	1041	1	11	39	136	274	265	162	107	26	20
After	Large Truck	10	0	3	1	3	1	2	0	0	0	0
After	All	1062	1	14	40	139	275	269	164	108	26	26

Table 131. Summary Count for FM 2222 (Curve, Outside Lane).

 After
 All
 1062
 1
 14
 40
 139
 275
 269
 164
 108
 26
 26

 ¹ Distances were measured from the outside edge of the centerline marking nearest the travel flow for the direction of traffic being observed. The presented values are binned data.

Table 132	Summary	Count for	FM 2222	Curve	Inside Lane)
1 abic 152.	Summary	Count Ior	I'IVI LLLL	Curve,	monue Lanej.

Roadway	Alignment	Direction	Distance (inches) ¹									
FM 2222	Curve	Out	<0	0	6	12	18	24	30	36	42	>42
Before	Motorcycle	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
Before	Passenger Vehicle	887	0	0	0	0	2	3	24	60	148	650
Before	Large Truck	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2	0	2
Before	All	894	0	0	0	0	2	3	25	62	149	653
After	Motorcycle	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
After	Passenger Vehicle	1978	0	0	1	0	3	6	21	90	265	1592
After	Large Truck	21	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	2	9	7
After	All	2000	0	0	1	0	3	6	24	92	274	1600

APPENDIX C

RECOMMENDED DESIGN

This appendix includes the recommended guidelines and designs of the researchers based on the state-of-the-art review, discussions with the project director and advisory panel, and the results of the data analyses. This section is subdivided into three sections:

- definitions,
- guidelines with supporting schematics, and
- standard drawings in MicroStation.

The MicroStation drawings have been converted to jpeg format for inclusion in this report.

Definitions

Rumble strips are devices designed to generate audible and tactile vibrations as vehicles pass over them. They consist of raised (bumps) or lowered (divots) breaks in the level surface of a roadway and are placed in proximity to the edge of a roadway, to the centerline of a roadway, or across the travel lane of a roadway.

Raised rumble strips are created by the placement and forming of additional roadway material or by placing prefabricated materials on the finished roadway surface. For example, one method would be affixing prefabricated material such as high-density-polyurethane (HDPE) plastic strips to the roadway. In some cases, raised pavement markings (RPM) serve as raised rumble strips.

Milled rumble strips are ground (cut) into the finished surface of a roadway and constitute divots.

Rolled rumble strips are rolled into the finished surface of a roadway and constitute divots. This method is only for freshly placed asphalt cement concrete (ACC).

Transverse rumble strips (TRSs) are placed in the lane and generally traverse more than twothirds of the travel path perpendicular to the direction of travel, and are typically raised rumble strips. TRSs have also been referred to as in-lane rumble strips.

Centerline rumble strips (CRSs) are installed along the specified roadway centerline, and are typically milled.

Shoulder rumble strips (SRSs) are installed along the specified roadway shoulders. Shoulders are the section of paved roadway outside of the delineated edgelines.

Edgeline rumble strips (ERSs) are a type of SRS that are specifically placed along the delineated roadway edgeline, and are typically milled. ERSs may overlap into the lane, but they are typically placed at the start of the edgeline and extend into the shoulder.

Continuous describes an installation of rumble strips that uses a set spacing between individual rumble strips that is consistent from start to finish of the installation treatment. Breaks in the pattern for geometric and operational design considerations such as intersecting roadways and bridges do not negate the term continuous.

Intermittent describes an installation of rumble strips that consists of groupings of rumble strips that are broken up by gaps.

Gap spacing (GS) describes the distance between two sections of rumble strips, and it is associated with intermittent rumble strip placement.

Length (L) is the dimension of an individual rumble strip as it runs parallel to the direction of travel.

Width (W) is the dimension of an individual rumble strip as it runs perpendicular to the direction of travel.

Depth (D) refers to vertical distance of a rumble strip from the roadway surface to the bottom of a rumble strip. For formed, above-ground rumble strips, this dimension will be referred to as height (H).

Spacing is the term for distance in the direction of travel from the front of one rumble strip to the front of the next successive rumble strip.

On-centers spacing (OCS) is the term for the distance in the direction of travel from the center of one rumble strip to the center of the next rumble strip. This term refers to a similar distance that the term spacing refers to, except that the points of measure are different. Spacing is the preferred method of measure for it is simpler and more time efficient with regard to field measures.

Offset is a term that describes the distance that an object (i.e., a pavement marking or rumble strip) may be placed laterally or longitudinally from a referenced location such as from another object (i.e., an edgeline). This distance will be measured from the two closest adjacent inside edges of the object unless specified otherwise.

Two-way-left-turn-lane (TWLTL) is a lane placed along the centerline of the roadway that allows turning in both directions. The center of the TWLTL commonly coincides with the true centerline of the roadway.

Edgeline is the term for pavement marking that delineates the outside edge of the outside lane with the edge of the shoulder of a roadway.

Centerline (CL) is the term for the location of the center of the roadway and is usually delineated by pavement markings on an undivided roadway. The exceptions are turn lanes and TWLTLs. In the exceptions, the pavement delineation may not follow the true centerline of the roadway.

Lane lines are the travel-way delineators between the edgelines and the centerlines on multilane roadways with more than one lane of travel in one direction (this excludes TWLTL).

Figure 115 is a pictorial representation of some of the terms above.



Figure 115. Terms.

RECOMMENDED GUIDELINES

Transverse Rumble Strips

Transverse rumble strips are recommended for limited use based on past studies and the most recent research findings, which do not include robust crash analysis. If further studies including crash analysis show TRSs to be effective, then more widespread implementation should be considered. The purpose of TRSs and recommended guidelines toward their limited implementation are bulleted below, and Figure 116 contains the recommended layout:

- TRSs are a countermeasure designed to reduce the occurrence of single and multi-vehicle crashes that occur as a result of inattentive motorists approaching stop-controlled intersections or horizontal curves. TRSs alert drivers as their vehicle passes over the strips through noise and vibration.
- TRSs should only be used where unexpected traffic stops occur or at high incident locations where all traditional warning devices have been used or proven ineffective through field evaluation.
- If used, preformed, raised rumble strips are recommended and should be white.
- If used, TRSs should be installed as outlined in Figure 116.
- Consideration should be given with regard to the noise levels associated with the installation of TRSs near residential areas, schools, churches, etc.



Figure 116. Recommended Transverse Rumble Strip Layout.

Centerline Rumble Strips

Centerline rumble strips are recommended for use in the state of Texas based upon recent research conducted through the Texas Transportation Institute and previous research conducted by others. The purpose of CRSs and recommended guidelines toward their implementation are bulleted below.

- CRSs are a countermeasure designed to reduce the occurrence of head-on, opposite direction sideswipe and/or single vehicle crossover crashes on two-way, undivided roadways. CRSs alert drivers through noise and vibration as their vehicles cross over the strips. Preliminary safety analysis shows benefit-to-cost (B/C) ratios ranging from 0.95 to 26.42, depending on annual average daily traffic (AADT) volumes.
- CRSs should be placed on two-way, undivided roadways that have shown a highincidence crash rate with regard to head-on, opposite direction sideswipe and/or single vehicle crossover crashes as a result of inattentive drivers or impaired visibility of positive guidance pavement markings during adverse weather. Any additional installations may be assessed on a case-by-case basis.
- Milled CRSs are preferred over rolled rumble strips. If pavement thickness is less than two inches for asphalt cement concrete or less than two inches between the top of pavement and the top of rebar in Portland cement concrete, milled CRSs should not be used. Raised CRSs consisting of non-reflective raised pavement buttons may be used. Raised CRSs may be affixed to asphalt cement concrete or Portland cement concrete using bituminous or other adhesives, as per the manufacturer's recommendations.
- The following dimensioning should be used (see Figure 117 for milled CRSs and Figure 118 for raised CRSs):
 - Milled CRSs should be cut to a minimum of $0.50 \pm 1/8$ inch depth, 7 ± 0.50 inch length, and 16 ± 0.50 inch width.
 - Milled CRSs should be spaced at two feet.
 - The dimensions of non-reflective, raised pavement buttons for use as raised rumble strips should be a minimum of four inches in length and width, and 0.50 inch in height prior to adhering to the pavement.
 - Raised CRSs should be spaced at four feet.
- If CRSs are milled into the roadway, then the CL pavement markings shall be washed.
- CRSs shall not be milled or rolled into bridge decks.
- Pavement markings may be applied over milled CRSs. Raised CRSs shall be placed in the travel lane adjacent to the centerline markings. Raised CRSs may be placed over pavement markings.
- CRSs should be continuous, being installed in both passing and no-passing zones.
- Breaks in the CRSs will start at least 50 feet and no more than 150 feet prior to each approach for the following instances:
 - o bridges,
 - o intersections, and
 - driveways with high usage or large trucks.
- CRSs may be installed along the edgeline delineating pavement stripes for TWLTL. The TWLTL should have at least a 14-foot width from the outside edges of the solid edgelines, and the CRSs will be reduced to 12 inches in width for each edgeline. Alternatively, CRSs may be installed down the middle of a TWLTL.

- In areas where delineated left-turning bays are installed, the CRSs should follow the outside CL pavement marking to the direction of travel with the left-turn bay.
- RPM and lane striping should be placed according to current TxDOT standards as addressed in the Texas Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (TMUTCD) and TxDOT Standard Sheets.
 - When specifying RPM placement, the project engineer should use the standard specifications as depicted in TxDOT standard drawing PM(2)–00A, "Position Guidance Using Raised Pavement Markers" and should not use the supplemental standard PM(3)-00A.
 - The individual CRS closest to the placement of an individual RPM should be skipped, and the RPM should be placed equidistant from the two remaining adjacent CRSs.
- Consideration should be given to the following before installing CRSs:
 - Consider noise impacts when the installation is near residential areas, schools, churches, etc. A minimum of 3/8 inch depth of milled CRSs or rolled CRSs may be considered in these areas.
 - Roadways with significant deterioration and/or raveling ("significant" will be defined by the project engineer with regard to current TxDOT engineering practices) should be resurfaced prior to installation.
 - Coordinate CRS installation with other design projects, such as schedule after roadway resurfacing and prior to pavement striping.



Figure 117. Milled Centerline Rumble Strips.



Figure 118. Raised Centerline Rumble Strips.

Edgeline Rumble Strips

Edgeline rumble strips are recommended for use in the state of Texas based upon recent research conducted through the Texas Transportation Institute. The purpose of ERSs and recommended guidelines toward their implementation are bulleted below.

- ERSs are a countermeasure designed to reduce ROR crashes. ERSs alert drivers as their vehicles cross over the strips through noise and vibration. Preliminary safety analysis shows benefit-to-cost ratios ranging from 57 to 200, depending on AADT volumes and shoulder width.
- ERSs should be placed on roadways that have shown a high-incidence crash rate with regard to ROR crashes as a result of inattentive drivers or impaired visibility of positive guidance pavement markings during adverse weather. Any additional installations may be assessed on a case-by-case basis.
- Milled ERSs are preferred over rolled ERSs. If pavement thickness is less than two inches for asphalt cement concrete or less than two inches between the top of pavement and the top of rebar in Portland cement concrete, milled ERSs should not be used. Raised ERSs consisting of non-reflective raised pavement buttons or profile markings may be used. Raised ERSs may be affixed to asphalt cement concrete or Portland cement concrete using bituminous or other adhesives, as per the manufacturer's recommendations.
- The following dimensioning should be used (see Figure 119 for milled ERSs and Figure 120 for raised ERSs):
 - Milled ERSs should be cut to a minimum of 0.50 + 1/8 inch depth, 7 + 0.50 inch length, and 8 + 0.50 inch width.
 - Milled ERSs should be spaced at one foot.
 - The dimensions of non-reflective, raised pavement buttons for use as raised rumble strips should be a minimum of four inches in length and width, and 0.50 inch in height prior to adhering to the pavement.
 - Raised ERSs should be spaced at two feet.
- If ERSs are milled into the roadway, then the edgeline pavement markings shall be washed.
- Pavement markings shall be applied over milled ERSs. Raised ERSs shall be placed in the travel lane adjacent to the edgeline markings. Raised ERSs may be placed over pavement markings.
- ERSs shall not be milled or rolled into bridge decks.
- ERSs should be continuous, being installed in both passing and no-passing zones.
- Breaks in the ERSs will start at least 50 feet and no more than 150 feet prior to each approach for the following instances:
 - o bridges,
 - o intersections,
 - right turn bays, and
 - driveways with high usage or large trucks.
- RPMs and lane striping should be placed according to current TxDOT standards as addressed in the *Texas Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices* and TxDOT Standard Sheets.
 - When specifying RPM placement, the project engineer should use the standard specifications as depicted in TxDOT standard drawing PM(2)–00A, "Position

Guidance Using Raised Pavement Markers" and should not use the supplemental standard PM(3)-00A.

- The individual ERS closest to the placement of an individual RPM should be skipped, and the RPM should be placed equidistant from the two remaining adjacent ERSs.
- Profile markings may be used in conjunction with ERSs.
- Consideration should be given to the following before installing ERSs:
 - Consider noise impacts when the installation is near residential areas, schools, churches, etc. A minimum of 3/8 inch depth of milled ERSs or rolled ERSs may be considered in these areas.
 - Roadways with significant deterioration and/or raveling ("significant" will be defined by the project engineer with regard to current TxDOT engineering practices) should be resurfaced prior to installation.
 - Coordinate ERS installation with other design projects, such as schedule after roadway resurfacing and prior to pavement striping.



Figure 119. Milled Edgeline Rumble Strips.



Figure 120. Raised Edgeline Rumble Strips.

Figure 121 is the recommended standard design sheets in MicroStation.

RECOMMENDED STANDARD DESIGN SHEETS



Figure 121. Recommended Standard Design Sheet for CRSs and ERSs.

-Teres De and Tr GUIDELINES FOR INPLEMENTATION OF CENTERLINE AND EDGELINE RUMBLE STRIPS

APPENDIX D

SAFETY OF RUMBLE STRIPS

This chapter presents the safety analyses that were conducted in order to determine the relative effectiveness of centerline and edgeline rumble strips in the applications associated with this research. The numbers are compared against other states to show some potential comparisons. It should be noted that the Pennsylvania Department of Transportation provided the numbers for all of the states shown except Texas.

Figure 122 and Figure 123 show the potential safety impacts for centerline rumble strips. The figures are based on the latest statistics for costs for crashes, depending on severity. They are split into four classes of roadway volume and show benefit/cost ratios for each class of roadway volume. The results indicate that the higher the roadway volume, the more benefit of centerline rumble strips.

The B/C ratios shown assume a 20-percent reduction in the pertinent crash rates as a result of the centerline rumble strips. This threshold was chosen based on the literature review presented previously. However, the tables were developed in a spreadsheet format so that this assumption could be studied in sensitivity analysis. The spreadsheet was provided to the project director for additional analyses and policy-making decisions.

Figure 124 and Figure 125 show the potential safety impacts of edgeline rumble strips on twolane highways. These figures are similar to the previous figures except that they are classified by roadway volume and shoulder width. Unlike the centerline rumble strip results, the results for the edgeline rumble strips vary depending on volume and shoulder width. The reasons for these fluctuations can be traced to the distribution of two-lane mileage in Texas and the related runoff-the-road crashes that occur on them (Figure 126 and Figure 127).

	Co	osts per Crash (\$)				
	Fatal	3,883,811 *				
	A Injury	1,043,826				
	B Injury	69,990				
	C Injury	5,543				
	PDO	2,217				
	Fatalities/Fatal Crash	1.35				
	Cost of Rumble Strips/Foot	1.50				
	Reduction from Rumble Strips	0.2				
	* Cost of Fatal Crashes (\$2,882,516) x 1.35 Fataliti	ies/Fatal crash				
	Table 1: ADT=< 1500					
Н	lead-on and opposing flow side swipe crashes **	WASH	NC	IL	PA	ТX
a.	Fatal	3	6	0	8	36
b.	A Injury	6	24	1	23	50
С.	B Injury	7	38	1	43	76
d.	C Injury	3	16	3	79	60
e.	PDO	24	21	3	66	50
f.	Annual Crash Cost	18,474,156	51,149,555	1,137,096	58,672,275	197,771,167
g.	Miles	1,971	13,776	1,325	9,862	41,923
h.	Estimated Rumble Strip Cost/Mile	7,920	7,920	7,920	7,920	7,920
i. (g x h)	Estimated Rumble Strip Total Cost	15,612,696	109,103,544	10,490,832	78,107,040	332,029,764
j.	Estimated Pvmnt Life (yrs)	8	8	8	8	8
k. (f x j)	Total Crash cost over Pvmnt Life	147,793,249	409,196,442	9,096,768	469,378,202	1,582,169,337
l.	Annual Cost Reduction Due to Rumble Strips***	3,694,831	10,229,911	227,419	11,734,455	39,554,233
m. (j x l)	Total Cost reduction over Pvmnt Life	29,558,650	81,839,288	1,819,354	93,875,640	316,433,867
n. (m / i)	Estimated B/C	1.89	0.75	0.17	1.20	0.95
o. (a x 1.35 x 0.2)	Expected Annual Lives Saved	0.81	1.62	0.00	2.16	9.70
p. (j x o)	Expected Lives Saved over life of Pvmnt	6.47	12.93	0.00	17.25	77.61
			** Crash data	from HSIS exce	pt for Pennsylva	ania and Texas
	*** Assumes 2	20% reduction in he	ad-on and oppo	sing flow side sv	vipe crashes ar	nd related costs
	Table 2: ADT 1500-2999					
н	lead-on and opposing flow side swipe crashes **	WASH	NC	<u> </u>	PA	TX
a.	Fatal	5	12	/	17	47
D.	A injury	16	18	18	32	58
с.	Binjury	24	36	15	49	74
d.	Cinjury	9	12	0	79	60
e.	PDO	32	14	28	68	/4
t.	Annual Crash Cost	37,920,862	68,011,794	47,087,471	103,445,383	248,756,924
g.	Miles	1,197	5,080	2,163	3,182	9,067
h.	Estimated Rumble Strip Cost/Mile	7,920	7,920	7,920	7,920	7,921
i. (g x h)	Estimated Rumble Strip Total Cost	9,478,498	40,232,808	17,128,584	25,201,440	71,815,984
J.	Estimated Pvmnt Life (yrs)	8	8	8	8	9
k. (f x j)	Total Crash cost over Pvmnt Life	303,366,897	544,094,355	376,699,770	827,563,060	2,238,812,320
I. "	Annual Cost Reduction Due to Rumble Strips***	7,584,172	13,602,359	9,417,494	20,689,077	49,751,385
m. (j x l)	Total Cost reduction over Pvmnt Life	60,673,379	108,818,871	75,339,954	165,512,612	447,762,464
n. (m / i)	Estimated B/C	6.40	2.70	4.40	6.57	6.23
o. (a x 1.35 x 0.2)	Expected Annual Lives Saved	1.35	3.23	1.89	4.58	12.67
p. (j x o)	Expected Lives Saved over life of Pvmnt	10.78	25.87	15.09	36.65	113.99
			** Crash data	from HSIS exce	pt for Pennsylva	ania and Texas
	*** Assumes 2	20% reduction in he	ad-on and oppo	sing flow side sv	vipe crashes ar	nd related costs

Figure 122. Safety Analysis of Centerline Rumble Strips (1 of 2).

	Co	osts per Crash (\$)				
	Fatal	0 *				
	A Injury	1,043,826				
	B Injury	69,990				
	C Injury	5,543				
	PDO	2,217				
	Fatalities/Fatal Crash	0.00				
	Cost of Rumble Strips/Foot	1.50				
	Reduction from Rumble Strips	0.2				
	* Cost of Fatal Crashes (\$2,882,516) x 1.35 Fatalit	ies/Fatal crash				
	Table 3: ADT 3000-4499					
Н	ead-on and opposing flow side swipe crashes **	WASH	NC	IL	PA	ТX
a.	Fatal	9	12	10	17	62
b.	A Injury	17	10	53	27	56
c.	B Injury	20	20	33	53	57
d.	C Injury	15	14	3	61	61
e.	PDO	41	11	28	56	65
f.	Annual Crash Cost	54,273,183	58,545,781	96,549,263	98,379,835	303,722,198
g.	Miles	585	2,370	1,144	1,831	4,575
h.	Estimated Rumble Strip Cost/Mile	7,920	7,920	7,920	7,920	7,921
i. (g x h)	Estimated Rumble Strip Total Cost	4,634,784	18,769,608	9,060,480	14,501,520	36,236,436
j.	Estimated Pvmnt Life (yrs)	8	8	8	8	9
k. (fxj)	Total Crash cost over Pvmnt Life	434,185,466	468,366,251	772,394,107	787,038,676	2,733,499,782
l.	Annual Cost Reduction Due to Rumble Strips***	10,854,637	11,709,156	19,309,853	19,675,967	60,744,440
m. (j x l)	Total Cost reduction over Pvmnt Life	86,837,093	93,673,250	154,478,821	157,407,735	546,699,956
n. (m / i)	Estimated B/C	18.74	4.99	17.05	10.85	15.09
o. (a x 1.35 x 0.2)	Expected Annual Lives Saved	2.43	3.23	2.69	4.58	16.71
p. (j x o)	Expected Lives Saved over life of Pvmnt	19.40	25.87	21.56	36.65	150.37
			** Crash data	from HSIS exce	ept for Pennsylva	ania and Texas
	*** Assumes 2	20% reduction in he	ad-on and oppo	sing flow side s	wipe crashes ar	nd related costs
	Table 4: ADT >4500				5.	
F	fead-on and opposing flow side swipe crashes **	WASH	NC	IL 17	PA	1 X
a.	Fatal	33	30	17	65	190
D.	A Injuly	54	57	30	94	200
C.	B injury	66 59	34	26	133	324
u.		107	17	9	193	291
e. f	Annual Crash Cost	180 710 /21	201 037 710	104 530 175	361 32/ 037	1 034 346 800
ı. a	Alindal Glash Cost	070	201,937,719	104,559,175	2 801	8 807
y. h	Estimated Rumble Strip Cost/Mile	7 020	7 920	7 0 2 0	2,001	7 0 2 1
i (a x h)	Estimated Rumble Strip Cost	7 750 422	28 028 088	7 870 104	22 183 020	70 173 020
i (9 ^ 11)	Estimated Pymnt Life (yrs)	r,r50,455 R	20,020,000 R	7,070,104 g	22,100,920 Q	, 0, 1 , 0,929 Q
, k (fxi)	Total Crash cost over Pympt Life	1 517 683 368	1 615 501 753	836 313 396	2 890 599 496	9 309 122 010
	Annual Cost Reduction Due to Rumble Strips***	37 942 084	40 387 544	20 907 835	72 264 987	206 869 378
 m (ixl)	Total Cost reduction over Pymot Life	303 536 674	323 100 351	167 262 679	578 119 899	1 861 824 402
n. (m / i)	Fstimated B/C	39.16	11.53	21.25	26.06	26.42
$0.(a \times 1.35 \times 0.2)$	Expected Annual lives Saved	8.89	9.70	4 58	17.52	51 20
p. (i x o)	Expected Lives Saved over life of Pymnt	71.14	77.61	36.65	140.13	460.80
- v··-/			** Crash data	from HSIS exce	ept for Pennsylv	ania and Texas
	*** Assumes 2	20% reduction in he	ad-on and oppo	sing flow side s	wipe crashes ar	id related costs
				-		

Figure 123. Safety Analysis of Centerline Rumble Strips (2 of 2).

	Cos	te por Crach (\$)						
	Eatal	2 102 276 *						
	Falal	3,193,370						
	A Injury	1,043,826						
	Binjury	69,990						
	C Injury	5,543						
	PDO	2,217						
	q. Fatalities/Fatal Crash	1.11						
	r. Cost of Rumble Strips/Foot	0.25						
	s. Reduction from Rumble Strips	0.2						
	* Cost of Fatal Crashes = (\$2,882,516 * q)							
	Table 1: ADT=< 1500							10.0
-	Shoulder Width	0.0-1.5	2.0-4.0	4.5-6.0	6.5-8.0	8.5-9.0	9.5-10.0	>10.0
a.	Fatal	6	3	(/	1	2	0
b.	A Injury	13	15	20	22	10	2	0
с.	Binjury	42	26	34	23	17	/	0
d.	C Injury	13	31	22	20	9	6	2
e.	PDO	51	38	45	36	17	17	4
-	(Total Crashes)	125	113	128	108	54	34	6
t.	Annual Crash Cost	35,854,697	27,313,336	45,831,520	47,118,243	14,909,042	9,035,280	19,954
g.	Miles	349	299	516	373	158	110	13
h. (5280 * r)	Estimated Rumble Strip Cost/Mile	1,320	1,320	1,320	1,320	1,320	1,320	1,320
i. (g * h)	Estimated Rumble Strip Total Cost	460,643	394,322	681,094	491,753	208,089	144,866	17,428
j.	Estimated Pvmnt Life (yrs)	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
k. (f*j)	Total Crash cost over Pvmnt Life	286,837,579	218,506,686	366,652,160	376,945,944	119,272,333	72,282,241	159,632
l. (f * s)	Annual Cost Reduction Due to Rumble Strips**	7,170,939	5,462,667	9,166,304	9,423,649	2,981,808	1,807,056	3,991
m. (j * l)	Total Cost reduction over Pvmnt Life	57,367,516	43,701,337	73,330,432	75,389,189	23,854,467	14,456,448	31,926
n. (m / i)	Estimated B/C	125	111	108	153	115	100	2
o.(a*q*s)	Expected Annual Lives Saved	1.33	0.66	1.55	1.55	0.22	0.44	0.00
p.(j*o)	Expected Lives Saved over life of Pvmnt	10.64	5.32	12.41	12.41	1.77	3.55	0.00
			** Assumes 209	% reduction in he	ead-on and oppo	osing flow side s	wipe crashes and	I related costs
	Table 2: ADT 1500 2000							
	Shoulder Width	0.0-1.5	20-40	45-60	65-80	85-90	95-100	>10.0
2	Fatal	0.0 1.0	2.0 4.0	4.0 0.0	0.0 0.0	0.0 0.0	3.5 10.0	210.0
а. h	Alpiup	12	21	16	10	14	10	1
о. с	Blown	26	58	34	61	32	34	-
d.	Chiun	20	28	27	61	28	33	2
u. o	BDO	25	20	21	01	20	42	2
с.	(Total Crashes)	106	165	127	234	120	121	10
f	(Total Clashes)	20 961 875	42 219 349	32 106 021	46 984 498	29 875 064	19 480 704	4 621 849
	Mileo	20,001,010	407	245	+0,00+,+00	20,010,004	202	4,021,043
9. b (5280 * r)	Estimated Rumble Strip Cost/Mile	1 320	1 3 2 0	1 3 2 0	1 3 2 0	1 3 20	1 3 2 0	1 220
i. (3200 I)	Estimated Rumble Strip Total Cost	300 865	536.646	1,320	805 824	523 490	1,320	61 975
i. (g ii) i	Estimated Rumble Stip Total Cost	300,003	030,040	400,020	000,024	523,460	424,930	01,070
J. L. (f * i)	Total Crack aget over Durant Life	167 605 004	227 754 704	256 949 170	275 975 004	220,000 544	155 945 600	26 074 702
n. (I J)	Appual Cost Reduction Due to Rumble Stringsts	4 102 275	0 442 070	200,040,170	0.206.000	239,000,314	2 206 144	024 270
n. (i S) m (i * l)	Total Cost reduction Due to Rumple Stilps	4,192,373	67 550 050	0,421,204 E1 200 624	9,390,900 75 175 107	47 900 100	3,030,141	324,370
n. (j 1)		33,338,000	07,000,900	31,309,034	10,110,197	47,000,103	31,108,127	1,384,930
0 (2 * 0 * 0)	Estimated B/C	0.44	1 26	0.00	93	91	0.44	120
o.(a y s)	Expected Annual Lives Saved	0.44	1.11	0.69	1.00	0.69	0.44	0.00
IN UI UI	EXPACTED I WAS SAVED OVER INTE OF DUMONT	100	A 40	/ 11.4	12/11	///	100	[

Figure 124. Safety Analysis of Edgeline Rumble Strips (1 of 2).

	Cos	sts per Crash (\$)						
	Fatal	3 193 376 *						
	Alpiup	1 043 826						
	A linjury B loiuny	60,000						
	Bilijury	09,990						
	Cinjury	5,543						
	PDO	2,217						
	q. Fatalities/Fatal Crash	1.11						
	r. Cost of Rumble Strips/Foot	0.25						
	s. Reduction from Rumble Strips	0.2						
	* Cost of Fatal Crashes = (\$2,882,516 * q)							
	Table 3: ADT 3000-4499 Shoulder Width	0.0-1.5	2.0-4.0	4.5-6.0	6.5-8.0	8.5-9.0	9.5-10.0	>10.0
a.	Fatal	0	1	3	7	2	1	1
b.	A Injury	8	9	7	27	18	11	3
c.	B Injury	23	23	28	55	25	23	8
d.	C Injury	23	20	20	40	28	20	1
e		20	57	40	63	42	34	2
	(Total Crashes)	83	110	40	192	115	91	21
f	Annual Crash Cost	10 152 160	14 434 809	18 979 653	54 747 772	27 173 687	16 482 556	6 908 053
n.	Miles	216	230	181	445	21,110,007	221	38
9. h (5280 * r)	Estimated Rumble Strip Cost/Mile	1 320	1 320	1 320	1 320	1 3 2 0	1 320	1 320
i. (3200 i)	Estimated Rumble Strip Cost Mile	284 828	303 238	230 538	587 600	313.070	201 046	50.080
i. (g ii)	Estimated Rumple Stip Total Cost	204,020	303,230	203,000	307,030	313,073	231,340	50,003
J. k (f * i)	Total Crash aget over Bympt Life	91 217 290	115 479 460	151 027 222	427 092 176	217 290 407	121 960 445	EE 264 421
K. (I J)	Appual Cast Reduction Due to Rumble Stripe**	2 020 422	2 996 062	2 705 021	437,902,170	E 424 727	2 206 511	1 201 611
I. (I S)	Annual Cost Reduction Due to Rumble Stips	2,030,432	2,000,902	3,795,931	10,949,554	5,434,737	3,290,511	1,301,011
m. (j l)	Total Cost reduction over PVIIIIt Life	10,243,430	23,095,694	30,307,444	67,596,435	43,477,699	20,372,089	11,052,664
n. (m / l)	Estimated B/C	57	/6	127	149	139	90	221
0.(a q s)	Expected Annual Lives Saved	0.00	0.22	0.00	1.00	0.44	0.22	0.22
p.(j 0)	Expected Lives Saved over the of Fyllin	0.00	** Assumes 200	U.JZ	12.41	J.JJ	1.//	
			Assumes 201	% reduction in ne	ad-on and oppo	using now side s	wipe clashes and	i leialed cosis
	Table 4: ADT >4500							
	Shoulder Width	0.0-1.5	2.0-4.0	4.5-6.0	6.5-8.0	8.5-9.0	9.5-10.0	>10.0
a.	Fatal	0	2	3	12	7	12	1
b.	A Injury	9	16	16	43	26	38	1
C.	Blniury	30	29	30	103	52	69	13
d	C Injury	25	25	40	100	45	69	11
e	PDO	60	55	79	187	87	108	21
0.	(Total Crashes)	124	127	168	445	217	296	47
f	Annual Crash Cost	11 765 729	25 378 187	28 777 906	91 382 874	53 574 899	83 437 108	5 254 602
	Milae	1/12	155	20,777,000	697	Δ51 Δ51	505	106
9. h (5280 * r)	Estimated Rumble Strip Cost/Mile	1 320	1 3 20	1 320	1 320	1 3 20	1 320	1 3 20
i (a * h)	Estimated Rumble Strip Total Cost	195 009	204 192	451 202	907 3/3	594 944	666 0/19	130 301
	Estimated Rumot Life (up)	155,396	204,102	401,282	301,343	004,044	000,040	100,091
J. 1/ (f * i)	Total Crash aget aver Durant Life	04 125 922	202 025 407	220 222 240	721 062 004	429 500 100	667 406 903	42.026.042
n. (i j)	Annual Cost Reduction Due to Rumble Stringst	34,120,032	£ 075 607	230,223,240 E 7EE E04	10 076 575	10 714 000	16 697 400	42,030,613
i. (i S) m (i * l)	Annual Cost Reduction Due to Rumble Strips	2,303,140	3,073,037	5,755,581	10,210,015	10,714,980	10,007,422	1,050,920
nn. (j 1) a. (aa (i)		10,020,100	40,005,099	40,044,049	140,212,598	00,/19,038	133,499,373	0,407,363
n. (m / l)	Estimated B/C	96	199	102	161	144	200	60
u. (a ' q ' s)	Expected Annual Lives Saved	0.00	0.44	0.66	2.66	1.55	2.66	0.22
p.(J " O)	Expected Lives Saved over life of Pvmnt	0.00	3.55	5.32	21.27	12.41	21.27	1.//
1			Assumes 209	% reduction in he	ead-on and oppo	osing flow side s	wipe crashes and	a related costs

Figure 125. Safety Analysis of Edgeline Rumble Strips (2 of 2).



Figure 126. Distribution of Two-Lane Highway Mileage by Shoulder Width.



Figure 127. Distribution of Two-Lane Highway Crashes by Shoulder Width.